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The text for this annual report was taken principally from our Form 10-K, as filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on April 17, 2007.

Safe Harbor Statement. This annual report contains historical information and forward-looking state-
ments within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 with respect to our busi-
ness, financial condition and results of operations. The words “estimate,” “project,” “intend,” “expect” and 
similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements 
are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those con-
templated in such forward-looking statements. Further, we operate in an industry sector where securities 
values may be volatile and may be influenced by economic and other factors beyond our control. In the 
context of the forward-looking information provided in this annual report and in other reports, please refer 
to the discussions of risk factors detailed in, as well as the other information contained in, our other filings 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
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August 2007

Dear Fellow Shareholder,

2006 was a year of repositioning. 

We successfully moved our IES subsidiary from Denver to Ann Arbor and we moved 
our armor materials business of Armor of America from California to Auburn, Alabama.
In these two moves we eliminated considerable duplicate overheads and created cer-
tain operational advantages and efficiencies. These steps positioned us for better re-
sults in simulation and armor in 2007.

Among the other achievements of 2006 we can point to are the continuing growth of 
our Simulation division and the receipt in August 2006 of a $22 million order from the Is-
rael Defense Forces (the “IDF”) for 160 DAVID armored vehicles. We also received a 
significant order for a new rechargeable battery and charger system for the IDF which 
should start shipping later this year.

Another highlight of 2006 was that we continued paying off our long-term convertible 
debt and were able to make the final payment last month. We now are – for the first 
time since 2002 – without any fixed long-term debt on our balance sheet. We also com-
pleted a reverse split of our shares in order to have a more sensible capital structure. As 
of today we have a little under 13 million shares outstanding.

We are upbeat about our prospects as we go forward in 2007 and beyond. We have 
a $54 million backlog, the largest in our company’s history, and are working on several 
additional significant orders. We appreciate the support of our associates, suppliers and 
shareholders. We will continue to apply all our skills and resources to move toward 
growth and profitability.

On behalf of the entire Company, I would like to express our gratitude to our dedi-
cated shareholders. 

Sincerely,

Robert S. Ehrlich
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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General

We are a defense and security products and 
services company, engaged in three business ar-
eas: high-level armoring for military and nonmili-
tary  air and ground vehicles; interactive simula-
tion for military, law enforcement and commercial 
markets; and batteries and charging systems for 
the military. We operate primarily through our 
various subsidiaries, which we have organized 
into three divisions. Our divisions and subsidiaries 
(all 100% owned by us, unless otherwise noted) 
are as follows:

We develop, manufacture and market ad-
vanced high-tech multimedia and interac-
tive digital solutions for use-of-force training 
and driving training of military, law en-
forcement, security and other personnel 
through our Simulation and Training Divi-
sion: 

 We provide simulators, systems en-
gineering and software products to 
the United States military, govern-
ment and private industry through 
our subsidiary FAAC Incorporated, 
located in Ann Arbor, Michigan 
(“FAAC”); and

 We provide specialized “use of force” 
training for police, security personnel 
and the military through our subsidi-
ary IES Interactive Training, Inc., lo-
cated in Ann Arbor, Michigan (“IES”).

We utilize sophisticated lightweight materi-
als and advanced engineering processes to 
armor vehicles and to manufacture aviation 
armor through our Armor Division:

 We use state-of-the-art lightweight 
armoring materials, special ballistic 
glass and advanced engineering 
processes to fully armor military and 
civilian SUV’s, buses and vans, 
through our subsidiaries MDT Pro-
tective Industries, Ltd., located in 
Lod, Israel (“MDT”), of which we own 
75.5%, and MDT Armor Corporation, 
located in Auburn, Alabama (“MDT 
Armor”), of which we own 88%; and

 We provide ballistic armor kits for ro-
tary and fixed wing aircraft and ma-
rine armor through our subsidiary 
Armour of America, located in Au-
burn, Alabama (“AoA”).

We manufacture and sell lithium and Zinc-
Air batteries for defense and security prod-
ucts and other military applications through 
our Battery and Power Systems Division:

 We develop and sell rechargeable 
and primary lithium batteries and 
smart chargers to the military and to 
private defense industry in the Middle 
East, Europe and Asia through our 
subsidiary Epsilor Electronic Indus-
tries, Ltd., located in Dimona, Israel 
(in Israel’s Negev desert area) (“Epsi-
lor”); 

 We develop, manufacture and mar-
ket primary Zinc-Air batteries, re-
chargeable batteries and battery 
chargers for the military, focusing on 
applications that demand high en-
ergy and light weight, through our 
subsidiary Electric Fuel Battery Cor-
poration, located in Auburn, Alabama 
(“EFB”); and

 We produce water-activated life-
jacket lights for commercial aviation 
and marine applications through our 
subsidiary Electric Fuel (E.F.L.) Ltd., 
located in Beit Shemesh, Israel 
(“EFL”).

Background

We were incorporated in Delaware in 1990 
under the name “Electric Fuel Corporation,” and 
we changed our name to “Arotech Corporation” 
on September 17, 2003. Unless the context re-
quires otherwise, all references to us refer collec-
tively to Arotech Corporation and Arotech’s 
wholly-owned Israeli subsidiaries, EFL and Epsi-
lor; Arotech’s majority-owned subsidiaries, MDT 
(in Israel) and MDT Armor (in the U.S.); and Aro-
tech’s wholly-owned United States subsidiaries, 
EFB, IES, FAAC and AoA.

For financial information concerning the busi-
ness segments in which we operate, see Note 
16.a. of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements. For financial information about geo-
graphic areas in which we engage in business, 
see Note 16.c. of the Notes to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements.

Facilities

Our principal executive offices are located at 
1229 Oak Valley Drive, Ann Arbor, Michigan 
48108, and our toll-free telephone number at our 
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executive offices is (800) 281-0356. Our corporate 
website is www.arotech.com. Our periodic reports, 
as well as recent filings relating to transactions in 
our securities by our executive officers and direc-
tors, that have been filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission in EDGAR format are 
made available through hyperlinks located on the 
investor relations page of our website, at
http://www.arotech.com/compro/investor.html, as 
soon as reasonably practicable after such mate-
rial is electronically filed with or furnished to the 
SEC. Reference to our websites does not consti-
tute incorporation of any of the information 
thereon or linked thereto into this annual report. 

The offices and facilities of three of our prin-
cipal subsidiaries, EFL, MDT and Epsilor, are lo-
cated in Israel (in Beit Shemesh, Lod and 
Dimona, respectively, all of which are within Is-
rael’s pre-1967 borders). Most of the members of 
our senior management work extensively out of 
EFL’s facilities; our financial operations are con-
ducted primarily from our principal executive of-
fices in Ann Arbor. IES’s and FAAC’s home of-
fices and facilities are located in Ann Arbor, 
Michigan, and the offices and facilities of EFB, 
MDT Armor and AoA are located in Auburn, Ala-
bama.

Simulation and Training Division

We develop, manufacture and market ad-
vanced high-tech multimedia and interactive digi-
tal solutions for use-of-force training and driver 
training of military, law enforcement, security and 
other personnel through our Simulation and 
Training Division, the largest of our three divi-
sions. During 2006, 2005 and 2004 revenues 
from our Simulation and Training Division were 
approximately $22.0 million, $26.8 million and 
$21.5 million, respectively.

The Simulation and Training Division concen-
trates on three different product areas:

Our Vehicle Simulation group provides high 
fidelity vehicle simulators for use in operator 
training and is marketed under our FAAC 
nameplate;

Our Military Operations group provides 
weapon simulations used to train military pi-
lots in the effective use of air launched 
weapons and is also marketed under our 
FAAC nameplate; and

Our Use of Force group provides training 
products focused on the proper employ-
ment of hand carried weapons and is mar-

keted under our IES Interactive Training 
nameplate.

Vehicle Simulation

We provide simulators, systems engineering 
and software products focused on training vehicle 
operators for cars and trucks. We provide these 
products to the United States military, govern-
ment and private industry through our FAAC 
nameplate. Our fully interactive driver-training 
systems feature state-of-the-art vehicle simulator 
technology enabling training in situation aware-
ness, risk analysis and decision making, emer-
gency reaction and avoidance procedures, and 
conscientious equipment operation. Our simula-
tors have successfully trained hundreds of thou-
sands of drivers. Our customer base includes all 
branches of the U.S. Department of Defense, 
state and local governments, and municipal enti-
ties. 

Our Vehicle Simulation group focuses on the
development and delivery of complete driving 
simulations for a wide range of vehicle types –
such as trucks, automobiles, buses, fire trucks, 
police cars, ambulances, airport ground vehicles, 
and military vehicles – for municipal, governmen-
tal and foreign customers. In 2006, our Vehicle 
Simulations group accounted for approximately 
57% of our Simulation and Training Division’s 
revenues. 

Simulators are cost-effective solutions, ena-
bling users to reduce overall aircraft and ground 
vehicle usage, vehicle maintenance costs, fuel 
costs, repairs, and spares expenditures. For ex-
ample, our Medium Tactical Vehicle Replacement 
(MTVR) simulators have reduced total driver 
training time by up to 35%. Many customers have 
reduced actual “behind-the-wheel” time by up to 
50% while still maintaining or improving safety. 
Additionally, for customers with multiple simula-
tors, the corresponding increase in the student to 
instructor ratio has reduced instructor cost per 
student. 

The implementation of our vehicle driving 
simulators has led to measurable benefits. North 
American Van Lines, one of our earliest vehicle 
simulator customers, has shown a 22% reduction 
in preventable accidents since it began using our 
simulators. The German Army, one of our earliest 
Military Vehicle customers, showed better driver 
testing scores in 14 of 18 driver skills compared 
to classroom and live driver training results. Addi-
tionally, the New York City Transit Authority 
documented a 43% reduction in preventable ac-
cidents over its first six months of use and has 
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reduced its driver hiring and training “washout” by 
50%.

Simulators can produce more drastic situa-
tions than can traditional training, which inherently 
produces drivers that are more skilled in diverse 
driving conditions. For example, while many first-
time drivers will learn to drive during the summer 
months, they are not trained to drive in wintry 
conditions. Simulators can produce these and 
other situations, such as a tire blowout or having 
to react to a driver cutting off the trainee, effec-
tively preparing the driver for adverse conditions. 

We believe that we have held near a 100% 
market share in U.S. military wheeled vehicle op-
erator driver training simulators since 1999 and 
that we are currently one of three significant par-
ticipants in the U.S. municipal wheeled vehicle 
simulators market.

PRODUCT LINES

Below is a description of our Vehicle Simula-
tion group’s products and product lines.

Military Vehicle Simulators

Military Vehicles comprise the majority of our 
vehicle simulation business. Military vehicle simu-
lators are highly realistic vehicle simulators that 
include variable reactive traffic and road condi-
tions, the capacity to customize driving conditions 
to be geography-specific, and training in hazard-
ous and emergency conditions. We have several 
large contracts and task orders in the Military Ve-
hicles business, including (i) a multi-year IDIQ 
task-order contract for the development of vehicle 
simulators and related training services for the 
U.S. armed services; (ii) a series of scheduled 
General Services Administration purchases of 
simulators; (iii) continuing Congressional plus-up 
funding for simulators to the Army National 
Guard; and (iv) a contract to develop a series of 
Common Driver Trainers for the U.S. Army.

Our military vehicle simulators provide 
complete training capabilities, based on in-
tegrated, effective simulation solutions, to military 
vehicle operators in the U.S. Armed Forces. Our 
flagship military vehicle simulation product is our 
Military Operator Driver Simulator, initially 
developed for the USMC and subsequently 
reconfigured and delivered to support the U.S. 
Army and U.S. Naval Construction Battalion. The 
MIL ODS concept is centered on a pod of up to 
six Student Training Stations (STS) and a single 
controlling Instructor Operator Station (IOS). The 
STS realistically simulates the form, fit, and feel of 
the vehicle being modeled. The high-fidelity 

version of the STS consists of a modified 
production cab unit mounted on a full six-degree-
of-freedom motion platform. Other versions with 
industry exclusive seat-motion and generic 
reconfigurable cabs are available. The STS 
provides a field of view of over 180-degrees into a 
realistically depicted virtual world, simulating a 
variety of on-road and off-road conditions. The 
IOS is the main simulation control point 
supporting the instructor’s role in simulator 
training. The IOS initializes and configures the 
attached STS, conducts training scenarios, 
assesses student performance, and maintains 
scenarios and approved curriculum. In 2006, the 
U.S. Air Force joined the Marines, Army and 
Navy as customers of our military vehicle 
simulators.

Our software solution provides a complete 
operator training curriculum based upon 
integrated simulation training. Military vehicle 
simulators enable students to learn proper 
operational techniques under all terrain, weather, 
road, and traffic conditions. Instructors can use 
simulators as the primary instructional device, 
quantitatively evaluating student performance 
under controlled, repeatable scenarios. This 
monitoring, combined with the ability to create 
hazardous and potentially dangerous situations 
without risk to man or material, results in well-
trained students at significantly less cost than 
through the use of traditional training techniques. 
In addition to standard on-road driver training, our 
military vehicle simulators can provide training in 
such tasks as:

Off-road driving on severe slopes, including 
muddy or swampy terrain;

Driving in night vision goggle and blackout 
conditions;

Convoy training; and

The use of the Central Tire Inflation System 
in response to changing terrain.

In addition to simulation systems, we offer on-
site operator and maintenance staff, train-the-
trainer courses, curriculum development, 
scenario development, system maintenance, 
software upgrades, and warranty packages to our 
U.S. Armed Forces customers.

Municipal Vehicles

The Municipal Vehicles business is com-
prised of technology similar to that of the Military 
Vehicles product line and also is customized to 
reflect the specific vehicle being simulated. We 
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serve three primary customer bases in the Mu-
nicipal Vehicles business: transit, public safety, 
and corporate.

Transit

Transit customers represent an attractive 
customer base as they generally have access to 
their own funds, which often exempts them from 
the lengthy and complex process of requesting 
funds from a governing body. We have provided 
bus simulators to many of the leading U.S. transit 
authorities, including the New York City Transit 
Authority, Washington, D.C. Metro, Los Angeles 
MTA, Dallas Area Rapid Transit, and the Chicago 
Transit Authority. Our first European bus simula-
tor was installed in London in 2005, and we were 
competitively awarded a major rail simulator pro-
gram with New York City Transit that we antici-
pate completing early in 2007.

Public Safety

We target municipal customers in police de-
partments, hospitals, fire departments, and de-
partments of transportation for sales of our mu-
nicipal product. Our customers include the 
Mexico Department of Education, California De-
partment of Transportation, and the Fire Depart-
ments of New York and Washington, D.C. We are 
developing an industry advisory group focusing 
on the municipal market to identify and address 
customer needs. Additionally, we have developed 
a simulator module to extend the simulation once 
police, fire, or emergency medical service per-
sonnel reach the incident location. We believe 
that this represents another of our bases of differ-
entiation over our competition.

One of our more recent products is our Inci-
dent Command Training (ICT) system. Our cus-
tom ICT system includes a comprehensive suite 
of simulation tools to promote both strategic and 
tactical training for firefighters facing incidents that 
require a well defined command and control 
structure. The ICT system, the first of which has 
been installed at the new Los Angeles Fire 
Fighter Training Academy, includes a broad 
range of incidents typically faced by firefighters as 
well as incidents involving weapons of mass de-
struction (WMD) and other acts of terrorism. The 
ICT system will provide immersive training for 
single agency incidents involving the fire service 
alone, as well as interagency incidents requiring a 
unified command structure including fire, police, 
emergency medical services, utilities, and other 
emergency response agencies. 

Corporate

We target corporate fleets and “for-hire” haul-
ers as customers of the corporate simulator prod-
uct. These customers use simulators to train per-
sonnel effectively as well as to avoid the brand 
damage that could be associated with poor driver 
performance. To date, we have provided simula-
tors to customers such as Challenger Transporta-
tion, Schlumberger Oil Services, Kramer Enter-
tainment, and North American Van Lines.

Military Operations

In the area of Military Operations, we believe 
we are a premier developer of validated, high fi-
delity analytical models and simulations of tactical 
air and land warfare for all branches of the De-
partment of Defense and its related industrial con-
tractors. Our simulations are found in systems 
ranging from instrumented air combat and ma-
neuver ranges (such as Top Gun) to full task 
training devices such as the F-18 Weapon Tac-
tics Trainer. In 2006, our Military Operations 
group accounted for 17% of our Simulation and 
Training Division’s revenues.

We supply on-board software to support 
weapon launch decisions for the F-15, F-16, F-
18, and Joint Strike Fighter (JSF) fighter aircraft. 
Pilots benefit by having highly accurate presenta-
tions of their weapon’s capabilities, including sus-
ceptibility to target defensive reactions. We de-
signed and developed an instructor operator 
station, mission operator station and real-time, 
database driven electronic combat environment 
for the special operational forces aircrew training 
system. The special operational forces aircrew 
training system provides a full range of aircrew 
training, including initial qualification, mission 
qualification, continuation, and upgrade training, 
as well as combat mission rehearsal.

PRODUCT LINES

We provide air combat range software, mis-
sile launch envelope decision support software, 
the SimBuilder™ simulation software product, 
and Weapon System Trainer software through 
the Military Operations business line. 

Below is a description of our Military Opera-
tions group’s products and product lines.

Air Combat Range Software

We serve the U.S. Air Force Air Combat 
Training System and U.S. Navy Tactical Aircrew 
Training System with our air combat training 
range software. Air combat training ranges allow 
pilots to train and evaluate new tactics in a con-
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trolled airborne environment. Air “battles” are ex-
tremely realistic, with our software determining 
the outcome of weapon engagements based on 
launch conditions and the target aircraft defensive 
reactions. 

Missile Launch Envelope Software

Onboard weapon decision-making software 
enables pilots to assimilate the complex informa-
tion presented to them. In 2005, we added the F-
16 to the F-15, F-18 and Joint Strike Fighter (JSF) 
to strengthen the list of aircraft fielding FAAC 
MLE software. We provide our missile launch en-
velope software to the U.S. Navy and Air Force 
through our subcontracting relationships with 
Boeing and Raytheon.

SimBuilder™

The SimBuilder™ simulation software prod-
uct is designed to provide weapons simulation 
models for use in training environments for 
launched weapons. This software enables foreign 
end-users to use weapons simulation models 
similar to the U.S. military without classified U.S. 
weapons data. Militaries of Australia, the United 
Arab Emirates, Canada, Taiwan, and Singapore 
currently use SimBuilders™.

Use-of-Force

We are a leading provider of interactive, mul-
timedia, fully digital training simulators for law en-
forcement, security, military and similar applica-
tions. With a large customer base spread over 
twenty countries around the world, we are a 
leader in the supply of simulation training prod-
ucts to military, law enforcement and corporate 
client communities. We believe, based on our 
general knowledge of the size of the interactive 
use-of-force market, our specific knowledge of the 
extent of our sales, and discussions we have held 
with customers at trade shows, etc., that we pro-
vide more than 25% of the worldwide market for 
government and military judgment training simu-
lators. We conduct our interactive training activi-
ties using our IES Interactive Training nameplate. 
In 2006, our Use of Force group accounted for 
26% of our Simulation and Training Division’s 
revenues.

PRODUCT LINES

We offer consumers the following interactive 
training products and services:

Milo (Multiple Interactive Learning/training 
Objectives) – provides use-of-force simula-
tion for military and law enforcement. This 
simulator designed with “plug in” modules 

to customize the training system to meet 
end user needs. We believe that the MILO 
is the most technologically advanced judg-
ment-training simulator in the world.

A2Z Classroom Trainer – a state-of-the-art 
computer based training (CBT) system that 
allows students to interact with realistic in-
teractive scenarios projected life-size in the 
classroom. 

Range FDU (Firearms Diagnostic Unit) – a 
unique combination of training and interac-
tive technologies that give instructors a first-
person perspective of what trainees are 
seeing and doing when firing a weapon.

IES Studio Productions – providing cutting 
edge multimedia video services for law en-
forcement, military and security agencies, 
utilizing the newest equipment to create the 
training services required by the most de-
manding authorities. 

Our products feature state of the art, high-
definition, all-digital video formats, ultra-advanced 
laser-based lane detection for optimal accuracy 
and performance, customer-based authoring of 
training scenarios, and are 95% COTS (commer-
cial off-the-shelf)-based system.

PRODUCTS

Below is a description of each of the core 
products and services in the IES line.

MILO

MILO (Multiple Interactive Learning/training 
Objectives) is a simulator designed with “plug in” 
modules to customize the training system to meet 
end user needs, and is designed to expand the 
market for sales of our IES products to include 
organizations involved in all aspects of public 
safety.

The MILO System allows training with re-
spect to the full “Use of Force” continuum. Train-
ing can be done on an individual basis, or as 
many as four members of a team can participate 
simultaneously and be scored and recorded indi-
vidually. Topics of training include (but are not 
limited to):

Officer’s Presence and Demeanor – Pic-
ture-on-picture digital recordings of the 
trainee’s actions allow visual review of the 
trainee’s reaction, body language and 
weapons handling during the course of the 
scenario, which then can be played back for 
debriefing of the trainee’s actions. 
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Verbalization – Correct phrases, timing, 
manner and sequence of an officer’s dia-
logue are integrated within the platform of 
the system, allowing the situation to esca-
late or de-escalate through the officer’s own 
words in the context of the scenario and in 
conjunction with the trainer. 

Less-Than-Lethal Training – Training in the 
use of non-lethal devices such as Taser, 
OC (pepper spray), batons and other de-
vices can be used with the video training 
scenarios with appropriate reactions to 
each. We produce an interactive system 
especially for Taser products called the 
TASER™ Judgmental Trainer, which deliv-
ers advance simulated training for law en-
forcement and government agencies de-
ploying TASER non-lethal devices.

Soft Hand Tactics – Low level physical con-
trol tactics with the use of additional equip-
ment such as take-down dummies. 

Firearms Training and Basic Marksmanship
– Either utilizing laser based training weap-
ons or in conjunction with a live-fire screen, 
the use of “Live Ammunition” training can 
be employed on the system. 

The interactive training scenarios are pro-
jected either through single or multiple screens 
and projectors, allowing us to immerse a trainee 
in true-to-life training scenarios and incorporating 
one or all the above training issues in the “Use of 
Force” continuum.

A2Z Classroom Trainer

The A2Z is a state-of-the-art Computer 
Based Training (CBT) system that allows stu-
dents to interact with realistic interactive scenar-
ios projected life-size in the classroom.

Using individual hand-held keypads, the stu-
dents can answer true/false or multiple choice 
questions. Based on the student’s performance, 
the scenario will branch and unfold to a virtually 
unlimited variety of different possible outcomes of 
the student’s actions. The system logs and auto-
matically scores each and every trainee’s re-
sponse and answer. At the end of the scenario, 
the system displays a session results summary 
from which the trainer can debrief the class.

The advanced A2Z Courseware Authoring 
Tools allow the trainer easily to create complete 
customized interactive courses and scenarios.

The Authoring Tools harness advances in 
digital video and multimedia, allowing the trainer 
to capture video and graphics from any source. 
The A2Z allows the trainer to combine his or her 
insight, experience and skills to recreate a realis-
tic learning environment. The A2Z Training Sys-
tem is based on the well-known PC-Pentium®

technology and Windows XP® operated. The 
menu and mouse operation make the A2Z user-
friendly.

The individual keypads are connected “wire-
lessly.” The system is completely portable and 
may be setup within a matter of minutes.

Key advantages:

Provides repeatable training to a standard 
based on established policy

Quick dissemination and reinforcement of 
correct behavior and policies

Helps reduce liability

More efficient than “traditional and redun-
dant” role-playing methods

Realistic scenarios instead of outdated 
“play-acting” 

Interactive training of up to 250 students 
simultaneously with wireless keypads

Easy Self-Authoring of interactive training 
content

PC platform facilitates low cost of owner-
ship

Easy to use Windows XP-based software

Easy to deploy in any classroom

Range FDU

The Range FDU (firearm diagnostics unit) is 
a unique combination of training and interactive 
technologies that gives instructors a first-person 
perspective of what trainees are seeing and doing 
when firing a weapon.

With the Range FDU, firearms instructors can 
see the trainees’ actual sight alignment to the tar-
get as well as measure trigger pressure against 
proper trigger pressure graphs, making corrective 
instruction simple and effective. In addition, the 
Range FDU records a trainee’s recoil control, grip 
and stance – allowing the instructor to play back 
the information in slow motion or real time to bet-
ter analyze the trainee’s actions and more accu-
rately diagnose any deficiencies.
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The Range FDU also has the ability to record 
the firearm instruction session to either DVD or 
VHS, allowing both the trainee and the instructor 
to review it at a later time. Trainees now have a 
diagnostic tool that they can learn from, even af-
ter their training has been completed. In addition, 
instructors can build a library for each trainee to 
record progress.

The Range FDU provides the following bene-
fits:

Fall of shot feedback

Trigger pressure analysis

Recoil control, grip and stance assessment

Sight alignment

Sight picture analysis and target reacquisi-
tion

IES Studio Productions

We develop professional courseware for use 
exclusively with IES’s interactive systems. 
Courses are designed to addresses specific de-
partment issues, and can be customized to fit 
each agency’s needs. These courses are avail-
able in boxed sets that provide the customer with 
a turn-key training session. The A2Z Classroom 
Trainer and the MILO System are used to deliver 
the curriculum and create a virtual world that the 
trainees respond and react to. Strategic relation-
ships with high profile companies such as H&K 
Firearms, and Taser International, provide cus-
tomers with training that deals with cutting edge 
issues facing law enforcement today. The incor-
poration of our courseware library along with 
simulation systems allows training to remain con-
sistent and effective, giving customers more value 
for their training dollar. 

Marketing and Customers

We market our Simulation Division products 
to all branches of the U.S. military and we con-
tinue to expand our global footprint. Municipalities 
throughout the U.S. are using our vehicle simula-
tors and use-of-force products, and our penetra-
tion in Asia, Europe and the Americas continues 
through the use of commissioned sales agents.

VEHICLE SIMULATION AND MILITARY OPERATIONS

Marketing

Our sales and marketing effort focuses on 
developing new business opportunities as well as 
generating follow-on sales of simulators and up-
grades. We currently employ four dedicated sales 
representatives who focus on Vehicle Simulation 

and Military Operations opportunities. Further-
more, two additional employees spend a signifi-
cant portion of their time in sales. Various mem-
bers of FAAC’s senior management serve as 
effective sales representatives in the generation 
of municipal, military, and corporate business. We 
also retain the services of several independent 
consultants who act as marketing agents on our 
behalf. These representatives are largely com-
mission-based agents who focus on particular 
products and/or regions (such as airport custom-
ers, Texas, California, and Eglin Air Force Base). 
Finally, we have four customers that have 
agreements wherein the companies support our 
marketing efforts and market our products them-
selves in exchange for commissions and/or free 
upgrade services. 

Our sales representatives are salaried em-
ployees with minimal commission-based revenue. 
Independent consultants generally do not receive 
a base salary and receive 5% to 10% commis-
sions on the amount of business that they gener-
ate each year. The majority of our sales represen-
tatives have engineering backgrounds that they 
leverage to anticipate the technical needs of our 
customer base and targeted markets. Addition-
ally, the program manager and service depart-
ment assist us in gaining repeat business.

Our military operations group operates pri-
marily by developing a pipeline of follow-on work 
through strong program performance. We have a 
long history of repeat and follow-on work with 
programs such as F-15, F-16, F-18 and JSF ZAP 
(over 25 contracts with Boeing and Raytheon). 
Additionally, we have had weapon simulation 
support contracts with the U.S. Navy and US Air 
Force going back over 25 years.

Customers

We have long-term relationships, many of 
over ten years’ duration, with the U.S. Air Force, 
U.S. Navy, U.S. Army, U.S. Marine Corps, and 
most major Department of Defense training and 
simulation prime contractors and related subcon-
tractors. The quality of our customer relationships 
is illustrated by the multiple program contract 
awards we have earned from many of our cus-
tomers.

USE OF FORCE

Marketing

Municipalities throughout the U.S. are using 
our use-of-force products and our penetration in 
Asia, Europe and the Americas continues through 
the use of commissioned sales agents.
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We market our use-of-force products and 
services to domestic and international law en-
forcement, military and other federal agencies 
and to various companies that serve them, 
through attendance and presentations at confer-
ences, exhibits at trade shows, and web pages 
and paid placements on the Internet. Over half of 
our business is generated from returning custom-
ers and enduring customer relationships.

We have nine full-time sales and business 
development professionals and are actively seek-
ing additional qualified candidates to augment this 
team. We use commissioned representatives to 
prosecute most OCONUS opportunities. 

We typically participate in over twenty indus-
try conferences annually, held throughout the 
United States and in other countries, that are at-
tended by our potential customers and their re-
spective purchasing and budgeting decision 
makers. A significant percentage of our sales of 
IES products are sold through leads developed at 
these shows. We also advertise in selected publi-
cations of interest to potential customers.

Customers

Purchasers of our IES products have in-
cluded the FBI, the Secret Service, the Bureau of 
Alcohol, Tobacco and Firearms, the Customs 
Service, the Federal Protective Service, the Bor-
der Patrol, the Coast Guard, the Federal Law En-
forcement Training Centers, the Department of 
Health and Human Services, the California De-
partment of Corrections, NASA, and police de-
partments throughout the U.S. as well as interna-
tional users such as the Israeli Defense Forces, 
the German National Police, the Royal Thai 
Army, the Hong Kong Police, the Russian Secu-
rity Police, users in Mexico and the United King-
dom, and many others.

The mix of customers has historically been 
approximately 40% city and state agencies, 30% 
federal agencies, and 30% international.

Competition

Our technical excellence, superior product re-
liability, and high customer satisfaction have en-
abled us to develop market leadership and attrac-
tive competitive positions in each of our product 
areas. 

VEHICLE SIMULATORS

Several potential competitors in this segment 
are large, diversified defense and aerospace 
conglomerates who do not focus on our specific 
niches. As such, we are able to provide service 

on certain large military contracts through strate-
gic agreements with these organizations or can 
compete directly with these organizations based 
on our strength in developing higher quality soft-
ware solutions. In municipal market applications, 
we compete against smaller, less sophisticated 
software companies. Many of our competitors 
have financial, technical, marketing, sales, manu-
facturing, distribution and other resources signifi-
cantly greater than ours.

We differentiate ourselves from our competi-
tion on several bases: 

Leading Technology －We believe that we 
offer better-developed, more dynamic soft-
ware than our competitors. Additionally, we 
incorporate leading graphics and motion-
cueing technologies in our systems to pro-
vide customers with the most realistic simu-
lation experience on the market. 

Long History in the Simulation Software 
Business － As a market leader in the simu-
lation software business for more than thirty 
years, FAAC’s professionals understand 
customer requirements and operating envi-
ronments. Thus, we build our software to 
meet and exceed demanding customers’ 
expectations. 

Service Reputation －We are known for 
providing strong customer service, a char-
acteristic that drives new business within 
our chosen markets. 

Standardized Development Proc-
esses －We generally deliver our products 
to market quickly and at high quality due to 
our standardized development processes. 

Military Vehicles

FAAC has been the sole provider of wheeled 
vehicle simulation solutions to the U.S. military 
since 1999. Our devotion to developing realistic, 
comprehensive products for a wide range of vehi-
cle types positions us as a preferred simulation 
provider within this market niche. Our strategy of 
identifying a training need, isolating government 
funds, and then developing a customized training 
solution has led to considerable successes. This 
approach, which differs from the “build first and 
market later” strategy employed by a number of 
our competitors, effectively identifies market op-
portunities and provides a better product to the 
military customer. Diversified defense companies 
and municipal simulation providers have at-
tempted to enter the military wheeled vehicle 
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market but have been unsuccessful thus far. Al-
though we believe that market penetration by 
these companies is ultimately inevitable, the es-
tablished FAAC brand, understanding of cus-
tomer requirements, and engineering expertise 
provide us with a competitive advantage in this 
market segment. Our primary competitors for mili-
tary vehicle simulation solutions include Lockheed 
Martin Corporation’s Information & Technology 
Services Group, L-3 Communications Holdings, 
Raydon Corporation, and the Cubic Defense Ap-
plications division of Cubic Corporation.

Municipal Vehicles

A handful of simulation product and service 
companies currently compete with our targeted 
municipal driving simulator markets. However, our 
marketing and development of selected municipal 
market segments has positioned us as a leading 
provider of municipal simulation solutions. Com-
petition within each market segment varies, but 
the following companies generally participate in 
selected driving simulator market opportunities: L-
3 Communications Holdings, Doron Precision 
Systems, Lockheed-Martin Corporation’s LMIS 
Division, Global SIM, and USADriveSafe, Inc.

MILITARY OPERATIONS

Currently no significant competitors partici-
pate in the markets we serve around our weapon 
simulation niche. Our 30-year history in this space 
provides a library of resources that would require 
a competitor to invest heavily in to offer a compa-
rable product. The companies that could logically 
compete with us if they chose would be the com-
panies that now subcontract this work to us: Boe-
ing, Raytheon and Cubic.

USE OF FORCE

We compete against a number of established 
companies that provide similar products and ser-
vices, many of which have financial, technical, 
marketing, sales, manufacturing, distribution and 
other resources significantly greater than ours. 
There are also companies whose products do not 
compete directly, but are sometimes closely re-
lated. Firearms Training Systems, Inc., Advanced 
Interactive Systems, Inc., and LaserShot Inc. are 
our main competitors in this space. 

We believe the key factors in our competing 
successfully in this field continue to be our ability 
to develop simulation software and related prod-
ucts and services to effectively train law enforce-
ment and military to today’s standards, our ability 
to develop and maintain proprietary technologi-
cally advanced hardware solutions, and our ability 

to develop and maintain relationships with de-
partments and government agencies. 

Armor Division

We armor vehicles and manufacture aviation 
and other armor through our Armor Division. Dur-
ing 2006, 2005 and 2004 revenues from our Ar-
mor Division were approximately $12.6 million, 
$12.3 million and $18.0 million, respectively (on a 
pro forma basis, assuming we had owned all 
components of our Armor Division since January 
1, 2004, revenues in 2006, 2005 and 2004 would 
have been approximately $12.6 million, $12.3 mil-
lion and $29.2 million, respectively).

Introduction

We specialize in armoring vehicles and 
manufacturing armor kits for aircraft and vessels 
by using state-of-the-art lightweight ballistic mate-
rials, special ballistic glass and advanced engi-
neering processes. We fully armor vehicles, vans, 
SUVs and small buses and we provide ballistic 
armor kits for rotary and fixed wing aircraft, ma-
rine armor, personnel armor, and armor for archi-
tectural applications. 

We operate through three business units: 
MDT Protective Industries Ltd., located in Lod, Is-
rael (in which we acquired a majority stake in 
2002), MDT Armor Corporation, which we estab-
lished in 2003 in Auburn, Alabama and Armour of 
America, which we acquired in 2004 and relo-
cated in Auburn, Alabama.

We are a leading supplier to the Israeli mili-
tary, Israeli Special Forces and special services. 
We provide products to the US Army, and to mili-
tary and defense and paramilitary customers 
worldwide. 

Our products have been proven in intensive 
battlefield situations and under actual terrorist at-
tack conditions, and are designed to meet the 
demanding requirements of governmental and 
private sector customers worldwide. We have ac-
quired many years of battlefield experience in Is-
rael. Our vehicles have provided proven life-
saving protection for their passengers in incidents 
of rock throwing, handgun and assault rifle attack 
at point-blank range, roadside bombings and sui-
cide bombings. 

During 2006, we received over $21.0 million 
in orders from the Israel Defense Forces for the 
David, a patrol, combat command and reconnais-
sance armored vehicle that is specifically de-
signed as an urban combat vehicle. 
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Our proprietary designs have been devel-
oped to meet a wide variety of customer and in-
dustry needs. 

Product Lines 

We provide two main product lines – armored 
vehicles and armor kits.

ARMORED VEHICLES

Armoring a vehicle involves much more than 
just adding “armor plates.” It includes professional 
and secure installation of a variety of armor com-
ponents – inside doors, behind dashboards, and 
all other areas of passenger and engine com-
partments. We use overlapping sections to en-
sure protection from all angles, and install ar-
mored glass in the windshield and windows. We 
have developed certain unique features, such as 
new window operation mechanisms that can raise 
windows rapidly despite their increased weight, 
gun ports, run-flat tires, and more. We developed 
the majority of the materials that we use in-house 
or in conjunction with Israeli companies specializ-
ing in protective materials.

In order to armor a vehicle, we first disas-
semble the vehicle and remove the interior panel-
ing, passenger seats, doors, windows, etc. We 
then fortify the entire body of the vehicle, includ-
ing the walls, pillars, floors, roof and other critical 
components, and reinforce the door hinges. We 
achieve firewall protection from frontal assault 
with carefully designed overlapping armor. Op-
tions, such as air-conditioning, seating modifica-
tions and run-flat tires, are also available. We fix 
the armoring into the shell of the vehicle, ensuring 
that the installation and finishing is according to 
the standards set for that particular model. We 
then reassemble the vehicle as close to its origi-
nal appearance as possible.

We armor a variety of vehicles for both com-
mercial and military markets.

In the military market, we armor:

The David, a combat patrol, command and 
reconnaissance armored vehicle that is 
specifically designed for urban combat;

Command vehicles (such as the Land 
Rover Defender 110); and

Pickup trucks, such as the Defender 130.

For the commercial market, we armor:

Sports utility vehicles (such as the GM 
Suburban, the Toyota Land Cruiser and the 
Land Rover Defender); 

Pick-up trucks, such as the Ford F550;

Passenger vans (such as the Chevrolet Ex-
press, the General Motors Savana and the 
Ford Econoline); and

Small buses (based on vehicles in the Mer-
cedes-Benz Vario and Sprinter lines).

Once we have ensured full vehicle protection, 
we place a premium on retaining the original ve-
hicle’s look and feel to the extent possible, includ-
ing enabling full serviceability of the vehicle, 
thereby rendering the armoring process “invisi-
ble.” We work with our customers to understand 
their requirements, and together with the cus-
tomer develop an optimized armoring solution. A 
flexible design-to-cost process helps evaluate 
tradeoffs between heavy and light materials and 
various levels of protection.

By working within the vehicle manufacturer’s 
specifications, we maintain stability, handling, 
center-of-gravity and overall integrity. Our meth-
ods minimize impact on payload, and do not ob-
struct the driver’s or passengers’ views. In many 
cases all the original warranties provided by the 
manufacturer are still in effect.

We offer a variety of armoring materials, op-
timized to the customer’s requirements. We use 
ballistic steel, composite materials (including Kev-
lar®, Dyneema® and composite armor steel) as 
well as special ceramics, together with special 
armored glass. We use advanced engineering 
techniques and “light” composite materials, and 
avoid, to the extent possible, using traditional
“heavy” materials such as armored steel because 
of the added weight, which impairs the driving 
performance and handling of the vehicle. We also 
sell certain kinds of vehicles pre-armored.

All materials that we use meet not only inter-
national ballistic standards, but also the far more 
stringent requirements set by the Israeli military, 
the Israeli Ministries of Defense and Transport, 
and the Israel Standards Institute. 

ARMOR KITS

We provide two kinds of armor kits, soft ar-
mor and hard armor, to support customer armor 
requirements. Soft armor, which is capable of pro-
tecting against all handguns and 9mm sub guns, 
is used in our ballistic and fragmentation vest, ar-
chitectural and special application armor lines. 
Hard armor, which is capable of protecting 
against rifle fire up to 50cal/12.7mm API, is used 
in our ballistic chest plate, aircraft, marine and ar-
chitectural armor lines. Within these two basic 



14

kinds of armor, we offer the product lines listed 
below.

Fixed and Rotary Wing Aircraft Armor Systems

We design and manufacture ballistic armor 
systems for a wide variety of fixed and rotary wing 
aircraft. These systems are in the form of kits, 
with individual contoured panels which cover the 
entire aircraft’s floor, walls, seats, bulkheads, 
walls, oxygen containers, avionics and doors. All 
of our ballistic armor kits include a complete in-
stallation hardware kit containing all items re-
quired for installation.

These kits have been sold to both the original 
airframe manufacturers and end users worldwide. 
Armor kits for rotary wing aircraft include Bell 
Helicopter’s B206, B212, B407, B412, B427, and 
UH-1H; Boeing’s CH-46 and CH-47; MD Helicop-
ter’s MD 500, MD 600, and MD 900; Agusta Heli-
copter’s A109; Eurocopter’s EC-120, EC-135, 
BK117, and BO-105; Aerospatiale’s AS 330, AS 
332, and AS 355; Sikorsky’s UH-60 and S-61; 
MIL MI-8 and MI-17; Robinson’s R-22 and R-44; 
and Kaman’s K-MAX. 

Fixed wing aircraft kits include Lockheed’s C-
130H, C-130J , and P-3; Boeing’s C-17; Alenia’s 
G-222 and C-27J; Ayers’ T-65; Rockwell’s OV-10; 
CASA CN 235 and CN 295; and special configu-
rations of the Citation, Beechcraft and Cessna 
models.

Marine Armor Kits

For the marine market, we manufacture ar-
mor kits for the gun mounts on naval ships and 
riverine patrol boats and armor for patrol boats. 
We recently provided armor for the bridge and 
wheelhouse for several police harbor patrol boats. 

Ballistic Vests and Plates and Body Armor

We have developed special applications, in-
cluding the Armourfloat, which to our knowledge 
is currently the only ballistic/floatation vest ap-
proved by the U.S. Coast Guard, ballistic hand 
held shields and the LEGUARD Tactical Leg Ar-
mor, which offers complete front protection for the 
lower thigh, knee, shin and instep.

Other Armor for Specialty Applications

We also manufacture ballistic and fragmenta-
tion blankets and curtains for numerous specialty 
applications. These applications include operator 
protection around test equipment; rupture protec-
tion of pressure vessels, mechanical failure of 
production machinery and high pressure piping. 
Additionally, we have supplied armor for office 
use in protection of occupants from blast and 

glass fragments of windows and isolation of secu-
rity rooms from surrounding environments.

Sales, Marketing and Customers

Most of our vehicle armoring business has 
historically come from Israel, although we have 
armored vehicles under contracts for companies 
operating in Iraq. Our principal customer at pre-
sent is the Israeli Ministry of Defense. Other cus-
tomers include Israeli and American government 
ministries and agencies, private companies, 
medical services and private clients. In the United 
States, we armor vehicles for U.S. operations in 
Iraq.

In Israel, we market our vehicle armoring 
through vehicle importers, both pursuant to mar-
keting agreements and otherwise, and directly to 
private customers in the public and private sec-
tors. Most sales are through vehicle importers. In 
the U.S., vehicles are sold to the Army.

We hold exclusive armoring contracts with Is-
rael’s sole General Motors and Chevrolet distribu-
tors. This means that these distributors will con-
tinue to honor the original vehicle warranty on 
armored versions of vehicles sold by them only if 
the armoring was done by us.

We are also partners in a joint venture with 
two prominent Indian companies for the design 
and manufacture of armored vehicles in India. 
The joint venture, called Concord Safety Solu-
tions Limited, will offer armored vehicles to the 
Indian military and paramilitary organizations. 

We market our aircraft armor kits directly to 
both the original airframe manufacturer, such as 
Alenia, Agusta, Bell-Textron, Boeing, EADS 
(Eurocopter), Lockheed-Martin and MD Helicop-
ter, as well as, aircraft completion operations and 
end users worldwide. 

At the request of an airframe manufacturer or 
end user, we send a technical representative to 
meet the customer at the aircraft to review the 
layout of areas to be armored, develop templates 
if required and to determine any unique charac-
teristics that the customer or end user desires in-
corporated into the armor. After the templates are 
converted to full size armor mock-up panels, they 
are taken back to the aircraft for review and ap-
proval by either the OEM or the user prior to pro-
duction. This approach has proven to be the most 
effective in obtaining both OEM certification of 
each of our systems and in ensuring that our bal-
listic armor systems meet or exceed the end us-
ers’ operational and ballistic demands.
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Our commercial aircraft customers have in-
cluded Bell Helicopter, MD Helicopter, Robinson 
Helicopter, Sikorsky Helicopter, Schweitzer Heli-
copter, Agusta, and Lockheed-Martin in the 
United States, as well as Eurocopter (Germany), 
Alenia Aerospazio (Italy), EADS (Spain), and Bell 
(Canada).

Our U.S. military aircraft customers have in-
cluded NAVSEA, NAVAIR, Army, Coast Guard, 
Marines, State Department, Border Patrol, and 
various SEAL and Small Boat Units.

Our foreign military customers have included 
the air forces of New Zealand, Australia, Thai-
land, Malaysia, Spain, Belgium, Sweden, Norway, 
Italy, Sri Lanka, Indonesia, Brazil, Argentina, and 
Turkey; the navies of Singapore, Thailand, Ma-
laysia, Ecuador, Mexico, Colombia, Spain, Aus-
tralia, and Japan; the armies of Thailand, Malay-
sia, Sri Lanka, Colombia, Mexico, Ecuador, 
Venezuela and Peru.

Manufacturing

Our manufacturing facilities are located in 
Lod, Israel, and in Auburn, Alabama. In Israel we 
manufacture armored vehicles only, and in the 
US we manufacture vehicle armoring, and hard 
and soft armor.

Our facilities have been awarded ISO 
9001:2000 quality standards certification.

Competition

The global armored car industry is highly 
fragmented. Major suppliers include both vehicle 
manufacturers and aftermarket specialists. As a 
highly labor-intensive process, vehicle armoring is 
numerically dominated by relatively small busi-
nesses. Industry estimates place the number of 
companies doing vehicle armoring in the range of 
around 500 suppliers globally. While certain large 
companies may armor several hundred cars an-
nually, most of these companies are smaller op-
erations that may armor in the range of five to fifty 
cars per year. 

Among vehicle manufacturers, we believe 
Mercedes-Benz to have the largest vehicle-
armoring market share. Among aftermarket spe-
cialists, we believe the largest share of the vehi-
cle-armoring market is held by O’Gara-Hess & 
Eisenhardt, a subsidiary of Armor Holdings, Inc. 
Other aftermarket specialists include International 
Armoring Corp., Lasco, Texas Armoring and Chi-
cago Armor (Moloney). Many of these companies 
have financial, technical, marketing, sales, manu-

facturing, distribution and other resources signifi-
cantly greater than ours.

We believe the key factor in our competing 
successfully in this field will be our ability to pene-
trate new military and paramilitary markets out-
side of Israel, particularly those operating in Iraq 
and Afghanistan.

Aircraft armor competition includes LAST 
Armor (a division of Foster-Miller, Inc.), Simula 
Inc. (a subsidiary of Armor Holdings, Inc.), and 
Protective Materials Company (a division of The 
Protective Group, Inc.). Military vehicle armor 
competition includes: O’Gara-Hess & Eisenhardt 
(a subsidiary of Armor Holdings, Inc.), Armor-
Works Harl Facility, Protective Materials Com-
pany, and Ceradyne, Inc. Ballistic vests competi-
tion includes: Point Blank Body Armor, Inc. (a 
subsidiary of DHB Industries, Inc.), Second 
Chance Body Armor, Inc., Protective Materials 
Company, American Body Armor (a subsidiary of 
Armor Holdings, Inc.), Protech Armor Systems (a 
subsidiary of Armor Holdings, Inc.) and Safari-
land, Ltd. (a subsidiary of Armor Holdings, Inc.). 
Marine armor competition includes Protective Ma-
terials Company. Many of our competitors have 
financial, technical, marketing, sales, manufactur-
ing, distribution and other resources significantly 
greater than ours.

Battery and Power Systems Division

We manufacture and sell lithium and Zinc-Air 
batteries for defense and security products and 
other military applications through our Battery and 
Power Systems Division. During 2006, 2005 and 
2004 revenues from our Battery and Power Sys-
tems Division were approximately $8.6 million, 
$9.9 million and $10.5 million, respectively.

Lithium Batteries and Charging Systems for 
the Military

INTRODUCTION

We sell lithium batteries and charging sys-
tems to the military through our subsidiary Epsilor 
Electronic Industries, Ltd., an Israeli corporation 
established in 1985 that we purchased early in 
2004. 

We specialize in the design and manufacture 
of primary and rechargeable batteries, related 
electronic circuits and associated chargers for 
military applications. We have experience in 
working with government agencies, the military 
and large corporations. Our technical team has 
significant expertise in the fields of electrochemis-
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try, electronics, software and battery design, pro-
duction, packaging and testing.

We have added lithium-ion battery production 
capabilities at EFB’s facility in Auburn. The goal is 
to enable U.S.-produced lithium-ion batteries and 
chargers to be sold using funding from Foreign 
Military Funding (FMF) program to countries such 
as Israel and Turkey. These products are mar-
keted and designed by Epsilor and manufactured 
by EFB.

PRODUCTS

We currently produce over 50 different prod-
ucts in the following categories:

Primary batteries;

Rechargeable batteries; 

Smart chargers;

State of charge indicators; and

Control and monitoring battery circuits

Our lithium batteries are based on commer-
cially-available battery cells that we purchase 
from several leading suppliers, with proprietary 
energy management circuitry and software. Our 
battery packs are designed to withstand harsh 
environments, and have a track record of years of 
service in armies worldwide. 

We produce a wide range of primary batteries 
based on the following chemistries: lithium sulfur 
dioxide, lithium manganese dioxide and alkaline.
The rechargeable battery chemistries that we 
employ are: nickel cadmium, nickel metal hydride 
and lithium-ion. We manufacture single and multi-
channel smart chargers for nickel cadmium, 
nickel metal hydride and lithium-ion batteries.

We have designed a number of sophisticated 
state of charge indicators. These are employed in 
our Epsilor products and are also sold as compo-
nents to other battery pack manufacturers. We 
also develop and manufacture control systems for 
high rate primary battery-packs and monitoring 
systems for rechargeable battery-packs.

MARKETS/APPLICATIONS

Our target markets for our lithium batteries 
are military and security entities seeking high-end 
solutions for their power source needs. By their 
nature, the sell-in cycles are long and the resul-
tant entry barriers are high. This is due to the high 
cost of developing custom designs and the long 
period needed to qualify any product for military 
use.

Our present customers include: 

Armed forces in the Middle East and Asia;

Military original equipment manufacturers 
(OEMs); and

Various battery manufacturers.

COMPETITION

The main competitors for our lithium-ion bat-
tery products are Bren-tronics Inc. in the United 
States, which controls much of the U.S. re-
chargeable market, AEA Battery Systems (a 
wholly owned subsidiary of AEA Technology plc) 
in the United Kingdom, which has the majority of 
the English military market, and Ultralife Batteries, 
Inc. in the United States. On the primary end of 
the market there are a host of players who in-
clude the cell manufacturers themselves, includ-
ing Saft S.A. and Ultralife Batteries, Inc.

It should be noted that a number of OEMs, 
such as Motorola, have internal engineering 
groups that can develop competitive products in-
house. Additionally, many of our competitors 
have financial, technical, marketing, sales, manu-
facturing, distribution and other resources signifi-
cantly greater than ours.

MARKETING

We market to our existing customers through 
direct sales. To generate new customers and ap-
plications, we rely on our working relationship 
with a selection of OEMs, with the intent of having 
these OEMs design our products into their 
equipment, thereby creating a market with a high 
entry barrier. Another avenue for market entry is 
via strategic relationships with major cell manu-
facturers.

MANUFACTURING

Our battery production lines for military bat-
teries and chargers have been ISO-9001 certified 
since 1994. We believe that Epsilor’s 19,000 
square foot facility in Dimona, Israel has the nec-
essary capabilities and operations to support our 
production cycle.

Zinc-Air Batteries and Chargers for the 
Military

INTRODUCTION

We base our strategy in the field of Zinc-Air 
military batteries on the development and com-
mercialization of our Zinc-Air battery technology, 
as applied in the batteries we produce for the 
U.S. Army’s Communications and Electronics 
Command (CECOM) through our subsidiary EFB. 
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We will continue to seek new applications for our 
technology in defense projects, wherever syner-
gistic technology and business benefits may exist. 
We intend to continue to develop our battery 
products for defense agencies, and plan to sell 
our products either directly to such agencies or 
through prime contractors. We will also look to ex-
tend our reach to military markets outside the 
United States.

Since 1998 we have received and performed 
a series of contracts from CECOM to develop and 
evaluate advanced primary Zinc-Air battery tech-
nology, as well as specific battery form factors. 
Pursuant to these contracts, we developed and 
began selling in 2002 a 12/24 volt, 800 watt-hour 
battery pack for battlefield power, which is based 
on our Zinc-Air battery technology, weighs less 
than three kilograms (just over six pounds) and 
has approximately twice the energy capacity per 
kilogram of the U.S. Army’s standard lithium-
sulfur dioxide battery packs – the BA-5590/U bat-
tery.

In the second half of 2002, our five-year pro-
gram with CECOM to develop a Zinc-Air battery 
for battlefield power culminated in the assignment 
of a National Stock Number and a $2.5 million de-
livery order for the newly designated BA-8180/U 
battery. Subsequent to this initial $2.5 million de-
livery order, we received additional follow-on or-
ders from the Army.

Our batteries have been used in both Af-
ghanistan (Operation Enduring Freedom) and in 
Iraq (Operation Iraqi Freedom). In June of 2004, 
our BA-8180/U Zinc-Air battery was recognized 
by the U.S Army Research, Development and 
Engineering Command as one of the top ten in-
ventions of 2003.

Our Zinc-Air batteries, rechargeable batteries 
and battery chargers for the military are manufac-
tured through EFB. In 2003, EFB’s facilities were 
granted ISO 9001 “Top Quality Standard” certifi-
cation.

PRODUCTS

Zinc-Air Batteries

BA-8180/U

EFB’s Zinc-Air battery packs are lightweight, 
low-cost primary Zinc-Air batteries with up to 
twice the energy density (Wh/kg) of primary lith-
ium (LiSO2) battery packs, which are the most 
popular batteries used in the US military today. 
Zinc-Air batteries are inherently safe in storage, 
transportation, use, and disposal.

The BA-8180/U is a 12/24 volt, 800 watt-hour 
battery pack approximately the size and weight of 
a notebook computer. This battery is based on a 
new generation of lightweight, 30 ampere-hour 
cells developed by us over the last five years with 
partial funding by CECOM. Each BA-8180/U bat-
tery pack contains 24 cells.

The battery has specific energy of up to 265 
Wh/kg, which is substantially higher than that of 
any competing disposable battery available to the 
defense and security industries. By way of com-
parison, the BA-5590/U, a popular LiSO2 battery 
pack, has only 170 Wh/kg. Specific energy, or 
energy per unit of weight, translates into longer 
operating times for battery-powered electronic 
equipment for the same battery carry weight, and 
greater portability as well. Because of lower cost 
per watt-hour, the BA-8180/U can provide sub-
stantial cost savings to the Army when deployed 
for longer missions, even for applications that are 
not man-portable. 

CECOM has assigned a National Stock 
Number (NSN) to our Zinc-Air battery, making it 
possible to order and stock the battery for use by 
the Armed Forces. CECOM also assigned the 
designation BA-8180/U to our Zinc-Air battery, the 
first time an official US Army battery designation 
was ever assigned to a Zinc-Air battery.

Based on extensive contacts with the US and 
foreign military agencies, we believe that a sig-
nificant market exists for the BA-8180/U both in 
the US Armed Forces and abroad.

8140/U

The BA-8140/U is a new product that has re-
cently been qualified and that has already gener-
ated initial sales of over 5,000 batteries from CE-
COM. The BA-8140/U is a smaller version of our 
8180/U, and was developed at the request of 
CECOM for powering handheld military radios for 
extended periods. It is approximately half the 
size, weight and capacity of our 8180/U. CECOM 
has assigned a National Stock Number (NSN) to 
our BA-8140/U Zinc-Air battery as well. 

Adapters

The BA-8180/U is a battery, but in order to 
connect it or the BA-8140/U to a specific piece of 
equipment, an adapter must be used. In order to 
provide compatibility between the battery and 
various items of military equipment, we supply 
various types of electrical interface adapters for  
each specific piece of military equipment, includ-
ing adapters for the SatCom Radio family 
(AN/PSC-5, AN/PRC-117F, AN/PRC-150 HF), 
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AN/PRC-119 SINCGARS, SINCGARS ASIP, 
AN/PRC-148 MBITR tactical radio sets, and a 
generic interface for items of equipment that were 
designed to interface with a BA-5590 or equiva-
lent battery. Each of these interfaces was also
assigned a national stock number (NSN) by CE-
COM. In addition, we have recently qualified addi-
tional electrical interfaces and have internal ca-
pabilities needed to quickly develop and 
manufacture additional adapters as needed by 
customers. These address various applications, 
including other radios, night vision, missile 
launchers and chemical detectors.

Hybrids

We have also developed interface adapters 
for other items of equipment which require higher 
power than the BA-8180/U can provide by itself. 
For example, we have developed a hybrid battery 
system comprising a BA-8180/U battery pack and 
two small rechargeable lead-acid packs. Even 
with the weight of the lead-acid batteries, this hy-
brid system powers a satellite communications 
terminal for significantly longer than an equivalent 
weight of BA-5590 LiSO2 battery packs. We have 
also developed a hybrid system that incorporates 
ultracapacitors. We received our first orders for 
this man-portable hybrid power source from the 
U.S. Army late in 2005.

Portable Power Systems

Field Chargers

One critical need for soldiers is the ability to 
recharge batteries in the field. Rather than take 
multiple rechargeable batteries for long missions 
at significant cost and weight, a preferred configu-
ration is to continuously charge one rechargeable 
battery while using a second to power a soldier’s 
device(s). The key enabling technologies for such 
an architecture are (a) high energy-density stor-
age devices, (b) efficient, ergonomically-friendly 
forward field charging devices, and (c) effective 
power connectivity to various pieces of a soldier’s 
gear. Given the extremely high energy density of 
our Zinc-Air battery technology (almost twice that 
of lithium batteries), our captive electronics capa-
bilities, and our core competencies in custom 
power adapters, we believe that EFB is in a 
unique position to marry these enabling technolo-
gies and deliver usable forward field charging so-
lutions to the military market space. Current pro-
jects include body-worn Zinc-Air batteries used in 
hybrid with lithium-ion batteries in key applica-
tions as well as utilization of Zinc-Air batteries as 
forward field chargers for lithium-ion batteries. In 

both application scenarios, the soldier’s total bat-
tery carry weight is halved.

Next Generation Zinc-Air Products and Sys-
tems

A fourth generation of Zinc-Air products is be-
ing developed for applications where volume is 
critical, and/or where the power-to-energy ratio 
needs to be significantly higher than that of the 
BA-8180/U. These “Gen4” Zinc-Air products con-
sist of an air cathode folded around a zinc elec-
trode. Gen4 was originally developed for the Ma-
rine Corps Dragon Eye UAV, which requires up to 
200 W from a battery that fits into its sleek fuse-
lage and weighs less than one kilogram. Along 
the way, it was recognized that the Gen4 design 
could be applied to other battery missions requir-
ing high power as well as energy density, such as 
the Land Warrior soldier system, where up to 750 
Wh of energy are required for a 24-hour mission. 
For these systems, the battery currently limits 
functionality, and we believe Gen4 Zinc-Air is an 
enabling technology for such extended missions. 
Through December 31, 2006, we were awarded 
an aggregate of $2.8 million of congressional 
funds and CECOM funding for a three-phase 
BAA (Broad Agency Announcement, which is a 
simplified form of government solicitation for basic 
research and development) to develop this tech-
nology.

Body-Wearable Systems

We believe that our Gen4 Zinc-Air battery 
technology enables much more systemic ap-
proaches to solving the soldier’s portable power 
puzzle. Programs currently include body power 
harnesses powered by a single, lightweight bat-
tery that replaces multiple, heavier batteries. 
Such solutions significantly cut the soldier’s bat-
tery carry weight and battery cost as well as add 
a virtually priceless factor – convenience. Con-
venience for a soldier in combat – not having to 
change batteries from multiple equipment during 
a mission – can often make or break the success 
of the mission, and can even be a life-saving fac-
tor. 

MARKETS/APPLICATIONS

As an external alternative to the popular lith-
ium based BA-5590/U, the BA-8180/U can be 
used in many applications operated by the BA-
5590/U. The BA-8180/U can be used for a variety 
of military applications, including:

Tactical radios

SIGINT systems
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Training systems

SATCOM radios

Nightscope power

Guidance systems

Surveillance systems

Sensors

CUSTOMERS

The principal customers for our Zinc-Air bat-
teries during 2006 were the U.S. Army’s Commu-
nications-Electronics Command (CECOM) and 
the Defense Logistics Agency (DLA). In addition, 
we continue to further penetrate Special Forces 
and other specific U.S. military units with direct 
sales.

COMPETITION

The BA-8180/U is the only Zinc-Air battery to 
hold a US Army battery designation and an NSN. 
It does, however, compete with other primary 
(disposable) batteries, and primarily lithium based 
batteries. In some cases it will also compete with 
rechargeable batteries.

Zinc-Air batteries are inherently safer than 
primary lithium battery packs in storage, transpor-
tation, use, and disposal, and are more cost-
effective. They are lightweight, with up to twice 
the energy density of primary lithium battery 
packs. Zinc-Air batteries for the military are also 
under development by Rayovac Corporation. 
Rayovac’s military Zinc-Air batteries utilize cylin-
drical cells, rather than the prismatic cells that we 
developed. While cylindrical cells may provide 
higher specific power than our prismatic cells, we 
believe they will generally have lower energy 
densities and be more difficult to manufacture.

The most popular competing primary battery 
in use by the US Armed Forces is the BA-5590/U, 
which uses lithium-sulfur dioxide (LiSO2) cells. 
The largest suppliers of LiSO2 batteries to the US 
military are believed to be Saft America Inc. and 
Eagle Picher Technologies LLC. The battery 
compartment of most military communications 
equipment, as well as other military equipment, is 
designed for the XX90 family of batteries, of 
which the BA-5590/U battery is the most com-
monly deployed. Another primary battery in this 
family is the BA-5390/U, which uses lithium-
manganese dioxide (LiMnO2) cells. Suppliers of 
LiMnO2 batteries include Ultralife Batteries Inc., 
Saft and Eagle Picher. 

Rechargeable batteries in the XX90 family in-
clude lithium-ion (BB-2590/U) and nickel-metal 
hydride (BB-390/U) batteries which may be used 
in training missions in order to save the higher 
costs associated with primary batteries. These 
rechargeable batteries are also become more 
prevalent in combat use as their energy densities 
improve, their availability expands and their State-
of-Charge Indicator (SOCI) technologies become 
more reliable.

Our BA-8180/U does not fit inside the XX90 
battery compartment of any military equipment, 
and therefore is connected externally using an in-
terface adapter that we also sell to the Army. Our 
battery offers greatly extended mission time, 
along with lower total mission cost, and these 
significant advantages often greatly outweigh the 
slight inconvenience of fielding an external bat-
tery.

MANUFACTURING

EFB maintains a battery and electronics de-
velopment and manufacturing facility in Auburn, 
Alabama, housed in a 30,000-square-foot light 
industrial space leased from the city of Auburn. 
We also have production capabilities for some 
battery components at EFL’s facility in Beit 
Shemesh, Israel. Both of these facilities have re-
ceived ISO 9001 “Top Quality Standard” certifica-
tion.

Lifejacket Lights

PRODUCTS

In 1996, we began to produce and market 
lifejacket lights built with our patented magne-
sium-cuprous chloride batteries, which are acti-
vated by immersion in water (water-activated bat-
teries), for the aviation and marine safety and 
emergency markets. Additionally, in 2004 we 
added two new models to our line of lifejacket 
light, based on lithium batteries. At present we 
have a product line consisting of seven lifejacket 
light models, five for use with marine life jackets 
and two for use with aviation life vests, all of 
which work in both freshwater and seawater. 
Each of our lifejacket lights is certified for use by 
relevant governmental agencies under various 
U.S. and international regulations. We manufac-
ture, assemble and package all our lifejacket 
lights through EFL in our factory in Beit Shemesh, 
Israel.

MARKETING

We market our marine safety products 
through our own network of distributors in Europe, 
the United States, Asia and Oceania. We market 
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our lights to the commercial aviation industry 
through The Burkett Company of Houston, Texas, 
which receives a commission on sales.

COMPETITION

The largest manufacturer of aviation and ma-
rine safety products, including TSO and SOLAS-
approved lifejacket lights, is ACR Electronics Inc. 
of Hollywood, Florida. Other significant competi-
tors in the marine market include Daniamant Aps 
of Denmark and England, and SIC of Italy.

Backlog

We generally sell our products under stan-
dard purchase orders. Orders constituting our 
backlog are subject to changes in delivery sched-
ules and are typically cancelable by our custom-
ers until a specified time prior to the scheduled 
delivery date. Accordingly, our backlog is not 
necessarily an accurate indication of future sales. 
As of December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, our 
backlog for the following years was approximately 
$41.3 million, $18.3 million and $25.0 million, re-
spectively, divided among our divisions as fol-
lows:

Division 2006 2005 2004

Simulation and Training Division................................$ 11,518,000 $ 9,379,000 $ 12,691,000
Battery and Power Systems Division................................$ 9,213,000 4,523,000 8,325,000
Armor Division................................ $ 20,582,000 4,440,000 4,002,000

TOTAL: ................................................................$ 41,313,000 $ 18,342,000 $ 25,018,000

Major Customers

During 2006, 2005 and 2004, including all of 
our divisions, various branches of the United 
States military accounted for approximately 
49%, 33% and 13% of our revenues.

Price Range of Common Stock

Our common stock is traded on the Nasdaq 
Global Market (formerly known as the Nasdaq 
National Market). Our Nasdaq ticker symbol is 
“ARTX.” The following table sets forth, for the 
periods indicated, the range of high and low 
sales prices of our common stock on the Nasdaq 
Global/National Market System; such prices 
have been adjusted to reflect the one-for-
fourteen reverse stock split effected on June 21, 
2006:

Year Ended December 31, 2006 High Low
Fourth Quarter................................$ 3.69 $ 1.43
Third Quarter................................$ 3.92 $ 1.88
Second Quarter ................................$ 8.12 $ 2.25
First Quarter................................$ 8.96 $ 5.18

Year Ended December 31, 2005 High Low
Fourth Quarter................................$10.64 $ 5.04
Third Quarter................................$16.66 $ 9.80
Second Quarter ................................$20.44 $14.00
First Quarter................................$24.92 $17.64

As of February 28, 2007 we had approxi-
mately 318 holders of record of our common stock.

Dividends

We have never paid any cash dividends on 
our common stock. The Board of Directors pres-
ently intends to retain all earnings for use in our 
business. Any future determination as to payment 
of dividends will depend upon our financial condi-
tion and results of operations and such other fac-
tors as the Board of Directors deems relevant.
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Five-Year Summary of Selected Financial Data

The selected financial information set forth below with respect to the consolidated statement of opera-
tions for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006, and with respect to the balance sheet at the end of such 
fiscal year has been derived from our consolidated financial statements (and schedules) audited by BDO 
Seidman, LLP, independent registered public accounting firm.

The selected financial information set forth below with respect to the consolidated statement of opera-
tions for each of the four fiscal years in the period ended December 31, 2005, and with respect to the balance 
sheets at the end of each such fiscal year has been derived from our consolidated financial statements (and 
schedules) audited by Kost, Forer, Gabbay & Kasierer, a member of Ernst & Young Global, independent regis-
tered public accounting firm.

The results of operations, including revenue, operating expenses, and financial income, of the con-
sumer battery segment for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 have been reclassified in the ac-
companying statements of operations as discontinued operations. Our accompanying consolidated balance 
sheets at December 31, 2003 and 2002 give effect to the assets of the consumer battery business as discon-
tinued operations within current assets and liabilities. Thus, the financial information presented herein includes 
only continuing operations.

The Consolidated Financial Statements at December 31, 2003 and for the year then ended have 
been restated.

The financial information set forth below is qualified by and should be read in conjunction with the 
Consolidated Financial Statements contained elsewhere in this Report and the notes thereto and “Man-
agement’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” below.

Year Ended December 31,
2002 2003** 2004 2005 2006

(dollars in thousands, except per share data)
Statement of Operations Data:
Revenues ................................................................$ 6,407 $ 17,326 $ 49,954 $ 49,045 $ 43,120
Research and development expenses and costs 

of revenues, exclusive of amortization of intan-
gibles................................................................ 5,108 12,141 35,742 35,684 34,095 

Selling, general and administrative expenses 
and their impairment and amortization of intan-
gible assets............................................................. 5,982 10,255 18,394 34,662 17,577 

Operating loss........................................................... (4,683) (5,070) (4,182) (21,301) (8,551)
Other income ............................................................ – – – 339 361
Financial income (expenses), net............................... 100 4,039 4,229 (2,706) (7,520)
Loss before minority interest in (loss) earnings of 

subsidiary and tax expenses................................ (4,583) (9,109) (8,411) (23,668) (15,709)
Taxes on income....................................................... – (396) (586) (237) (232)
Gain (loss) from affiliated company ............................ – – – (75) 355
Minority interest in loss (earnings) of subsidiary............... (355) 157 (45) 57 17
Loss from continuing operations................................ (4,938) (9,348) (9,042) (23,923) (15,569)
Income (loss) from discontinued operations................ (13,566) 110 – (120) –
Net loss for the period ............................................... (18,504) (9,238) (9,042) (24,043) (15,569)
Deemed dividend to certain stockholders of 

common stock......................................................... – (350) (3,329) – (434)
Net loss attributable to stockholders of common 

stock ................................................................ $ (18,504) $ (9,588) $ (12,371) $ (24,043) $ (16,003)
Basic and diluted net loss per share from con-

tinuing operations....................................................$ (2.13) $ (3.41) $ (2.48) $ (4.07) $ (1.87)
Loss per share for combined operations.....................$ (8.00) $ (3.45) $ (2.48) $ (4.09) $ (1.87)
Weighted average number of common shares 

used in computing basic and diluted net loss 
per share (in thousands).......................................... 2,313 2,778 4,995 5,872 8,599
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As At December 31,
2002 2003** 2004 2005 2006

(dollars in thousands)
Balance Sheet Data:
Cash, cash equivalents, investments in marketable 

debt securities and restricted collateral deposits..................$ 2,091 $ 14,391 $ 13,832 $ 10,864 $ 3,059  
Receivables and other assets* ................................ 7,895 8,898 25,746 29,166 28,051  
Property and equipment, net of depreciation .............. 2,555 2,293 4,601 4,253 3,741   
Goodwill and other intangible assets, net ................... 7,522 7,440 54,113 40,586 40,217 
Total assets ..............................................................$ 20,063 $ 33,022 $ 98,292 $ 84,869 $ 75,068  
Current liabilities*.......................................................$ 7,272 $ 6,710  $ 26,381 $ 26,317 $ 15,738  
Long-term liabilities***................................................. 3,753 4,686 6,438 12,287 4,370 
Stockholders’ equity .................................................. 9,038 21,626 65,473 46,265 54,960 
Total liabilities and stockholders equity*......................$ 20,063 $ 33,022 $ 98,292 $ 84,869 $ 75,068 
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF 
OPERATIONS

The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Opera-
tions contains forward-looking statements that involve inherent risks and uncertainties. When used in this 
discussion, the words “believes,” “anticipated,” “expects,” “estimates” and similar expressions are in-
tended to identify such forward-looking statements. Such statements are subject to certain risks and un-
certainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those projected. Readers are cautioned 
not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date hereof. 
We undertake no obligation to publicly release the result of any revisions to these forward-looking state-
ments that may be made to reflect events or circumstances after the date hereof or to reflect the occur-
rence of unanticipated events. Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these 
forward-looking statements as a result of certain factors including, but not limited to, those set forth else-
where in this report. Please see “Risk Factors,” below, and in our other filings with the Securities and Ex-
change Commission.

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial 
Statements contained elsewhere in this report, and the notes thereto. We have rounded amounts re-
ported here to the nearest thousand, unless such amounts are more than 1.0 million, in which event we 
have rounded such amounts to the nearest hundred thousand.

General

We are a defense and security products and 
services company, engaged in three business ar-
eas: interactive simulation for military, law enforce-
ment and commercial markets; batteries and charg-
ing systems for the military; and high-level armoring 
for military, paramilitary and commercial vehicles. 
We operate in three business units:

we develop, manufacture and market ad-
vanced high-tech multimedia and interactive 
digital solutions for use-of-force and driving 
training of military, law enforcement, security 
and other personnel (our Simulation and 
Training Division); 

we provide aviation armor kits and we utilize 
sophisticated lightweight materials and ad-
vanced engineering processes to armor vehi-
cles (our Armoring Division); and

we develop, manufacture and market primary 
Zinc-Air batteries, rechargeable batteries and 
battery chargers for defense and security 
products and other military applications (our 
Battery and Power Systems Division). 

During 2004, we acquired three new busi-
nesses: FAAC Corporation, located in Ann Arbor, 
Michigan, which provides simulators, systems engi-
neering and software products to the United States 
military, government and private industry (which we 
have placed in our Simulation and Training Divi-
sion); Epsilor Electronic Industries, Ltd., located in 
Dimona, Israel, which develops and sells recharge-
able and primary lithium batteries and smart charg-
ers to the military and to private industry in the Mid-

dle East, Europe and Asia (which we have placed in 
our Battery and Power Systems Division); and Ar-
mour of America, Incorporated, located in Auburn, 
Alabama, which manufacturers aviation armor both 
for helicopters and for fixed wing aircraft, marine 
armor, personnel armor, armoring kits for military 
vehicles, fragmentation blankets and a unique bal-
listic/flotation vest (ArmourFloat) that is U.S. Coast 
Guard-certified, which we have placed in our Armor 
Division. Our financial results for 2004 do not in-
clude the activities of FAAC, Epsilor or AoA for the 
full year and therefore are not directly comparable to 
our financial results for 2005.

Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of financial statements requires 
us to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 
the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date of 
the financial statements and the reported amounts 
of revenues and expenses during the reporting pe-
riod. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our esti-
mates and judgments, including those related to 
revenue recognition, allowance for bad debts, in-
ventory, contingencies and warranty reserves, im-
pairment of intangible assets and goodwill. We base 
our estimates and judgments on historical experi-
ence and on various other factors that we believe to 
be reasonable under the circumstances, the results 
of which form the basis for making judgments about 
the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are 
not readily apparent from other sources. Under dif-
ferent assumptions or conditions, actual results may 
differ from these estimates.
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We believe the following critical accounting 
policies affect our more significant judgments and 
estimates used in the preparation of our consoli-
dated financial statements.

Revenue Recognition

Significant management judgments and esti-
mates must be made and used in connection with 
the recognition of revenue in any accounting period. 
Material differences in the amount of revenue in any 
given period may result if these judgments or esti-
mates prove to be incorrect or if management’s es-
timates change on the basis of development of the 
business or market conditions. Management judg-
ments and estimates have been applied consis-
tently and have been reliable historically.

A portion of our revenue is derived from license 
agreements that entail the customization of FAAC’s 
simulators to the customer’s specific requirements. 
Revenues from initial license fees for such ar-
rangements are recognized in accordance with 
Statement of Position 81-1 “Accounting for Per-
formance of Construction – Type and Certain Pro-
duction – Type Contracts” based on the percentage 
of completion method over the period from signing 
of the license through to customer acceptance, as 
such simulators require significant modification or 
customization that takes time to complete. The per-
centage of completion is measured by monitoring 
progress using records of actual time incurred to 
date in the project compared with the total estimated 
project requirement, which corresponds to the costs 
related to earned revenues. Estimates of total pro-
ject requirements are based on prior experience of 
customization, delivery and acceptance of the same 
or similar technology and are reviewed and updated 
regularly by management.

We believe that the use of the percentage of 
completion method is appropriate as we have the 
ability to make reasonably dependable estimates of 
the extent of progress towards completion, contract 
revenues and contract costs. In addition, contracts 
executed include provisions that clearly specify the 
enforceable rights regarding services to be provided 
and received by the parties to the contracts, the 
consideration to be exchanged and the manner and 
terms of settlement. In all cases we expect to per-
form our contractual obligations and our licensees 
are expected to satisfy their obligations under the 
contract. The complexity of the estimation process 
and the issues related to the assumptions, risks and 
uncertainties inherent with the application of the 
percentage of completion method of accounting af-
fect the amounts of revenue and related expenses 
reported in our consolidated financial statements. A 
number of internal and external factors can affect 

our estimates, including labor rates, utilization and 
specification and testing requirement changes.

We account for our other revenues from IES 
simulators in accordance with the provisions of SOP 
97-2, “Software Revenue Recognition,” issued by 
the American Institute of Certified Public Account-
ants and as amended by SOP 98-4 and SOP 98-9 
and related interpretations. We exercise judgment 
and use estimates in connection with the determina-
tion of the amount of software license and services 
revenues to be recognized in each accounting pe-
riod. 

We assess whether collection is probable at the 
time of the transaction based on a number of fac-
tors, including the customer’s past transaction his-
tory and credit worthiness. If we determine that the 
collection of the fee is not probable, we defer the fee 
and recognize revenue at the time collection be-
comes probable, which is generally upon the receipt 
of cash.

Stock Based Compensation

We account for stock options and awards is-
sued to employees in accordance with the fair value 
recognition provisions of Financial Accounting 
Standards Board (“FASB”) Statement No. 123(R) 
(“SFAS No. 123(R)”), “Share-Based Payment,” us-
ing the modified prospective transition method. Un-
der SFAS No. 123(R), stock-based awards to em-
ployees are required to be recognized as 
compensation expense, based on the calculated fair 
value on the date of grant. We determine the fair 
value using the Black Scholes option pricing model. 
This model requires subjective assumptions, includ-
ing future stock price volatility and expected term, 
which affect the calculated values. 

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

We make judgments as to our ability to collect 
outstanding receivables and provide allowances for 
the portion of receivables when collection becomes 
doubtful. Provisions are made based upon a spe-
cific review of all significant outstanding receivables. 
In determining the provision, we analyze our histori-
cal collection experience and current economic 
trends. We reassess these allowances each ac-
counting period. Historically, our actual losses and 
credits have been consistent with these provisions. 
If actual payment experience with our customers is 
different than our estimates, adjustments to these 
allowances may be necessary resulting in additional 
charges to our statement of operations.

Accounting for Income Taxes

Significant judgment is required in determining 
our worldwide income tax expense provision. In the 
ordinary course of a global business, there are 
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many transactions and calculations where the ulti-
mate tax outcome is uncertain. Some of these un-
certainties arise as a consequence of cost reim-
bursement arrangements among related entities, 
the process of identifying items of revenue and ex-
pense that qualify for preferential tax treatment and 
segregation of foreign and domestic income and 
expense to avoid double taxation. Although we be-
lieve that our estimates are reasonable, the final tax 
outcome of these matters may be different than that 
which is reflected in our historical income tax provi-
sions and accruals. Such differences could have a 
material effect on our income tax provision and net 
income (loss) in the period in which such determina-
tion is made.

We have provided a valuation allowance on the 
majority of our net deferred tax assets, which in-
cludes federal and foreign net operating loss carry-
forwards, because of the uncertainty regarding their 
realization. Our accounting for deferred taxes under 
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 
109, “Accounting for Income Taxes” (“Statement 
109”), involves the evaluation of a number of factors 
concerning the realizability of our deferred tax as-
sets. In concluding that a valuation allowance was 
required, we primarily considered such factors as 
our history of operating losses and expected future 
losses in certain jurisdictions and the nature of our 
deferred tax assets. We provide valuation allow-
ances in respect of deferred tax assets resulting 
principally from the carryforward of tax losses. Man-
agement currently believes that it is more likely than 
not that the deferred tax regarding the carryforward 
of losses and certain accrued expenses will not be 
realized in the foreseeable future. We do not pro-
vide for U.S. federal income taxes on the undistrib-
uted earnings of our foreign subsidiaries because 
such earnings are re-invested and, in the opinion of 
management, will continue to be re-invested indefi-
nitely. 

In addition, we operate within multiple taxing ju-
risdictions and may be subject to audits in these ju-
risdictions. These audits can involve complex issues 
that may require an extended period of time for 
resolution. In management’s opinion, adequate pro-
visions for income taxes have been made.

Inventories

Our policy for valuation of inventory and com-
mitments to purchase inventory, including the de-
termination of obsolete or excess inventory, requires 
us to perform a detailed assessment of inventory at 
each balance sheet date, which includes a review 
of, among other factors, an estimate of future de-
mand for products within specific time horizons, 
valuation of existing inventory, as well as product 
lifecycle and product development plans. The esti-

mates of future demand that we use in the valuation 
of inventory are the basis for our revenue forecast, 
which is also used for our short-term manufacturing 
plans. Inventory reserves are also provided to cover 
risks arising from slow-moving items. We write 
down our inventory for estimated obsolescence or 
unmarketable inventory equal to the difference be-
tween the cost of inventory and the estimated mar-
ket value based on assumptions about future de-
mand and market conditions. We may be required 
to record additional inventory write-down if actual 
market conditions are less favorable than those pro-
jected by our management. For fiscal 2006, no sig-
nificant changes were made to the underlying as-
sumptions related to estimates of inventory 
valuation or the methodology applied.

Goodwill

Under Financial Accounting Standards Board 
Statement No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible 
Assets” (SFAS 142), goodwill and intangible assets 
deemed to have indefinite lives are no longer amor-
tized but are subject to annual impairment tests 
based on estimated fair value in accordance with 
SFAS 142.

During 2005, we performed an impairment test 
of goodwill, based on management’s projections 
and using expected future discounted operating 
cash flows, as a response to several factors, includ-
ing without limitation the reduced sales in AoA (a 
component of our Armor Division), the fact that AoA 
failed to meet its projections, the decision of the 
General Manager of AoA and his new supervisor to 
leave the employ of AoA and us, respectively, and 
general uncertainty about the market for AoA’s 
products in general and AoA’s business in particular 
– specifically, the delay or loss of several potential 
orders, decisions by customers to utilize methods of 
armor not produced by AoA (hard armor instead of 
soft armor), and the change in U.S. military priorities 
from acquiring new armor to funding the ground 
forces in Iraq and Afghanistan. Furthermore, follow-
ing Hurricane Katrina, the appropriation of substan-
tial funds earmarked for defense was delayed to 
provide funds for hurricane relief. As of December 
31, 2005, as a result of this impairment test, we 
identified in AoA an impairment of goodwill in the 
amount of $11,757,812. 

In connection with our acquisition of AoA, we 
have a contingent earnout obligation in an amount 
equal to the revenues realized by us from certain 
specific programs that were identified by us and the 
former stockholder of AoA as appropriate targets for 
revenue increases. The earnout provides that if AoA 
receives certain types of orders from certain specific 
customers prior to December 31, 2006 (“Additional 
Orders”), then upon shipment of goods in connec-
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tion with such Additional Orders, the former stock-
holder of AoA will be paid an earnout based on 
revenues, up to a maximum of an additional $6.0 
million. As of December 31, 2006, we had reduced 
the $3.0 million escrow held by the seller of AoA by 
$1.5 million for a putative claim against such escrow 
in respect of such earnout obligation.

We determine fair value using a discounted 
cash flow analysis. This type of analysis requires us 
to make assumptions and estimates regarding in-
dustry economic factors and the profitability of future
business strategies. It is our policy to conduct im-
pairment testing based on our current business 
strategy in light of present industry and economic 
conditions, as well as future expectations. In as-
sessing the recoverability of our goodwill, we may 
be required to make assumptions regarding esti-
mated future cash flows and other factors to deter-
mine the fair value of the respective assets. This 
process is subjective and requires judgment at 
many points throughout the analysis. If our esti-
mates or their related assumptions change in sub-
sequent periods or if actual cash flows are below 
our estimates, we may be required to record im-
pairment charges for these assets not previously re-
corded.

Other Intangible Assets

Other intangible assets are amortized to the 
Statement of Operations over the period during 
which benefits are expected to accrue, currently es-
timated at two to ten years.

The determination of the value of such intangi-
ble assets requires us to make assumptions regard-
ing future business conditions and operating results 
in order to estimate future cash flows and other fac-
tors to determine the fair value of the respective as-
sets. If these estimates or the related assumptions 
change in the future, we could be required to record 
additional impairment charges. As of December 31, 
2004, we identified an impairment of the technology 
previously purchased from Bristlecone and, as a re-
sult, we recorded an impairment loss in the amount 
of $320,279. As of December 31, 2005, we identi-
fied an impairment of backlog, trademarks and a 
covenant not to compete previously identified with 
respect to the AoA acquisition and, as a result, we 
recorded an impairment loss in the amount of 
$498,944. We reduced the $3.0 million escrow held 
by the seller of AoA by an additional $316,000 in 
2006 for a putative claim in respect of an earnout 
obligation, which was charged as an impairment of 
goodwill.

Contingencies

We are from time to time involved in legal pro-
ceedings and other claims. We are required to as-

sess the likelihood of any adverse judgments or 
outcomes to these matters, as well as potential 
ranges of probable losses. We have not made any 
material changes in the accounting methodology 
used to establish our self-insured liabilities during 
the past three fiscal years.

A determination of the amount of reserves re-
quired, if any, for any contingencies are made after 
careful analysis of each individual issue. The re-
quired reserves may change due to future devel-
opments in each matter or changes in approach, 
such as a change in the settlement strategy in deal-
ing with any contingencies, which may result in 
higher net loss. 

If actual results are not consistent with our as-
sumptions and judgments, we may be exposed to 
gains or losses that could be material.

Warranty Reserves

Upon shipment of products to our customers, 
we provide for the estimated cost to repair or re-
place products that may be returned under war-
ranty. Our warranty period is typically twelve months 
from the date of shipment to the end user customer. 
For existing products, the reserve is estimated 
based on actual historical experience. For new 
products, the warranty reserve is based on historical 
experience of similar products until such time as 
sufficient historical data has been collected on the 
new product. Factors that may impact our warranty 
costs in the future include our reliance on our con-
tract manufacturer to provide quality products and 
the fact that our products are complex and may con-
tain undetected defects, errors or failures in either 
the hardware or the software. 

Functional Currency

We consider the United States dollar to be the 
currency of the primary economic environment in 
which we and our Israeli subsidiary EFL operate 
and, therefore, both we and EFL have adopted and 
are using the United States dollar as our functional 
currency. Transactions and balances originally de-
nominated in U.S. dollars are presented at the origi-
nal amounts. Gains and losses arising from non-
dollar transactions and balances are included in net 
income.

The majority of financial transactions of our Is-
raeli subsidiaries MDT and Epsilor is in New Israel 
Shekels (“NIS”) and a substantial portion of MDT’s 
and Epsilor’s costs is incurred in NIS. Management 
believes that the NIS is the functional currency of 
MDT and Epsilor. Accordingly, the financial state-
ments of MDT and Epsilor have been translated into 
U.S. dollars. All balance sheet accounts have been 
translated using the exchange rates in effect at the 
balance sheet date. Statement of operations 
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amounts have been translated using the average 
exchange rate for the period. The resulting transla-
tion adjustments are reported as a component of 
accumulated other comprehensive loss in stock-
holders’ equity.

Executive Summary

Divisions and Subsidiaries

We operate primarily as a holding company, 
through our various subsidiaries, which we have or-
ganized into three divisions. Our divisions and sub-
sidiaries (all 100% owned, unless otherwise noted) 
are as follows:

Our Simulation and Training Division, lo-
cated in Ann Arbor, Michigan, consisting of: 

 FAAC Incorporated, which provides 
simulators, systems engineering and 
software products to the United States 
military, government and private indus-
try (“FAAC”); and

 IES Interactive Training, Inc., which 
provides specialized “use of force” 
training for police, security personnel 
and the military (“IES”).

Our Armor Division, consisting of: 

 MDT Protective Industries, Ltd., lo-
cated in Lod, Israel, which specializes 
in using state-of-the-art lightweight ce-
ramic materials, special ballistic glass 
and advanced engineering processes 
to fully armor vans and SUVs, and is a 
leading supplier to the Israeli military, 
Israeli special forces and special ser-
vices (“MDT”) (75.5% owned);

 MDT Armor Corporation, located in 
Auburn, Alabama, which conducts 
MDT’s United States activities (“MDT
Armor”) (88% owned); and

 Armour of America, located in Auburn, 
Alabama, which provides ballistic ar-
mor kits for rotary and fixed wing air-
craft, marine armor, personnel armor, 
military vehicles and architectural ap-
plications, including both the 
LEGUARD Tactical Leg Armor and the 
Armourfloat Ballistic Floatation Device, 
which is a unique vest that is certified 
by the U.S. Coast Guard (“AoA”).

Our Battery and Power Systems Division, 
consisting of: 

 Epsilor Electronic Industries, Ltd., lo-
cated in Dimona, Israel (in Israel’s 
Negev desert area), which develops 

and sells rechargeable and primary 
lithium batteries and smart chargers to 
the military and to private industry in 
the Middle East, Europe and Asia 
(“Epsilor”); 

 Electric Fuel Battery Corporation, lo-
cated in Auburn, Alabama, which 
manufactures and sells Zinc-Air batter-
ies and battery chargers for the mili-
tary, focusing on applications that de-
mand high energy and light weight
(“EFB”); and

 Electric Fuel (E.F.L.) Ltd., located in 
Beit Shemesh, Israel, which produces 
water-activated lifejacket lights for 
commercial aviation and marine appli-
cations, focusing on obtaining and im-
plementing demonstration projects in 
the U.S. and Europe (“EFL”).

Overview of Results of Operations

We incurred significant operating losses for the 
years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004. 
While we expect to continue to derive revenues 
from the sale of products that we manufacture and 
the services that we provide, there can be no as-
surance that we will be able to achieve or maintain 
profitability on a consistent basis. 

In 2005 our net loss increased to $23.9 million 
on revenues of $49.0 million from $9.0 million on 
revenues of $50.0 million in 2004. About half of the 
2005 loss was the result of impairments during 2005 
of goodwill and other intangible assets in connection 
with our AoA subsidiary; the remainder of the in-
crease in net loss was attributable to the factors 
cited below. In 2006, our net loss decreased to 
$15.6 million on revenues of $43.1 million.

A portion of our operating loss during 2006, 
2005 and 2004 arose as a result of non-cash 
charges. In addition to the charges in respect of 
write-offs of goodwill and other intangible assets de-
scribed under “Critical Accounting Policies – Good-
will,” above, these charges were primarily related to 
our acquisitions, financings and issuances of re-
stricted shares and options to employees. Because 
we anticipate continuing certain of these activities 
during 2007, we expect to continue to incur such 
non-cash charges in the future.

ACQUISITIONS

In acquisition of subsidiaries, part of the pur-
chase price is allocated to intangible assets and 
goodwill, Amortization of intangible assets related to 
acquisition of subsidiaries is recorded based on the 
estimated expected life of the assets. Accordingly, 
for a period of time following an acquisition, we incur 



28

a non-cash charge related to amortization of intan-
gible assets in the amount of a fraction (based on 
the useful life of the intangible assets) of the amount 
recorded as intangible assets. Such amortization 
charges will continue during 2007. We are required 
to review intangible assets for impairment whenever 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
carrying amount of the assets may not be recover-
able. If we determine, through the impairment re-
view process, that intangible asset has been im-
paired, we must record the impairment charge in 
our statement of operations.

In the case of goodwill, the assets recorded as 
goodwill are not amortized; instead, we are required 
to perform an annual impairment review. If we de-
termine, through the impairment review process, 
that goodwill has been impaired, we must record the 
impairment charge in our statement of operations.

As a result of the application of the above ac-
counting rule, we incurred non-cash charges for 
amortization of intangible assets in 2006, 2005 and 
2004 in the amount of $1.9 million, $3.1 million and 
$2.8 million, respectively. In addition, we incurred 
non-cash charges for impairment of goodwill and 
other intangible assets in the amount of $12.3 mil-
lion during 2005 and $316,000 during 2006, primar-
ily in respect of AoA. See “Critical Accounting Poli-
cies – Other Intangible Assets,” above.

FINANCINGS

The non-cash charges that relate to our financ-
ings occurred in connection with our issuance of 
convertible securities with warrants, and in connec-
tion with our repricing of certain warrants and grants 
of new warrants. When we issue convertible securi-
ties, we record a discount for a beneficial conversion 
feature that is amortized ratably over the life of the 
debenture. When a debenture is converted, how-
ever, the entire remaining unamortized beneficial 
conversion feature expense is immediately recog-
nized in the quarter in which the debenture is con-
verted. Similarly, when we issue warrants in con-
nection with convertible securities, we record debt 
discount for financial expenses that is amortized 
ratably over the term of the convertible securities; 
when the convertible securities are converted, the 
entire remaining unamortized debt discount is im-
mediately recognized in the quarter in which the 
convertible securities are converted. As and to the 
extent that our remaining convertible securities are 
converted, we would incur similar non-cash charges 
going forward.

As a result of the application of the above ac-
counting rule, we incurred non-cash charges related 
to amortization of debt discount attributable to bene-
ficial conversion feature in 2006, 2005 and 2004 in 

the amount of $1.5 million, $1.7 million $4.1 million, 
respectively.

ISSUANCES OF  RESTRICTED SHARES, OPTIONS 

AND WARRANTS

During 2004, 2005 and 2006, we issued re-
stricted shares to certain of our employees. These 
shares were issued as stock bonuses, and are re-
stricted for a period of up to three years from the 
date of issuance. Relevant accounting rules provide 
that the aggregate amount of the difference be-
tween the purchase price of the restricted shares (in 
this case, generally zero) and the market price of 
the shares on the date of grant is taken as a general 
and administrative expense, amortized over the life 
of the period of the restriction.

As a result of the application of the above ac-
counting rules, we incurred non-cash charges re-
lated to stock-based compensation in 2006, 2005 
and 2004 in the amount of $353,000, $521,000 and 
$884,000, respectively.

As a result of options granted to employees and 
the adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting 
Standards No. 123 (revised 2004), “Share-Based 
Payments,” we incurred non-cash charges related 
to stock-based compensation in the amount of 
$154,000 during 2005 and $141,000 during 2006.

As a result of shares granted to consultants and 
shares granted as a donation, we incurred non-cash 
charges related to stock-based compensation in the 
amount of $538,000 during 2005 and 7,000 during 
2006.

As part of our Securities Purchase Agreement 
dated September 29, 2005 (see Note 12.d. of the 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements), we is-
sued warrants to purchase up to 375,000 shares of 
common stock. Because the terms of the warrants 
referred to above provided that upon exercise of a 
warrant we could issue only stock that had been 
registered with the SEC (which occurred in Decem-
ber 2005) and was therefore freely tradable, in ac-
cordance with Emerging Issues Task Force No 00-
19, “Accounting for Derivative Financial Instruments 
Indexed to, and Potentially Settled in, a Company’s 
Own Stock,” the fair value of the warrants was re-
corded as a liability at the closing date. Such fair 
value was remeasured at each subsequent cut-off 
date. The fair value of these warrants was remeas-
ured as at December 31, 2006 using the Black-
Scholes pricing model assuming a risk free interest 
rate of 4.79%, a volatility factor of 81%, dividend 
yields of 0% and a contractual life of approximately 
six months. The change in the fair value of the war-
rants between the date of the grant and December 
31, 2006 in the amount of $39,000 has been re-
corded as finance expenses



29

As part of the repricings and exercises of war-
rants described in Note 12.d. of the Notes to Con-
solidated Financial Statements, we issued warrants 
to purchase up to 298,221 shares of common stock. 
Since the terms of these warrants provided that the 
warrants were exercisable subject to our obtaining 
stockholder approval, in accordance with Emerging 
Issues Task Force No 00-19, “Accounting for De-
rivative Financial Instruments Indexed to, and Po-
tentially Settled in, a Company’s Own Stock,” the 
fair value of the warrants was recorded as a liability 
at the closing date. Such fair value was remeasured 
at each subsequent cut-off date until we obtained
stockholder approval. The fair value of these war-
rants was remeasured as at June 19, 2006 (the 
date of the stockholder approval) using the Black-
Scholes pricing model assuming a risk free interest 
rate of 5.00%, a volatility factor of 72%, dividend 
yields of 0% and a contractual life of approximately 
1.78 years. The change in the fair value of the war-
rants between the date of the grant and June 19, 
2006 in the amount of $739,000 has been recorded 
as finance income.

Under the terms of our convertible notes, we 
have the option in respect of scheduled principal re-
payments to force conversion of the payment 
amount at a conversion price based upon the 
weighted average trading price of our common 
stock during the 20 trading days prior to the conver-
sion, less a discount of 8%. Because of this dis-
count and the use in a conversion price that is 
based on the weighted average trading price of our 
common stock during the 20 trading days prior to 
the conversion, we incurred a financial expense dur-
ing 2006 of $507,000, which represents the shares 
issued multiplied by the difference between the 
share price that was used for the conversion and 
the share price at the day of the conversion.

On April 7, 2006, we and each holder of our 
convertible notes agreed that we would force imme-
diate conversion of an aggregate of $6,148,904 
principal amount of the convertible notes into 
1,098,019 shares of our common stock. The 
amount converted eliminated our obligation to make 
the installment payments under the convertible 
notes on each of March 31, 2008, January 31, 
2008, November 30, 2007 and September 30, 2007 
(aggregating a total of $5,833,333). In addition, as a 
result of the conversion an additional $315,570 was 
applied against part of the installment payment due 
July 31, 2007. After giving effect to the conversion, 

$8,434,430 of principal remained outstanding under 
the convertible notes. As a result of this transaction, 
we incurred and recorded a financial expense dur-
ing 2006 of $4.9 million.

Additionally, in an effort to improve our cash 
situation and our shareholders’ equity, we have pe-
riodically induced holders of certain of our warrants 
to exercise their warrants by lowering the exercise 
price of the warrants in exchange for immediate ex-
ercise of such warrants, and by issuing to such in-
vestors new warrants. Under such circumstances, 
we record a deemed dividend in an amount deter-
mined based upon the fair value of the new war-
rants (using the Black-Scholes pricing model). As 
and to the extent that we engage in similar warrant 
repricings and issuances in the future, we would in-
cur similar non-cash charges.

Overview of Operating Performance and 
Backlog

Overall, our net loss before minority interest 
earnings, earnings from an affiliated company and 
tax expenses for 2006 was $15.7 million on reve-
nues of $43.1 million, compared to a net loss of 
$23.7 million on revenues of $49.0 million during 
2005. As of December 31, 2006, our overall backlog 
totaled $41.3 million.

In our Simulation and Training Division, reve-
nues decreased from approximately $26.8 million in 
2005 to $22.0 million in 2006. As of December 31, 
2006, our backlog for our Simulation and Training 
Division totaled $11.5 million.

In our Battery and Power Systems Division, 
revenues decreased from approximately $9.9 mil-
lion in 2005 to approximately $8.6 million in 2006. 
As of December 31, 2006, our backlog for our Bat-
tery and Power Systems Division totaled $9.2 mil-
lion.

In our Armor Division, revenues decreased 
from $12.3 million during 2005 to $12.6 million dur-
ing 2006. As of December 31, 2006, our backlog for 
our Armor Division totaled $20.6 million.

Results of Operations

Preliminary Note

SUMMARY

Following is a table summarizing our results of 
operations for the years ended December 31, 2006, 
2005 and 2004, after which we present a narrative 
discussion and analysis:

Year Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004

Revenues:
Simulation and Training Division ................................$ 21,951,337 $ 26,805,772 $ 21,464,406
Armor Division ................................................................ 12,571,779 12,322,678 17,988,687
Battery and Power Systems Division ................................ 8,597,623 9,916,145 10,500,753

$ 43,120,739 $ 49,044,595 $ 49,953,846
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Year Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004

Cost of revenues:
Simulation and Training Division ................................$ 14,196,298 $ 15,835,735 $ 11,739,690
Armor Division ................................................................ 12,299,756 11,206,442 15,449,084
Battery and Power Systems Division ................................ 5,997,592 7,341,559 6,822,320

$ 32,493,646 $ 34,383,736 $ 34,011,094
Research and development expenses:

Simulation and Training Division ................................$ 308,738 $ 209,554 $ 395,636
Armor Division ................................................................ 20,546 139,514 17,065
Battery and Power Systems Division ................................ 1,272,170 951,361 1,318,678

$ 1,601,454 $ 1,300,429 $ 1,731,379
Sales and marketing expenses:

Simulation and Training Division ................................$ 2,514,981 $ 2,704,880 $ 3,185,001
Armor Division ................................................................ 366,923 834,090 565,981
Battery and Power Systems Division ................................ 656,604 853,378 1,171,235
All Other................................................................................................175,814 79,242 –

$ 3,714,322 $ 4,471,590 $ 4,922,217
General and administrative expenses:

Simulation and Training Division ................................$ 2,562,868 $ 3,849,881 $ 2,852,969
Armor Division ................................................................ 1,031,333 2,181,355 1,323,982
Battery and Power Systems Division ................................ 994,136 974,704  965,058
All Other................................................................................................7,104,479 7,856,495 5,514,857

$ 11,692,816 $  14,862,435 $  10,656,866
Other income:

Simulation and Training Division ................................$ 361,560 $ 338,900 $ –
Armor Division ................................................................ – – –
Battery and Power Systems Division ................................ – – –
All Other................................................................................................– – –

$ 361,560 $ 338,900 $ –
Financial expense (income):

Simulation and Training Division ................................$ (129,908) $ 22,294 $ 27,842
Armor Division ................................................................ 54,476 (2,463) 13,503
Battery and Power Systems Division ................................ (50,590) 122,236  54,511
All Other................................................................................................7,645,922 2,563,622 4,133,109

$ 7,519,900 $ 2,705,689 $  4,228,965
Tax expenses:

Simulation and Training Division ................................$ 49,383 $ 63,976 $ 77,811
Armor Division ................................................................ – 94,671 134,949
Battery and Power Systems Division ................................ 182,776 32,846 320,878
All Other................................................................................................– 46,179 52,471

$ 232,159 $ 237,672 $ 586,109
Amortization of intangible assets:

Simulation and Training Division ................................$ 1,049,136 $ 1,213,261 $ 1,323,403 
Armor Division ................................................................ 295,067 1,348,248 661,914
Battery and Power Systems Division ................................ 509,239 509,239 509,239

$ 1,853,442 $ 3,070,748 $ 2,494,556 
Impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets:

Simulation and Training Division ................................$ – $ – $ 320,279
Armor Division ................................................................ 316,024 12,256,756 –
Battery and Power Systems Division ................................ – – –

$ 316,024 $ 12,256,756 $ 320,279
Gain (loss) from affiliated company:

Simulation and Training Division ................................$ 354,898 $ (75,000) $ –
Armor Division ................................................................ – – –
Battery and Power Systems Division ................................ – – –

$ 354,898 $ (75,000) $ –
Minority interest in loss (profit) of subsidiaries:

Simulation and Training Division ................................$ – $ – $ –
Armor Division ................................................................ 17,407 57,149 (44,694)
Battery and Power Systems Division ................................ – – –

$ 17,407 $ 57,149 $ (44,694)
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Year Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004

Income (loss) from continuing operations:
Simulation and Training Division ................................$ 2,116,299 $ 3,170,091 $ 1,541,775
Armor Division ................................................................ (1,812,346) (15,678,786) (222,485)
Battery and Power Systems Division ................................ (964,304) (869,178)  (661,166)
All Other................................................................................................(14,908,808) (10,545,538) (9,700,437)

$ (15,569,159) $ (23,923,411) $  (9,042,313)
Loss from discontinued operations:

Simulation and Training Division ................................$ – $ – $ –
Armor Division ................................................................ – – –
Battery and Power Systems Division ................................ – (120,000) –

$ – $ (120,000) $ –
Net income (loss):

Simulation and Training Division ................................$ 2,116,299 $ 3,170,091 $ 1,541,775
Armor Division ................................................................ (1,812,346) (15,678,786) (222,485)
Battery and Power Systems Division ................................ (964,304) (989,178)  (661,166)
All Other................................................................................................(14,908,808) (10,545,538) (9,700,437)

$ (15,569,159) $ (24,043,411) $   (9,042,313)

Fiscal Year 2006 compared to Fiscal Year 
2005

Revenues. During 2006, we (through our 
subsidiaries) recognized revenues as follows: 

IES and FAAC recognized revenues from 
the sale of interactive use-of-force training 
systems and from the provision of mainte-
nance services in connection with such 
systems.

MDT, MDT Armor and AoA recognized 
revenues from payments under vehicle 
armoring contracts, for service and repair 
of armored vehicles, and on sale of armor-
ing products.

EFB and Epsilor recognized revenues from 
the sale of batteries, chargers and adapt-
ers to the military, and under certain de-
velopment contracts with the U.S. Army.

EFL recognized revenues from the sale of 
water-activated battery (WAB) lifejacket 
lights.

Revenues for 2006 totaled $43.1 million, 
compared to $49.0 million in 2005, a decrease of 
$5.9 million, or 12.1%. This decrease was pri-
marily attributable to the following factors: 

Decreased revenues from our Simulation 
and Training Division ($4.9 million less in 
2006 versus 2005). 

Decreased revenues from our Battery and 
Power Systems Division, particularly Epsi-
lor ($1.3 million less in 2006 versus 2005).

In 2006, revenues were $22.0 million for the 
Simulation and Training Division (compared to 
$26.8 million in 2005, a decrease of $4.9 million, 
or 18.1%, due primarily to the completion of the 
common driver training program in 2005, a sig-
nificant source of revenue in that year.); $8.6 

million for the Battery and Power Systems Division 
(compared to $9.9 million in 2005, a decrease of 
$1.3 million, or 13.3%, due primarily to decreased 
sales of Epsilor and CECOM from our EFB subsidi-
ary, offset to some extent by increased WAB reve-
nues from our EFL subsidiary); and $12.6 million for 
the Armor Division (compared to $12.3 million in 
2005, an increase of $249,000, or 2.0%, due primar-
ily to increased revenues from MDT as a result of 
David orders shipped in the fourth quarter).

Cost of revenues. Cost of revenues totaled 
$32.5 million during 2006, compared to $34.4 million 
in 2005, a decrease of $1.9 million, or 5.4%, due 
primarily to decreased sales in our Battery and 
Power Systems division and Armor Division and the 
decrease in margins due to change in the mix of 
products and customers in 2006 in comparison to 
2005. In addition, we incurred substantial expenses 
in respect of production of a new product in our Ar-
mor Division, and we updated our accrual for loss 
from one of our simulation projects.

Cost of revenues for our three divisions during 
2006 were $14.2 million for the Simulation and 
Training Division (compared to $15.8 million in 2005,
a decrease of $1.6 million, or 10.4%; $6.0 million for 
the Battery and Power Systems Division (compared 
to $7.3 million in 2005, a decrease of $1.3 million, or 
18.3%, due primarily to decreased sales of Epsilor, 
offset to some extent by increased WAB revenues 
from our EFL subsidiary); and $12.3 million for the 
Armor Division (compared to $11.2 million in 2005,
an increase of $1.1 million, or 9.8%, due primarily to 
decreased revenues from MDT and AoA).

Research and development expenses. Re-
search and development expenses for 2006 were 
$1.6 million, compared to $1.3 million during 2005. 
The small increase in 2006 research and develop-
ment expenses is due to additional costs in the Bat-
tery and Power Systems Division and Simulation 
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and Training Division, slightly offset by a reduc-
tion in costs in the Armor Division.

Selling and marketing expenses. Selling 
and marketing expenses for 2006 were $3.7 mil-
lion, compared to $4.5 million 2005, a decrease 
of $757,000, or 16.9%. This decrease was pri-
marily attributable to the overall decrease in 
revenues and their associated sales and market-
ing expenses.

General and administrative expenses.
General and administrative expenses for 2006 
were $11.7 million, compared to $14.9 million in 
2005, a decrease of $3.2 million, or 21.3%. This 
decrease was primarily attributable to the follow-
ing factors:

Decreases in certain general and adminis-
trative expenses in comparison to 2005, 
such as auditing, legal expenses and 
travel expenses, as a result of cost-cutting 
programs implemented by management, 
which resulted in a decrease of $1.3 mil-
lion over general and administrative ex-
penses in 2005.

Decrease in general and administrative 
expenses related to FAAC, primarily pay-
roll, legal and other expenses, which re-
sulted in a decrease of $493,000 over 
general and administrative expenses in 
2005.

Decrease in general and administrative 
expenses related to IES as a result of the 
consolidation of IES and FAAC operations, 
which resulted in a decrease of $398,000 
over general and administrative expenses 
in 2005.

Decrease in general and administrative 
expenses related to AoA due to decrease 
in operations, employees and the reloca-
tion of AoA to Alabama, which resulted in 
a decrease of $970,000 over general and 
administrative expenses in 2005.

Financial expenses, net. Financial ex-
penses totaled approximately $7.5 million in 
2006 compared to $2.7 million in 2005, an in-
crease of $4.8 million, or 177.9%. The difference 
was due primarily to interest related to our con-
vertible notes that were issued in September 30, 
2005, and financial expenses related to repay-
ment by forced conversion of our convertible 
notes at an 8% discount to average market price 
as provided under the terms of the convertible 
notes, particularly the April 2006 transaction de-

scribed in “Overview of Results of Operations – Fi-
nancings,” above.

Income taxes. We and certain of our subsidiar-
ies incurred net operating losses during 2006 and, 
accordingly, no provision for income taxes was re-
corded.   With respect to some of our subsidiaries 
that operated at a net profit during 2006, we were 
able to offset federal taxes against our accumulated 
loss carry forward. We recorded a total of $232,000 
in tax expenses in 2006, compared to $238,000 in 
tax expenses in 2005, mainly due to state taxes. 

Amortization of intangible assets. Amortiza-
tion of intangible assets totaled $1.9 million in 2006, 
compared to $3.1 million in 2005, a decrease of $1.2 
million, or 39.6%, due primarily to a decrease in am-
ortization of intangible assets related to our subsidi-
ary AoA.

Impairment of goodwill and other intangible 
assets. Current accounting standards require us to 
test goodwill for impairment at least annually, and 
between annual tests in certain circumstances; 
when we determine goodwill is impaired, it must be 
written down, rather than being amortized as previ-
ous accounting standards required. Goodwill is 
tested for impairment by comparing the fair value of 
our reportable units with their carrying value. Fair 
value is determined using discounted cash flows. 
Significant estimates used in the methodologies in-
clude estimates of future cash flows, future short-
term and long-term growth rates, weighted average 
cost of capital and estimates of market multiples for 
the reportable units. We performed the required an-
nual impairment test of goodwill, based on our man-
agement’s projections and using expected future 
discounted operating cash flows. We identified 
$316,000 in impairment of goodwill during 2006. In 
the corresponding period of 2005, we identified in 
AoA an impairment of goodwill in the amount of 
$11.8 million.

Our and our subsidiaries’ long-lived assets and 
certain identifiable intangibles are reviewed for im-
pairment in accordance with current accounting 
standards whenever events or changes in circum-
stances indicate that the carrying amount of an as-
set may not be recoverable. Recoverability of the 
carrying amount of assets to be held and used is 
measured by a comparison of the carrying amount 
of the assets to the future undiscounted cash flows 
expected to be generated by the assets. If such as-
sets are considered to be impaired, the impairment 
to be recognized is measured by the amount by 
which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the 
fair value of the assets. We did not identify any im-
pairment of backlog during 2006. In the correspond-
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ing period of 2005, we identified an impairment 
of backlog previously identified with the AoA ac-
quisition and as a result we recorded an impair-
ment loss in the amount of $499,000.

Net loss. Due to the factors cited above, net 
loss from continuing operations decreased from 
$23.9 million in 2005 to $15.6 million in 2006, an 
improvement of $8.3 million, or 34.8%.

Net loss attributable to common share-
holders. Due to a deemed dividend that was re-
corded in the amount of $434,000 in 2006 due to 
the repricing of existing warrants and the issu-
ance of new warrants (see Note 13.d.3. to the fi-
nancial statements), net loss attributable to 
common shareholders was $16.0 million in 
2006, compared to $24.0 million in 2005, an im-
provement of $8.0 million, or 33.4%.

Fiscal Year 2005 compared to Fiscal Year 
2004

Revenues. During 2005, we recognized 
revenues as follows:

IES and FAAC recognized revenues from 
the sale of interactive use-of-force and 
driver operator training systems and from 
the provision of maintenance services in 
connection with such systems; 

MDT, MDT Armor and AoA recognized 
revenues from payments under vehicle 
armoring contracts, for service and repair 
of armored vehicles, and on sale of armor-
ing products; 

EFB and Epsilor recognized revenues from 
the sale of batteries, chargers and adapt-
ers to the military, and under certain de-
velopment contracts with the U.S. Army; 
and

EFL recognized revenues from the sale of 
lifejacket lights and from subcontracting 
fees received in connection with Phase IV 
of the United States Department of Trans-
portation (DOT) electric bus program.

Revenues for the year ended December 31, 
2005 totaled $49.0 million, compared to $50.0 
million for 2004, a decrease of $949,000, or 2%. 
This decrease was primarily attributable to the 
decreased revenues of our Armor Division, spe-
cifically decreased revenues of MDT Armor 
($5.1 million during 2005 compared to $13.4 mil-
lion in 2004).

These decreased revenues were offset to 
some extent by increased revenues from our 
Simulation and Training Division ($26.8 million in 

2005 compared to $21.5 million in 2004), due pri-
marily to the increased revenues of FAAC.

In 2005, revenues were as follows:

$26.8 million for the Simulation and Training 
Division, compared to $21.5 million in 2004, an 
increase of $5.3 million, or 25%, due primarily 
to the increased revenues of FAAC (approxi-
mately $4.5 million). 

$12.3 million for the Armor Division, compared 
to $18.0 million in 2004, a decrease of $5.7 
million, or 32%, due primarily to the decreased 
revenues from MDT Armor (approximately 
$8.3 million) as a result of a slowdown in ar-
moring orders related to the Iraq War. This de-
crease was partially offset by higher revenues 
recorded by us in 2005 from AoA in compari-
son to 2004, due to the fact t hat AoA’s 
revenues were included for all of 2005 but only 
for the last five months of 2004. On a pro 
forma basis, AoA’s revenues decreased in 
2005 versus 2004, due to decisions by cus-
tomers to utilize methods of armor not pro-
duced by AoA (hard armor instead of soft ar-
mor), the change in U.S. military priorities from 
acquiring new armor to funding the ground 
forces in Iraq and Afghanistan, and, following 
Hurricane Katrina, the fact that substantial 
funds earmarked for defense were delayed to 
provide funds for hurricane relief.

$9.9 million for the Battery and Power Systems 
Division, compared to $10.5 million in 2004, a 
decrease of $585,000, or 6%, due primarily to 
decreased sales of lithium batteries and 
chargers by our Epsilor subsidiary as a result 
of reduced equipment purchases by one of its 
customers, offset to some extent by increased 
revenues from our Zinc-Air military batteries. 

Cost of revenues. Cost of revenues totaled 
$34.4 million during 2005, compared to $34.0 million 
in 2004, an increase of $373,000, or 1%, due pri-
marily to increased cost of goods sold related to the 
write off of inventory in the Armor Division in the 
amount of $1.1 million in 2005.

Direct expenses for our three divisions during 
2005 were $22.0 million for the Simulation and 
Training Division, compared to $17.9 million in 2004,
an increase of $4.1 million, or 23%, due primarily to 
the addition of expenses associated with increased 
sales of driver training systems through FAAC (ap-
proximately $4.5 million), offset to some extent by 
decreased expenses associated with the sales of 
use-of-force training systems; $14.0 million for the 
Armor Division, compared to $16.4 million in 2004, a 



34

decrease of $2.5 million, or 15%, due primarily 
to decreased revenues of MDT Armor ($5.1 mil-
lion during 2005 compared to $13.4 million in 
2004), offset to some extent by increased ex-
penses associated with AoA, including inventory 
write-off; and $9.8 million for the Battery and 
Power Systems Division, compared to $10.0 mil-
lion in 2004, a decrease of $217,000, or 2%, due 
primarily to decreased revenues from Epsilor.

Research and development expenses.
Research and development expenses for 2005 
were $1.3 million, compared to $1.7 million in 
2004, a decrease of $431,000, or 25%. This de-
crease was primarily attributable to allocating re-
search and development expenses to the cost of 
revenues due to research and development con-
tracts in the Battery and Power Systems Division 
and due to higher capitalization of software in 
the amount of $286,000 in 2005 compared to 
2004.

Sales and marketing expenses. Sales and 
marketing expenses for 2005 were $4.5 million, 
compared to $4.9 million in 2004, a decrease of 
$451,000, or 9%. This decrease was primarily 
attributable to the decrease in sales commis-
sions in the Battery and Power Systems Divi-
sion.

General and administrative expenses.
General and administrative expenses for 2005 
were $14.9 million, compared to $10.7 million in 
2004, an increase of $4.2 million, or 39%. This 
increase was primarily attributable to the follow-
ing factors:

The inclusion of the general and adminis-
trative expenses of AoA in our results for 
all of 2005 but only five months of 2004 
($836,000); 

Increases in general and administrative 
expenses in our FAAC subsidiary due to 
legal expenses, employee relocation, ac-
counting, incentive pay accruals, and simi-
lar expenses ($809,000); 

Increase in other corporate general and 
administrative expenses such as auditing, 
legal and travel expenses ($800,000); and

Increase in costs related to abandoned 
acquisition activities ($1.1 million).

Financial expenses, net. Financial ex-
pense, net of interest income and exchange dif-
ferentials, totaled approximately $2.7 million in 
2005, compared to $4.2 million in 2004, a de-
crease of $1.5 million, or 36%. This decrease 

was due primarily to the decreased amortization of 
compensation related to warrants issued to the 
holders of convertible securities and related benefi-
cial conversion feature.

Income taxes. We and certain of our subsidiar-
ies incurred net operating losses during 2005 and, 
accordingly, we were not required to make any pro-
vision for income taxes. With respect to some of our 
subsidiaries that operated at a net profit during 
2005, we were able to offset federal taxes against 
our net operating loss carry forwards. We recorded a 
total of $238,000 in tax expenses in 2005, with re-
spect to certain of our subsidiaries that operated at a 
net profit during 2005 and we are not able to offset 
their taxes against our net operating loss carry for-
wards and with respect to state taxes. We recorded 
a total of $586,000 in tax expenses in 2004, with re-
spect to certain of our subsidiaries that operated at a 
net profit during 2004 and we were not able to offset 
their taxes against our net operating loss carry for-
wards and with respect to state taxes.

Amortization of intangible assets. Amortiza-
tion of intangible assets totaled $3.1 million in 2005, 
compared to $2.5 million in 2004, an increase of 
$576,000, or 23%, due primarily to amortization of 
intangible assets related to our AoA subsidiary that 
we acquired in August 2004.

Impairment of goodwill and other intangibles 
assets. Current accounting standards require us to 
test goodwill for impairment at least annually, and 
between annual tests in certain circumstances; 
when we determine goodwill is impaired, it must be 
written down, rather than being amortized as previ-
ous accounting standards required. Goodwill is 
tested for impairment by comparing the fair value of 
our reportable units with their carrying value. Fair 
value is determined using discounted cash flows. 
Significant estimates used in the methodologies in-
clude estimates of future cash flows, future short-
term and long-term growth rates, weighted average 
cost of capital and estimates of market multiples for 
the reportable units. 

During 2005, we performed an impairment test 
of goodwill, based on management’s projections and 
using expected future discounted operating cash 
flows, as a response to several factors, including 
without limitation the reduced sales in AoA (a com-
ponent of our Armor Division), the fact that AoA 
failed to meet its projections, the decision of the 
General Manager of AoA and his new supervisor to 
leave the employ of AoA us, respectively, and gen-
eral uncertainty about the market for AoA’s products 
in general and AoA’s business in particular – specifi-
cally, the delay or loss of several potential orders, 
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decisions by customers to utilize methods of ar-
mor not produced by AoA (hard armor instead of 
soft armor), and the change in U.S. military pri-
orities from acquiring new armor to funding the 
ground forces in Iraq and Afghanistan. Further-
more, following Hurricane Katrina, substantial 
funds earmarked for defense were delayed to 
provide funds for hurricane relief. As of Decem-
ber 31, 2005, as a result of this impairment test, 
we identified in AoA an impairment of goodwill in 
the amount of $11.8 million.

Our and our subsidiaries’ long-lived assets 
and certain identifiable intangibles are reviewed 
for impairment in accordance with current ac-
counting standards whenever events or changes 
in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Re-
coverability of the carrying amount of assets to 
be held and used is measured by a comparison 
of the carrying amount of the assets to the future 
undiscounted cash flows expected to be gener-
ated by the assets. If such assets are consid-
ered to be impaired, the impairment to be recog-
nized is measured by the amount by which the 
carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair 
value of the assets. As of December 31, 2004, 
we identified an impairment of the technology 
previously purchased from Bristlecone and, as a 
result, we recorded an impairment loss in the 
amount of $320,000. As of December 31, 2005, 
we identified an impairment of backlog, trade-
marks and a covenant not to compete previously 
identified with respect to the AoA acquisition
and, as a result, we recorded an impairment loss 
in the amount of $499,000.

Loss from continuing operations. Due to 
the factors cited above, we reported a loss from 
continuing operations of $23.9 million in 2005, 
compared to $9.0 million in 2004, an increase of 
$14.9 million, or 165%.

Loss from discontinued operations. Net 
loss from discontinued operations for 2005 was 
$120,000 compared to $0 in 2004. This is be-
cause during the second quarter of 2005 we 
took an accrual of $200,000 for a litigation con-
tingency related to the discontinued operations; 
in March 2006, this litigation was settled for 
$120,000.

Net loss before deemed dividend of 
common stock to certain stockholders. Due 
to the factors cited above, we reported a net loss 
of $24.0 million in 2005, compared to a net loss 
of $9.0 million in 2004, an increase of $15.0 mil-
lion, or 166%. 

Net loss after deemed dividend of common 
stock to certain stockholders. In 2004 we had a 
deemed dividend of $3.3 million (see Notes 13.d.3. 
and 13.d.4. to the financial statements) that we did 
not have in 2005. Accordingly, net loss after deemed 
dividend of common stock to certain stockholders 
was $24.0 million in 2005, compared to $12.4 million 
in 2004, an increase of $11.7 million, or 94%.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2006, we had $2.4 million in 
cash, $649,000 in restricted collateral securities and 
restricted held-to-maturity securities due within one 
year, $1.4 million in an escrow receivable and 
$41,000 in available-for-sale marketable securities, 
as compared to at December 31, 2005, when we 
had $6.2 million in cash, $3.9 million in restricted col-
lateral securities and restricted held-to-maturity se-
curities due within one year, $779,000 in long-term 
restricted deposits, and $36,000 in available-for-sale 
marketable securities. We also had $994,000 avail-
able in unused bank lines of credit.

We used available funds in 2006 primarily for 
sales and marketing, continued research and devel-
opment expenditures, and other working capital 
needs. We increased our investment in fixed assets 
by $1.4 million during the year ended December 31, 
2006, primarily in the Battery and Power Systems 
Division and in the Simulation and Training Division. 
Our net fixed assets amounted to $3.7 million as at 
year end.

Net cash used in operating activities for 2006 
and 2005 was $3.6 million and $11.1 million, respec-
tively, a decrease of $7.5 million. This decrease was 
primarily the result of a decrease in trade receiv-
ables in 2005 offset by a decrease in trade payables 
in 2005 in comparison to 2006.

Net cash used in investing activities for 2006 
and 2005 was $487,000 and $11.8 million, respec-
tively, a decrease of $11.3 million. This increase was 
primarily the result of warrant exercises during 2006,
the proceeds of which were deposited in restricted 
accounts for the payment of our convertible deben-
tures due in September 2006, resulting in an in-
crease in restricted securities and deposits. 

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activi-
ties for 2006 and 2005 was $452,000 and $22.2 mil-
lion, respectively, a decrease of $21.7 million. This 
decrease was primarily the result of the issuance of 
debentures in 2005, partially offset by warrant exer-
cises in February, March and April of 2006 (see Note 
12.d. to the financial statements).

As of December 31, 2006, we had (based on the 
contractual amount of the debt and not on the ac-
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counting valuation of the debt, not taking into 
consideration trade payables, other accounts 
payables and accrued severance pay) approxi-
mately $2.6 million in bank and certificated debt 
outstanding, all of which was convertible debt, 
and approximately $3.5 million in short-term 
debt.

Our debt agreements with the holders of our 
convertible notes contain customary affirmative 
and negative operations covenants that limit the 
discretion of our management with respect to 
certain business matters and place restrictions 
on us, including obligations on our part to pre-
serve and maintain our assets and restrictions 
on our ability to incur or guarantee debt, to 
merge with or sell our assets to another com-
pany, and to make significant capital expendi-
tures without the consent of the debenture hold-
ers. The schedule of payments to the holders of 
our convertible notes, as amended, calls for the 
notes to be paid off by July 31, 2007.

Based on our internal forecasts, which are 
subject to all of the reservations regarding “for-
ward-looking statements” set forth above, we be-
lieve that our present cash position, anticipated 
cash flows from operations, lines of credit and 
anticipated additions to paid-in capital should be 
sufficient to satisfy our current estimated cash 
requirements through the remainder of the year. 
This belief is based on certain earnout and other 
assumptions that our management and our sub-
sidiaries managers believe to be reasonable, 
some of which are subject to the risk factors de-
tailed under “Item 1A. Risk Factors” above, in-
cluding without limitation (i) that the severance 
and retirement benefits that we owe to certain of 
our senior executives will not have to be paid 
ahead of their anticipated schedule, and (ii) that 
no other earnout payments to the former share-
holder of AoA will be required in excess of the 
funds being held by him in escrow to secure 
such earnout obligations. In this connection, we 
note that from time to time our working capital 
needs are partially dependent on our subsidiar-
ies’ lines of credit. In the event that we are un-
able to continue to make use of our subsidiaries’ 
lines of credit for working capital on economi-
cally feasible terms, our business, operating re-
sults and financial condition could be adversely 
affected.

Effective Corporate Tax Rate

We and certain of our subsidiaries incurred 
net operating losses during the years ended De-
cember 31, 2006 and 2005, and accordingly no 

provision for income taxes was required. With re-
spect to some of our U.S. subsidiaries that operated 
at a net profit during 2006, we were able to offset 
federal taxes against our net operating loss carry-
forward, which amounted to approximately $34.2 
million as of December 31, 2006. These subsidiaries 
are, however, subject to state taxes that cannot be 
offset against our net operating loss carryforward. 
With respect to certain of our Israeli subsidiaries that 
operated at a net profit during 2006, we were unable 
to offset their taxes against our net operating loss 
carryforward, and we are therefore exposed to Is-
raeli taxes, at a rate of up to 31% in 2006 (less, in 
the case of companies that have “approved enter-
prise” status as discussed in Note 14.b. to the Notes 
to Financial Statements).

As of December 31, 2006, we had a U.S. net 
operating loss carryforward of approximately $35.6 
million that is available to offset future taxable in-
come under certain circumstances, expiring primarily 
from 2009 through 2026, and foreign net operating 
and capital loss carryforwards of approximately 
$90.0 million, which are available indefinitely to off-
set future taxable income under certain circum-
stances.
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Contractual Obligations

The following table lists our contractual obligations and commitments as of December 31, 2006, 
not including trade payables and other accounts payable:

Payment Due by Period
Contractual Obligations Total Less Than 1 Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years More than 5 Years

Long-term debt ..........................$ – $ – $ – $ – $ –
Short-term debt*.........................$6,079,637 $6,079,637 $ – $ – $ –
Promissory note due to 

purchase of subsidiaries..........$ 454,350 $ 302,900 $ 151,450 $ – $ –
Operating lease obliga-

tions** ................................ $ 793,422 $ 621,678 $ 166,282 $ 5,462 $ –
Capital lease obligations.............$ 269,756 $ 79,623 $ 138,811 $ 51,322 $ –
Severance obligations*** .............$4,039,049 $ – $ 4,039,049 $ – $ –
     * Includes convertible securities in the gross amount of $2,583,629. Also includes $3,496,008 in short-term bank 

debt.
   ** Includes operating lease obligations related to rent.
  *** Includes obligations related to special severance pay arrangements in addition to the severance amounts due to 

certain employees pursuant to Israeli severance pay law (the amount shown in the table above with payment due 
during the next 1-3 years might not be paid in the period stated in the event the employment agreements to which 
such severance obligations relate are extended).

CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL 
DISCLOSURE

Effective as of June 20, 2006, BDO Seid-
man, LLP replaced Kost, Forer, Gabbay and 
Kasierer, a member of Ernst & Young Global, as 
our independent registered public accounting 
firm. This change was reported in a Current Re-

port on Form 8-K filed on June 26, 2006. There 
have been no disagreements with accountants 
on any matter of accounting principles or finan-
cial disclosure required to be reported

CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Pro-
cedures

As of December 31, 2006, our management, 
including the principal executive officer and prin-
cipal financial officer, evaluated our disclosure 
controls and procedures related to the recording, 
processing, summarization, and reporting of in-
formation in our periodic reports that we file with 
the SEC. These disclosure controls and proce-
dures are intended to ensure that material in-
formation relating to us, including our subsidiar-
ies, is made known to our management, 
including these officers, by other of our employ-
ees, and that this information is recorded, proc-
essed, summarized, evaluated, and reported, as 
applicable, within the time periods specified in 
the SEC’s rules and forms. Due to the inherent 
limitations of control systems, not all misstate-
ments may be detected. These inherent limita-
tions include the realities that judgments in deci-
sion-making can be faulty and that breakdowns 
can occur because of simple error or mistake. 
Any system of controls and procedures, no mat-

ter how well designed and operated, can at best 
provide only reasonable assurance that the ob-
jectives of the system are met and management 
necessarily is required to apply its judgment in 
evaluating the cost benefit relationship of possi-
ble controls and procedures. Additionally, con-
trols can be circumvented by the individual acts 
of some persons, by collusion of two or more 
people, or by management override of the con-
trol. Our controls and procedures are intended to 
provide only reasonable, not absolute, assur-
ance that the above objectives have been met.

Based on their evaluation as of December 
31, 2006, our principal executive officer and 
principal financial officer were able to conclude 
that our disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under 
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) were ef-
fective to ensure that the information required to 
be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or 
submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 
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1934 is recorded, processed, summarized and 
reported within the time periods specified in SEC 
rules and forms.

We will continue to review and evaluate the 
design and effectiveness of our disclosure con-
trols and procedures on an ongoing basis and to 
improve our controls and procedures over time 
and correct any deficiencies that we may dis-
cover in the future. Our goal is to ensure that our 
senior management has timely access to all ma-
terial financial and non-financial information 
concerning our business. While we believe the 
present design of our disclosure controls and 
procedures is effective to achieve our goal, fu-
ture events affecting our business may cause us 
to modify our disclosure controls and proce-
dures.

Management’s Report on Internal Control 
Over Financial Reporting

Our management, including our principal ex-
ecutive and financial officers, is responsible for 
establishing and maintaining adequate internal 
control over our financial reporting, as such term 
is defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Our 
management has evaluated the effectiveness of 
our internal controls as of the end of the period 
covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K for 
the year ended December 31, 2006. In making 
our assessment of internal control over financial 
reporting, management used the criteria set forth 
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations 
(“COSO”) of the Treadway Commission in Inter-
nal Control – Integrated Framework.

Based on management’s assessment and 
these criteria, our management concluded that 
our internal control over financial reporting was 
effective as of December 31, 2006.

This annual report does not include an at-
testation report of our registered public account-
ing firm regarding internal control over financial 
reporting. Management’s report was not subject 
to attestation by our registered public accounting 
firm pursuant to temporary rules of the Securi-
ties and Exchange Commission that permit us to 
provide only management’s report in this annual 
report.

Changes in Internal Controls Over Financial 
Reporting

In the last fiscal quarter of 2006, we con-
firmed we had completed the enhancement of 
our internal controls relating to the monitoring, 
review and approval of revenue recognition cal-
culations at our FAAC subsidiary. Specifically, 
we implemented controls to ensure that revenue 
recognition calculations at FAAC are reviewed 
by appropriate accounting personnel at FAAC to 
determine that revenue is recognized in accor-
dance with company policy and generally ac-
cepted accounting principles. Management, with 
the oversight of the Audit Committee, has ad-
dressed the material weakness related to the 
monitoring, review and approval of revenue rec-
ognition calculations at FAAC identified in previ-
ous periods and has concluded that it has been 
successfully remediated.

Except for the remediation of the material 
weakness discussed above, there have been no 
changes in our internal control over financial re-
porting that occurred during our last fiscal quar-
ter to which this Annual Report on Form 10-K re-
lates that have materially affected, or are 
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal 
control over financial reporting.
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99 Monroe Ave. NW, Suite 800
Grand Rapids, MI  49503-2698
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Arotech Corporation:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Arotech Corporation and subsidiaries 
as of December 31, 2006, and the related consolidated statements of operation, changes in stockholders’ 
equity and cash flows for the year then ended. Our audit also included the financial statement schedule 
listed in the index at Item 15(a)2. These financial statements and schedule are the responsibility of the 
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and 
schedule based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight 
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. The Company is not 
required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. 
Our audit included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no 
such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements and schedule, assessing the accounting principles used and sig-
nificant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
statements and schedule. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material re-
spects, the financial position of Arotech Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2006, and the 
results of their operations and their cash flows for the year then ended, in conformity with accounting prin-
ciples generally accepted in the United States of America. Also, in our opinion, the financial statement 
schedule presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.

/s/ BDO Seidman LLP

Grand Rapids, Michigan
April 15, 2007
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Stockholders of

AROTECH CORPORATION

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Arotech Corporation (the "Company") 
and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2005, and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in 
stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2005. Our au-
dits also included the financial statement schedule listed in Item 15(a)(2) of the Company’s Form10-K. These fi-
nancial statements and schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to 
express an opinion on these financial statements and schedule based on our audits. We did not audit the finan-
cial statements of "Armor of America Incorporated," a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, which state-
ments reflect total assets of 2.8% of the consolidated assets of the Company as of December 31, 2005, and total 
revenues of 8.8% and 5% of the consolidated revenues of the Company for the years ended December 31, 2005 
and 2004, respectively.  We also did not audit the financial statements of "IES Interactive Training, Inc.,” a 
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, which statements reflect total assets of 3.5% of the consolidated as-
sets of the Company as of December 31, 2005, and total revenues of 11.8% of the consolidated revenues of the 
Company for the year then ended. Those statements were audited by other auditors whose reports have been 
furnished to us, and our opinion, insofar as it relates to the data included for these subsidiaries, is based solely 
on the reports of the other auditors. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight 
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assur-
ance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on 
a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes 
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating 
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits and the reports of other auditors provide 
a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, based on our audits and the reports of other auditors, the consolidated financial statements 
referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Company and 
its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2005, and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows 
for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2005, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted ac-
counting principles. Additionally, in our opinion based on our audits, the related financial statement schedule, 
when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material re-
spects the information set forth therein.

Tel Aviv, Israel KOST, FORER, GABBAY & KASIERER
March 30, 2006 A Member of Ernst & Young Global

 Kost Forer Gabbay & Kasierer
3 Aminadav St.
Tel-Aviv 67067, Israel

 Phone: 972-3-6232525
Fax:     972-3-5622555
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors 
IES Interactive Training, Inc. and Subsidiary 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of IES Interactive Training, Inc. and 
Subsidiary as of December 31, 2005, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stock-
holder’s (deficit) and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2005.  We also have audited man-
agement’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over 
Financial Reporting, that IES Interactive Training, Inc. and Subsidiary  maintained effective internal 
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on criteria established in Internal Con-
trol—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission (COSO). IES Interactive Training, Inc. and Subsidiary’s management is responsible for 
these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial report-
ing, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our respon-
sibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements, an opinion on manage-
ment’s assessment, and an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control over 
financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Over-
sight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain rea-
sonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement and 
whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our 
audit of financial statements included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts 
and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant 
estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. Our au-
dit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control 
over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and 
operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered 
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opin-
ions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable as-
surance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for 
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal 
control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the mainte-
nance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and disposi-
tions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded 
as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted ac-
counting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accor-
dance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable 
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of 
the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
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Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect mis-
statements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk 
that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance 
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material re-
spects, the financial position of IES Interactive Training, Inc. and Subsidiary as of December 31, 2005, 
and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2005, in conformity 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also, in our opinion, man-
agement’s assessment that IES Interactive Training, Inc. and Subsidiary  maintained effective internal 
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005 is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on 
criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring 
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Furthermore, in our opinion, IES Interactive Train-
ing, Inc. and Subsidiary maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial report-
ing as of December 31, 2005, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework is-
sued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

Denver, Colorado
March 10, 2006

STARK ♦WINTER ♦ SCHENKEIN & CO., LLP  ♦  Certified Public Accountants  ♦  Financial Consultants

7535 EAST HAMPDEN AVENUE  ♦  SUITE 109  ♦  DENVER, COLORADO  80231
PHONE: 303.694.6700  ♦  FAX: 303.694.6761  ♦  TOLL FREE: 888.766.3985  ♦  WWW.SWSCPAS.COM
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

To the Shareholder
Armour of America, Inc.
Gardena, California 

We have audited the accompanying balance sheet of Armour of America, Inc. as of December 31, 2005, 
and the related statements of operations, stockholder’s equity and cash flows for the period August 11, 
2004 to December 2004 and the year ended December 31, 2005. We also have audited management’s 
assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting , 
that Armour of America, Inc. maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 
31, 2005, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Commit-
tee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Armour of America, Inc.’s man-
agement is responsible for these financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over finan-
cial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements, an opinion on management’s as-
sessment, and an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control over financial reporting 
based on our audits.  

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight 
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective 
internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit of the financial 
statements included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by man-
agement, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. Our audit of internal control over fi-
nancial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluat-
ing management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal 
control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We be-
lieve that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assur-
ance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external 
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over 
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records 
that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of 
the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit 
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that 
receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention 
or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could 
have a material effect on the financial statements.
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Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect mis-
statements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk 
that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance 
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the finan-
cial position of Armour of America, Inc. as of December 31, 2005, and the related statements of opera-
tions, stockholder’s equity and cash flows for the period August 11, 2004 to December 2004 and the year 
ended December 31, 2005, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America. Also, in our opinion, management’s assessment that Armour of America, Inc. main-
tained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005 is fairly stated, in all ma-
terial respects, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the 
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Furthermore, in our opin-
ion, Armour of America, Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial 
reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Frame-
work issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

Denver, Colorado
January 31, 2006

STARK ♦WINTER ♦ SCHENKEIN & CO., LLP  ♦  Certified Public Accountants  ♦  Financial Consultants

7535 EAST HAMPDEN AVENUE  ♦  SUITE 109  ♦  DENVER, COLORADO  80231
PHONE: 303.694.6700  ♦  FAX: 303.694.6761  ♦  TOLL FREE: 888.766.3985  ♦  WWW.SWSCPAS.COM
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
In U.S. dollars

December 31,

2006 2005

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,368,872 $ 6,150,652

  Restricted collateral deposits and restricted held-to-maturity se-
curities 648,975 3,897,113

Escrow receivable 1,479,826 –
Available for sale marketable securities 41,166 35,984
Trade receivables (net of allowance for doubtful accounts in the 

amounts of $159,000 and $176,000 as of December 31, 2006 
and 2005, respectively) 7,780,965 11,747,876

Unbilled receivables 6,902,533 5,228,504
Other accounts receivable and prepaid expenses 1,134,622 2,264,331
Inventories 7,851,820 7,815,806

Total current assets 28,208,779 37,140,266

SEVERANCE PAY FUND 2,246,457 2,072,034

OTHER LONG TERM RECEIVABLES 262,608 –

RESTRICTED DEPOSITS – 779,286

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET 3,740,593 4,252,931

INVESTMENT IN AFFILIATED COMPANY 392,398 37,500

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET 9,502,214 11,027,499

GOODWILL 30,715,225 29,559,157

$ 75,068,274 $ 84,868,673
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
In U.S. dollars

December 31,

2006 2005

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES:

Trade payables $ 2,808,131 $ 5,830,820
Other accounts payable and accrued expenses 5,171,055 5,630,108
Current portion of capitalized leases 55,263 –
Current portion of promissory notes due to purchase of subsidiaries 302,900 603,764
Short term bank credit and current portion of long term loans 3,496,008 2,036,977
Deferred revenues 1,321,311 603,022
Convertible debenture 2,583,629 11,492,238
Liabilities of discontinued operations – 120,000

Total current liabilities 15,738,297 26,316,929
LONG TERM LIABILITIES 

Accrued severance pay 4,039,049 3,657,328
Long term portion of promissory notes due to purchase of subsidi-

aries 151,450 –
Long term portion of capitalized leases 158,120 –
Convertible debenture – 8,590,233

Total long-term liabilities 4,348,619 12,247,561
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (Note 11)
MINORITY INTEREST 21,520 38,927
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY:

Share capital –
Common stock – $0.01 par value each;

Authorized: 250,000,000 shares as of December 31, 2006 and 
2005; Issued: 12,023,242 shares and 6,221,194 shares as of 
December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively; Outstanding –
11,983,576 shares and 6,181,527 shares as of December 31, 
2006 and 2005, respectively 120,232 870,969

Preferred shares – $0.01 par value each;
Authorized: 1,000,000 shares as of December 31, 2006 and 

2005; No shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 
2006 and 2005 – –

Additional paid-in capital 217,735,860 193,560,579
Accumulated deficit (158,566,123) (142,996,964)
Treasury stock, at cost (common stock – 39,666 shares as of De-

cember 31, 2006 and 2005) (3,537,106) (3,537,106)
Notes receivable from stockholders (1,304,179) (1,256,777)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 511,154 (375,445)

Total stockholders’ equity 54,959,838 46,265,256

$ 75,068,274 $ 84,868,673
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS___________________________________
In U.S. dollars

Year ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004

Revenues $ 43,120,739 $ 49,044,595 $ 49,953,846

Cost of revenues 32,493,646 34,383,736 34,011,094

Operating expenses:
Research and development, net 1,601,454 1,300,429 1,731,379
Selling and marketing expenses 3,714,322 4,471,590 4,922,217
General and administrative expenses 11,692,816 14,862,435 10,656,866
Amortization of intangible assets 1,853,442 3,070,748 2,494,556
Impairment of goodwill and other intangible as-

sets 316,024 12,256,756 320,279

Total operating costs and expenses 19,178,058 35,961,958 20,125,297

Operating loss (8,550,965) (21,301,099) (4,182,545)
Other income 361,560 338,900 –
Financial expenses, net (7,519,900) (2,705,689) (4,228,965)

Loss before minorities interests in earnings of a 
subsidiaries and tax expenses (15,709,305) (23,667,888) (8,411,510)

Income taxes (232,159) (237,672) (586,109)
Gain (loss) from affiliated company 354,898 (75,000) –
Minorities interests in loss (earnings) of a subsidiar-
ies 17,407 57,149 (44,694)
Loss from continuing operations (15,569,159) (23,923,411) (9,042,313)

Loss from discontinued operations – (120,000) –
Net loss $(15,569,159) $(24,043,411) $ (9,042,313)

Deemed dividend to certain stockholders $ (434,185) $ – $ (3,328,952)

Net loss attributable to common stockholders $(16,003,344) $(24,043,411) $(12,371,265)

Basic and diluted net loss per share from continu-
ing operations $ (1.87) $ (4.07) $ (2.48)

Basic and diluted net profit (loss) per share from 
discontinued operations $ 0.00 $ (0.02) $ 0.00

Basic and diluted net loss per share $ (1.87) $ (4.09) $ (2.48)

Weighted average number of shares used in com-
puting basic and diluted net loss per share 8,569,191 5,872,093 4,995,218

.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Common stock

In U.S. dollars

Shares Amount

Additional

paid-in

capital

Accumulated

deficit

Deferred

stock

compensation

Treasury

stock

Notes

receivable

from

stockholders

Accumulated 

other 

comprehensive

loss

Total

comprehensive

income

Total

stockholders’

equity

Balance as of January 1, 2004 ........ 3,426,601 $     479,726 $135,702,413 $(109,911,240) $            (8,464) $(3,537,106) $(1,203,881) $     104,429 $ 21,625,877
Issuance of shares, net ...................... 1,009,892 141,384 24,252,939 – – – – – 24,394,323
Issuance of shares and warrants 

due to settlement of litigation........... 32,143 4,500 1,244,328 – – – – – 1,248,828
Issuance of shares to employees ...... 2,857 400 92,800 – – – – – 93,200
Conversion of convertible deben-

tures ................................................ 274,552 38,437 3,754,279 – – – – – 3,792,716
Exercise of warrants by inves-

tors and others........................... 811,667 113,633 19,119,638 – – – – – 19,233,271
Issuance of shares to consultants...... 6,444 902 198,489 – – – – – 199,391
Reclassification to liability in con-

nection with warrants granted......... – – (10,841,020) – – – – –  (10,841,020)
Reclassification of liability to eq-

uity related to the fair value of 
warrants..................................... – – 10,514,181 – – – – – 10,514,181

Compensation related to non-
recourse loan granted to 
shareholder................................ – – (10,000) – – – – – (10,000)

Deferred stock compensation 
related to options and re-
stricted stock.............................. 52,857 7,400 2,074,057 – (2,081,457) – – – –

Amortization of deferred stock 
compensation ......................... – 831,626 – – – 831,626

Exercise of options by employees ....... 64,089 8,972 1,101,172 – – – – – 1,110,144
Exercise of options by consultants......... 2,687 376 50,799 – – – – – 51,175
Issuance of shares in respect of 

FAAC acquisition ....................... 71,704 10,039 1,993,639 – – – – – 2,003,678
Accrued interest on notes re-

ceivable from stockholders ........ – – 18,990 – – – (18,990) – –
Other comprehensive income –

foreign currency translation 
adjustment ................................ – – – – – – – 263,404 $        263,404 263,404

Other comprehensive income –
realized gain on available for 
sale marketable securities............. – – – – – – – 4,502 4,502 4,502

Net loss ........................................ – – – (9,042,313) – – – – (9,042,313) (9,042,313)
     $    (8,774,407)

Balance as of December 31, 2004...... 5,755,493 $805,769     $189,266,704 $(118,953,553) $(1,258,295)            $(3,537,106) $(1,222,871) $372,335 $65,472,983 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
In U.S. dollars

Common stock

Shares Amount

Additional
paid-in
capital

Accumulated
deficit

Deferred
stock

compensation
Treasury

stock

Notes
receivable

from
stockholders

Accumulated
other

comprehensive
income (loss)

Total
comprehensive
income (loss)

Total
stockholders’

equity

Balance as of January 1, 2005 ..........5,759,786 $ 806,370 $189,266,103 $ (118,953,553) $(1,258,295) $(3,537,106) $ (1,222,871) $ 372,335 $ – $ 65,472,983 
Issuance of shares, net ................................339,640 47,551 3,898,185 – – – – – – 3,945,736
Shares issued to convertible 

debenture holders................................82,976 11,617 441,434 – – – – – – 453,051
Shares issued to consultant................................36,232 5,073 516,200 – – – – – – 521,273
Compensation related to non-

recourse loan granted to 
shareholder ................................ – – (28,500) – – – – – – (28,500)

Employee options exercise................................1,132 158 17,034 – – – – – – 17,192
Shares issued to employees................................714 100 (100) – – – – – – –
Deferred stock compensation 

related to options and re-
stricted stock ................................ 3,571 500 50,500 – (51,000) – – – – –

Amortization of deferred stock 
compensation ................................ – – – – 674,712 – – – – 674,712

Cancellation of deferred stock 
compensation as a result of 
forfeitures ................................ (2,857) (400) (244,880) – 245,280 – – – – –

Interest accrued on notes re-
ceivable from shareholders................................– – 33,906 – – – (33,906) – – –

Other comprehensive loss –
foreign currency translation 
adjustment................................ – – – – – – – (746,016) (746,016) (746,016)

Other comprehensive loss – unre-
alized gain on available for sale 
marketable securities ................................ – – – – – – – (1,764) (1,764) (1,764)

Net loss ................................... – – – (24,043,411) – – – – (24,043,411) (24,043,411)
Total comprehensive loss ........ – – – – – – – – $(24,791,191) –
Balance as of December 31, 2005 .....6,221,194 $ 870,969 $193,949,882 $ (142,996,964) $ (389,303) $(3,537,106) $ (1,256,777) $ (375,445) $  46,265,256
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
In U.S. dollars

Common stock

Shares Amount

Additional
paid-in
capital

Accumulated
deficit

Deferred
stock

compensation
Treasury

stock

Notes
receivable

from
stockholders

Accumulated
other

comprehensive
income (loss)

Total
comprehensive
income (loss)

Total
stockholders’

equity

Balance as of January 1, 2006 ..........6,221,194 $ 870,969 $193,949,882 $ (142,996,964) $ (389,303) $(3,537,106) $ (1,256,777) $ (375,445) $ – $ 46,265,256 
Reclassification of common 

stock due to stock split ................................(142) (808,757) 808,757 – – – – – – –
FAS 123R reclassification................................– –  (389,303) –                              389,303 – – – – –
Principal installment of con-

vertible debenture payment in 
shares ................................................................4,184,855 41,848 18,477,301 – – – – – – 18,519,149

Warrants exercise................................745,549 7,455 4,343,180 – – – – – – 4,350,635
Amortization of deferred stock 

compensation ................................ – – 500,545 – – – – – – 500,545
Stock options and restricted 

stock................................................................871,786 8,717 (1,904) – – – – – – 6,813
Interest accrued on notes re-

ceivable from shareholders................................– – 47,402 – – – (47,402) – – –
Other comprehensive loss –

foreign currency translation 
adjustment................................ – – – – – – – 885,733 885,733 885,733

Adjustment of fractional shares 
due to reverse split ................................ –                – – – – – – – – –

Other comprehensive loss – unre-
alized gain on available for sale 
marketable securities ................................ – – – – – – – 866 866 866

Net loss ................................... – – – (15,569,159)) – – – – (15,569,159) (15,569,159)
Total comprehensive loss ........ – – – – – – – – (14,682,560) –
Balance as of December 31, 2006 12,023,242 $ 120,232 $217,735,860 $ (158,566,123) $ – $(3,537,106) $ (1,304,179) $ 511,154 $ 54,959,838
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
In U.S. dollars Year ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss $(15,569,159) $(24,043,411) $ (9,042,313)

Less loss for the period from discontinued operations – 120,000 –
Adjustments required to reconcile net loss to net cash 

used in operating activities:
Minorities interests in earnings (loss) of subsidiary (17,407) (57,149) 44,694
Loss (gain) from affiliated company (354,898) 75,000 –
Depreciation 1,966,748 1,373,580 1,199,465
Amortization of intangible assets, capitalized soft-

ware costs and impairment of intangible assets 2,857,891 15,453,584 2,888,226
Remeasurement of liability in connection to warrants 

granted (700,113) (377,803) (326,839)
Accrued severance pay, net 194,810 68,839 (441,610)
Compensation related to shares issued to employees 

and directors 500,545 674,713 884,826
Mark up of loans to stockholders – – (32,397)
Write-off of inventories 292,864 1,062,336 121,322
Impairment of property and equipment 32,485 34,243 –
Financial expenses in connection with convertible 

debenture principle repayment 5,395,338 – –
Amortization related to warrants issued to the holders 

of convertible debentures and beneficial conversion 
feature 1,485,015 1,702,753 4,142,109

Amortization deferred charges related to convertible 
debentures issuance 780,719 329,152 222,732

Stock-based compensation related to shares issued 
and to be issued to consultants and shares granted 
as a donation 6,536 538,058 89,078

Stock-based compensation related to non-recourse 
note granted to stockholder – (28,500) (10,000)

Interest accrued or paid on promissory notes due to ac-
quisition – 19,704 39,311

Interest accrued on restricted collateral deposits – – (267,179)
Capital loss (gain) from sale of marketable securities – 2,695 (4,247)
Amortization of premium related to restricted held to 

maturity securities – 42,234 202,467
Capital loss (gain) from sale of property and equipment (1,842) 3,172 (16,479)
Decrease (increase) in trade receivables 3,631,978 (3,608,950) 732,828
Decrease (increase) in other accounts receivable and 

prepaid expenses 605,610 (75,982) (49,513)
Decrease (increase) in deferred tax assets 6,788 65,376 (89,823)
Increase in inventories (208,938) (1,710,528) (2,040,854)
Increase in unbilled revenues (1,674,029) (2,347,036) (1,581,080)
Decrease (increase) in deferred revenues 718,290 (178,988) (91,271)
Increase (decrease) in trade payables (3,156,665) (224,987) 2,913,623
Increase (decrease) in other accounts payable and 

accrued expenses (296,866) 32,269 (125,231)
Net cash used in operating activities from continuing 

operations (3,504,300) (11,055,626) (638,155)
Net cash used in operating activities from discontin-

ued operations (120,000) – (214,041)
Net cash used in operating activities $  (3,624,300) $ (11,055,626) $  (852,196)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
In U.S. dollars Year ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of property and equipment (1,412,383) (1,224,752) (1,659,688)
Increase in capitalized software costs (688,443) (651,611) (365,350)
Loans granted to stockholders – – (1,036)
Repayment of loans granted to stockholders – – 32,397
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment – 104,175 114,275
Proceeds from sale of marketable securities – 91,936 90,016
Investment in marketable securities – – (89,204)
Investment in affiliated company – (112,500) –
Payment of additional required payout for FAAC ac-

quisition (630,350) (12,945) –
Acquisition of Epsilor (1) – – (7,190,777)
Acquisition of FAAC (2) – – (12,129,103)
Acquisition of AoA (3) – – (17,339,522)
Repayment of promissory notes related to acquisition 

of subsidiaries (1)(2) – (14,588,298) (2,000,000)
Purchase of certain tangible and intangible assets – (150,000) (150,000)
(Increase) decrease in restricted cash and held to 

maturity securities 2,243,785 4,748,178 (9,809,091)
Net cash used in investing activities (487,391) (11,795,817) (50,497,083)
Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from issuance of shares, net – 3,945,736 24,361,750
Proceeds from exercise of options to employees and con-

sultants 250 17,192 1,148,819
Proceeds from exercise of warrants 4,350,635 – 19,233,271
Repayment of convertible debentures (5,204,167) – –
Proceeds from issuance of convertible debentures, net 

of issuance expenses – 16,430,767 –
Long term loan received – – 69,638
Repayment of long term loan (149,414) (71,238) (65,674)
Increase (decrease) in short term bank credit 1,455,309 1,914,892 (376,783)
Payment on capital lease obligation – – (4,145)

Net cash provided by financing activities 452,613 22,237,349 44,366,876
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents (3,659,078) (614,094) (6,982,403)
Cash accretion (erosion) due to exchange rate differ-
ences (122,702) 30,234 31,790
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 6,150,652 6,734,512 13,685,125
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year $ 2,368,872 $ 6,150,652 $ 6,734,512
Supplementary information on non-cash transactions: 
Issuance of shares and warrants against accrued ex-

penses and restricted deposit $ – $ 56,577 $ 1,310,394
Payment of principle installment of convertible debenture in 

shares $  18,519,149 $ 453,051 $ –
Liability in connection to warrants granted $ – $ 44,231 $ –
Conversion of convertible debenture to shares of common 

stock $ – $ – $ 3,837,500
Accrual for earn out in regard to subsidiary acquisition $ 454,350 $ 603,764 $ 13,435,325
Supplemental disclosure of cash flows activities:

Cash paid during the year for:
Interest $ 2,018,061 $ 1,401,681 $ 532,750
Taxes on income $ 232,159 $ 737,080 $ 969,009
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Cont.)
In U.S. dollars
(1) In January 2004, the Company acquired substantially all of the outstanding ordinary shares of Epsilor Elec-

tronic Industries, Ltd. (“Epsilor”). The net fair value of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed, at the 
date of acquisition, was as follows:

Working capital, excluding cash and cash equiva-
lents $ (849,992)

Property and equipment 709,847
Intangible assets and goodwill 10,284,407

10,144,262
Issuance of shares in respect to transaction costs (12,500)
Issuance of promissory note *) (2,940,985)

$ 7,190,777

*) During 2005 and 2004 amounts of $1,000,000 and $2,000,000, respectively, were repaid to the former share-
holders of Epsilor.

(2) In January 2004, the Company acquired all of the outstanding common stock of FAAC Incorporated 
(“FAAC”). The net fair value of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition was 
as follows:

Working capital, excluding cash and cash equiva-
lents $ 1,796,791

Property and equipment 263,669
Intangible assets and goodwill 12,072,321

14,132,781
Issuance of shares, net (2,003,678)

$ 12,129,103

*) During 2005, an additional amount of $13,588,298 was paid to the former shareholders of FAAC in respect of 
the earnout provisions of the acquisition agreement. The additional amount was charged to goodwill.

(3) In August 2004, the Company acquired all of the outstanding common stock of Armour of America, Incorpo-
rated (“AoA”). The net fair value of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition 
was as follows:

Working capital, excluding cash and cash equiva-
lents....................................................................$ 3,219,728

Property and equipment 997,148
Intangible assets and goodwill 13,122,646

$ 17,339,522

See Note 1.d. regarding additional earnout obligation to the former shareholder of AoA. 
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NOTE 1:– GENERAL

a. Arotech Corporation (“Arotech” or the “Company”) and its subsidiaries are engaged in the 
development, manufacture and marketing of defense and security products, including advanced high-tech 
multimedia and interactive digital solutions for training of military, law enforcement and security personnel 
and sophisticated lightweight materials and advanced engineering processes to armor vehicles, and in 
the design, development and commercialization of its proprietary zinc-air battery technology for electric 
vehicles and defense applications. The Company is primarily operating through IES Interactive Training, 
Inc. (“IES”), a wholly-owned subsidiary based in Ann Arbor, Michigan; FAAC Corporation, a wholly-owned 
subsidiary based in Ann Arbor, Michigan, and FAAC’s 80%-owned United Kingdom subsidiary FAAC Lim-
ited; Electric Fuel Battery Corporation, a wholly-owned subsidiary based in Auburn, Alabama; Electric 
Fuel Ltd. (“EFL”) a wholly-owned subsidiary based in Beit Shemesh, Israel; Epsilor Electronic Industries, 
Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary located in Dimona, Israel; MDT Protective Industries, Ltd. (“MDT”), a major-
ity-owned subsidiary based in Lod, Israel; MDT Armor Corporation, a majority-owned subsidiary based in 
Auburn, Alabama; and Armour of America, Incorporated, a wholly-owned subsidiary based in Auburn, Ala-
bama. 

Revenues derived from the Company’s largest customers in 2006, 2005 and 2004 are described in Note 
16.d.

b. Acquisition of Epsilor:

In January 2004, the Company entered into a stock purchase agreement between itself and all of the 
shareholders of Epsilor Electronic Industries, Ltd. (“Epsilor”), pursuant to the terms of which the Company 
purchased all of the outstanding shares of Epsilor from Epsilor’s existing shareholders. Epsilor develops 
and sells rechargeable and primary lithium batteries and smart chargers to the military, and to private in-
dustry in the Middle East, Europe and Asia. 

The Acquisition was accounted under the purchase method accounting. Accordingly, all assets and liabili-
ties acquired were recorded at their estimated market values as of the date of acquisition, and results of 
Epsilor’s operations have been included in the consolidated financial statements commencing the date of 
acquisition. The total consideration of $10,144,262 (including transaction costs) for the shares purchased 
consisted of (i) cash in the amount of $7,000,000, and (ii) a series of three $1,000,000 promissory notes, 
due on the first, second and third anniversaries of the agreement, which were recorded at their fair value 
of $2,940,985.

Based upon a valuation of tangible and intangible assets acquired, Arotech has allocated the total cost of 
the acquisition to Epsilor’s net assets as follows:

Tangible assets acquired $ 2,239,848
Intangible assets

Customer list 5,092,395
Goodwill 5,192,012 

Liabilities assumed  (2,379,993)
Total consideration $ 10,144,262

Customer list in the amount of $5,092,395 has a useful life of approximately ten years.

In accordance with SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” goodwill arising from acquisi-
tions will not be amortized. In lieu of amortization, Arotech is required to perform an annual impairment 
test. If Arotech determines, through the impairment review process, that goodwill has been impaired, it will 
record the impairment charge in its statement of operations. Arotech will also assess the impairment of 
goodwill whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recov-
erable. 
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The value assigned to tangible, intangible assets and liabilities was determined as follows:

1. To determine the estimated market value of Epsilor’s net current assets, property and 
equipment, and net liabilities, the “Cost Approach” was used. According to the valuation 
made, the book values for the current assets and liabilities were reasonable proxies for 
their market values.

2. The customer list is the asset that generates most of the Company’s sales. Hence, the 
“Income Approach” was used to estimate its value, resulting in a value of $5,092,395.

See Note 1.e. for pro forma financial information.

c. Acquisition of FAAC:

In January of 2004, the Company entered into a stock purchase agreement with the stockholders of 
FAAC Incorporated (“FAAC”), pursuant to the terms of which it acquired all of the issued and outstanding 
common stock of FAAC, a provider of driving simulators, systems engineering and software products to 
the United States military, government and private industry.

The Acquisition was accounted under the purchase method accounting. Accordingly, all assets and liabili-
ties were recorded at their estimated market values as of the date acquired, and results of FAAC’s opera-
tions have been included in the consolidated financial statements commencing the date of acquisition. 
The consideration for the purchase consisted of (i) cash in the amount of $12.0 million, and (ii) the issu-
ance of a total of 71,704 shares of the Company’s common stock, $0.01 par value per share, having a 
value of approximately $2.0 million. There was also an earn-out based on 2004 net pretax income. Based 
on FAAC’s 2004 net pretax income, the Company paid the former stockholders of FAAC an earnout of 
$13.6 million during 2005, in cash and through the issuance of a total of 248,533 shares of the Com-
pany’s common stock (see Note 13.b.4.). The total consideration of $27.7 million (including the earn-out 
as well as $137,991 of transaction costs) was determined based upon arm’s-length negotiations between 
the Company and FAAC’s stockholders.

In addition, the Company had a contingent earnout obligation in an amount equal to the net income real-
ized by the Company from certain specific programs that were identified by the Company and the former 
shareholders of FAAC as appropriate targets for revenue increases in 2005. During 2005 and 2006, the 
Company accrued an amount of $603,764 and $630,000, respectively, in respect of such earnout obliga-
tion to increase FAAC’s goodwill. The $454,000 shown as promissory notes in the balance sheet is the 
portion of the 2006 earnout that will be paid in installments starting January 1, 2007.

Based upon a valuation of tangible and intangible assets acquired, Arotech has allocated the total cost of 
the acquisition (including earnout obligation accrued as of December 31, 2006) to FAAC’s assets and li-
abilities as follows:

Tangible assets acquired $ 4,833,553
Intangible assets

Technology 4,610,000
Backlog 636,000
Customer list 1,125,000
Trademarks 374,000
Goodwill 20,152,693

Liabilities assumed  (2,770,843)
Total consideration $ 28,960,403

Intangible assets which are subject to amortization, excluding trademarks, which are not subject to amor-
tization, in the amount of $6,371,000 have a weighted-average useful life of approximately eight years.
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In accordance with SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” goodwill arising from acquisi-
tions will not be amortized. In lieu of amortization, Arotech is required to perform an annual impairment 
test. If Arotech determines, through the impairment review process, that goodwill has been impaired, it will 
record the impairment charge in its statement of operations. Arotech will also assess the impairment of 
goodwill whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recov-
erable.

The value assigned to tangible, intangibles assets and liabilities was determined as follows:

1. To determine the estimated fair value of FAAC’s net current assets, property and equip-
ment, and net liabilities, the “Cost Approach” was used. According to the valuation made, 
the book values for the current assets and liabilities were reasonable proxies for their 
market values.

2. The amount of the cost attributable to technology of the software, documentation and 
know-how that drives the vehicle simulators and the high-speed missile fly-out simulators 
is $4,610,000 and was determined using the “Income Approach.”

3. FAAC’s sales are all made on a contractual basis, most of which are over a relatively 
long period of time. At the date of the purchase FAAC had several signed contracts at 
various stages of completion. The value of the existing contracts was determined using 
the Income approach and resulting in a value of $636,000.

4. FAAC’s customer list includes various branches of the U.S. military, major defense con-
tractors, various city and country governments and others. Since customer relationships 
represent one of the most important revenue generating assets for FAAC, its value was 
estimated using the Income Approach, resulting in a value of $1,125,000.

5. FAAC’s trade name value represents the name recognition value of the FAAC brand 
name as a result of advertising spending by the company. The Cost Approach was used 
to determine the value of FAAC’s trade name in the amount of $374,000.

See Note 1.e. for pro forma financial information.

d. Acquisition of AoA: 

In August 2004, the Company purchased all of the outstanding stock of Armour of America, Incorporated, 
a California corporation (“AoA”), from AoA’s existing shareholder. The assets acquired through the pur-
chase of all of AoA’s outstanding stock consisted of all of AoA’s assets, including AoA’s current assets, 
property and equipment, and other assets (including intangible assets such as intellectual property and 
contractual rights). 

The total purchase price consisted of $19,000,000 in cash, with additional possible earn-outs if AoA is 
awarded certain material contracts. An additional $3,000,000 was to be paid into an escrow account pur-
suant to the terms of an escrow agreement, to secure a portion of the Earnout Consideration. These 
funds are currently being held by the seller of AoA. Pursuant to the purchase agreement, the total consid-
eration, sale price plus Earnout Consideration, will not be in excess of $40,000,000. As of December 31, 
2006, we had reduced the $3.0 million escrow held by the seller of AoA by $1,517,174 for a putative claim 
against such escrow in respect of such earn-out obligation.  When the contingency on the earn-out provi-
sion is resolved, the additional consideration, if any, will be recorded as additional purchase price. The 
purchase price also included $131,177 of transaction costs. The transaction has been accounted for us-
ing the purchase method of accounting, and accordingly, the purchase price has been allocated to the 
assets acquired and liabilities assumed based upon their fair values at the date the acquisition was com-
pleted.

Based upon a valuation of tangible and intangible assets acquired, Arotech has allocated the total cost of 
the acquisition to AoA’s assets and liabilities as follows:
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Tangible assets acquired 6,346,316
Intangible assets

Certifications 246,969
Backlog 1,512,000
Customer relationships 490,000
Tradename /Trademark 70,000
Covenants not to compete 260,000
Goodwill 11,757,812

Liabilities assumed  (347,770)
Total consideration $ 20,335,327

Intangible assets, excluding trademarks, which are not subject to amortization, in the amount of 
$2,508,969 have a weighted-average useful life of approximately two years.

In connection with the Company’s acquisition of AoA, the Company has a contingent earnout obligation in 
an amount equal to the revenues realized by the Company from certain specific programs that were iden-
tified by the Company and the former shareholder of AoA as appropriate targets for revenue increases. 
The earnout provides that if AoA receives certain types of orders from certain specific customers prior to 
December 31, 2006 (“Additional Orders”), then upon shipment of goods in connection with such Addi-
tional Orders, the former shareholder of AoA will be paid an earnout based on revenues, up to a maxi-
mum of an additional $6.0 million. As of December 31, 2006, we had reduced the $3.0 million escrow 
held by the seller of AoA by $1,517,174 for a putative claim against such escrow in respect of such earn-
out obligation.

In accordance with SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” goodwill arising from acquisi-
tions will not be amortized. In lieu of amortization, Arotech is required to perform an annual impairment 
test. If Arotech determines, through the impairment review process, that goodwill has been impaired, it will 
record the impairment charge in its statement of operations. Arotech will also assess the impairment of 
goodwill whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recov-
erable.

See Note 1.f. for impairment information.

See Note 1.e. for pro forma financial information.

e. Pro forma results

In January 2004, the Company acquired FAAC and Epsilor, as more fully described in “Note 1.b. – Acqui-
sition of Epsilor” and “Note 1.c. – Acquisition of FAAC,” above, in August 2004, the Company acquired 
AoA, as more fully described in “Note 1.d. – Acquisition of AoA,” above (the “Acquisitions”). The following 
summary pro forma information includes the effects of the Acquisitions on the operating results of the 
Company. The following unaudited pro forma data for 2004 is presented as if the Acquisition had been 
completed on January 1, 2004. 

This pro forma financial information does not purport to be indicative of the results of operations that 
would have occurred had the Acquisitions taken place at the beginning of the period, nor do they purport 
to be indicative of the results of operations that will be obtained in the future.
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2004
(Unaudited)

Total revenues......................................... $ 61,086,697
Gross profit..............................................  22,528,254
Net loss................................................... (5,810,114)
Deemed dividend of common stock at-

tributable to certain stockholders........... (3,328,952)
Net loss attributable to stockholders of 

common stock ...................................... $  (9,139,066)

Basic and diluted net loss per share......... $ (1.83)
Weighted average number of shares 

used in computing basic net loss per 
share.................................................... 4,995,218

f. Impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets: 

SFAS No. 142 requires goodwill to be tested for impairment on adoption of the Statement, at least annu-
ally thereafter, and between annual tests in certain circumstances, and written down when impaired, 
rather than being amortized as previous accounting standards required. Goodwill is tested for impairment 
by comparing the fair value of the Company’s reportable units with their carrying value. Fair value is de-
termined using discounted cash flows. Significant estimates used in the methodologies include estimates 
of future cash flows, future short-term and long-term growth rates, weighted average cost of capital and 
estimates of market multiples for the reportable units. 

During 2005, the Company performed impairment test of goodwill, based on management’s projections 
and using expected future discounted operating cash flows and as response to several factors, including 
without limitation the reduced sales in AoA (a component of the Company’s Armor Division) the fact that 
AoA failed to meet its projections, the decision of the General Manager of AoA and his new supervisor to 
leave the employ of AoA and the Company, respectively, and general uncertainty about the market for 
AoA’s products in general and AoA’s business in particular; specifically, the delay or loss of several po-
tential orders, decisions by customers to utilize methods of armor not produced by AoA (hard armor in-
stead of soft armor), the change in U.S. military priorities from acquiring new armor to funding the ground 
forces in Iraq and Afghanistan. Furthermore, following Hurricane Katrina, substantial funds earmarked for 
defense were delayed to provide funds for hurricane relief. As of December 31, 2005, as a result of this 
impairment test, the Company identified in AoA an impairment of goodwill in the amount of $11,757,812.

In 2006, the company identified an additional $316,024 in potential earn-out obligations in an amount 
equal to the revenues realized by the Company from certain specific programs at AoA.  This expense is 
shown as impairment expense since the full amount of AoA goodwill had been previously written off in 
2005.

See Note 1.e. for earn-out information

The Company and its subsidiaries’ long-lived assets and certain identifiable intangibles are reviewed for 
impairment in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 144, “Accounting for the 
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” (“SFAS No. 144”), whenever events or changes in circum-
stances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of the carry-
ing amount of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of the as-
sets to the future undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated by the assets. If such assets are 
considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount by which the car-
rying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets. As of December 31, 2004 the Company 
identified an impairment of the technology previously purchased from Bristlecone and as a result has re-
corded an impairment loss in the amount of $320,279.  As of December 31, 2005 the Company identified 
an impairment of backlog, trademarks and a covenant not to compete previously identified with respect to 
the AoA acquisition and as a result recorded an impairment loss in the amount of $498,944.
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g. Reverse stock split:

On June 20, 2006, Arotech Corporation filed a Certificate of Amendment with the Delaware Secretary of 
State which served to effect, as of 7:00 a.m. e.d.t. on June 21, 2006, a one-for-fourteen reverse split of 
Arotech’s common stock. As a result of the reverse stock split, every fourteen shares of Arotech common 
stock were combined into one share of common stock; any fractional shares created by the reverse stock 
split were eliminated. The par value of the shares remained unchanged. The reverse stock split affected 
all of Arotech’s common stock, stock options, warrants and convertible debt outstanding immediately prior 
to the effective date of the reverse stock split. The reverse split reduced the number of shares of Aro-
tech’s common stock outstanding at June 21, 2006 from 118,587,361 shares to 8,468,957 shares. All ref-
erences to common share and per common share amounts for all periods presented have been retroac-
tively restated to reflect this reverse split, except for common stock amounts in the 2005 Consolidated 
Balance Sheet and 2004 and 2005 Statements of Changes in Stockholder Equity.

h. Related parties

The Company has a consulting agreement with Sampen Corporation that it executed in March 2005, ef-
fective as of January 1, 2005. Sampen is a New York corporation owned by members of the immediate 
family of one of the Company’s executive officers, and this executive officer is an employee of both the 
Company and of Sampen. The term of this consulting agreement as extended expires on December 31, 
2008, and is extended automatically for additional terms of two years each unless either Sampen or the 
Company terminate the agreement sooner.

Pursuant to the terms of our agreement with Sampen, Sampen provides one of its employees to the 
Company for such employee to serve as the Company’s Chief Operating Officer. The Company pays 
Sampen $12,800 per month, plus an annual bonus, on a sliding scale, in an amount equal to a minimum 
of 20% of Sampen’s annual base compensation then in effect, up to a maximum of 75% of its annual 
base compensation then in effect if the results the Company actually attains for the year in question are 
120% or more of the amount we budgeted at the beginning of the year. The Company also pays Sampen, 
to cover the cost of the Company’s use of Sampen’s offices as an ancillary New York office and the at-
tendant expenses and insurance costs, an amount equal to 16% of each monthly payment of base com-
pensation.

During the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, the Company paid Sampen a total of 
$208,896, $208,896 and $318,100, respectively.

NOTE 2:– SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted ac-
counting principles in the United States (“U.S. GAAP”).

a. Use of estimates:

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles re-
quires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial 
statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

b. Financial statements in U.S. dollars: 

A majority of the revenues of the Company and most of its subsidiaries and its subsidiaries’ affiliates is 
generated in U.S. dollars. In addition, a substantial portion of the Company’s and most of its subsidiaries 
costs are incurred in U.S. dollars (“dollar”). Management believes that the dollar is the primary currency of 
the economic environment in which the Company and most of its subsidiaries operate. Thus, the func-
tional and reporting currency of the Company and most of its subsidiaries is the dollar. Accordingly, mone-
tary accounts maintained in currencies other than the U.S. dollar are remeasured into U.S. dollars in accor-
dance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 52 “Foreign Currency Translation” (“SFAS No. 
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52”). All transaction, gains and losses from the remeasured monetary balance sheet items are reflected in 
the consolidated statements of operations as financial income or expenses, as appropriate.

The majority of transactions of MDT and Epsilor are in New Israel Shekels (“NIS”) and a substantial por-
tion of MDT’s and Epsilor’s costs is incurred in NIS. Management believes that the NIS is the functional 
currency of MDT and Epsilor. Accordingly, the financial statements of MDT and Epsilor have been trans-
lated into U.S. dollars. All balance sheet accounts have been translated using the exchange rates in ef-
fect at the balance sheet date. Statement of operations amounts has been translated using the weighted 
average exchange rate for the period. The resulting translation adjustments are reported as a component 
of accumulated other comprehensive loss in stockholders’ equity

c. Principles of consolidation:

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly and majority 
owned subsidiaries. Intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated upon consolidation.

d. Cash equivalents: 

Cash equivalents are short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to cash with maturi-
ties of three months or less when acquired.

e. Restricted collateral deposits 

Restricted cash is primarily invested in highly liquid deposits which are used as a security for the Com-
pany’s guarantee performance, its liability to a former shareholder of its acquired subsidiary and for the 
company’s liability for interest payments related to its convertible debentures.

f. Marketable securities

The Company and its subsidiaries account for investments in debt and equity securities in accordance 
with Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt 
and Equity Securities” (“SFAS No. 115”). Management determines the appropriate classification of its in-
vestments in debt and equity securities at the time of purchase and reevaluates such determinations at 
each balance sheet date. 

At December 31, 2006 the Company and its subsidiaries classified its investment in marketable securities 
as available-for-sale.

Investment in trust funds are classified as available-for-sale and stated at fair value, with unrealized gains 
and losses reported in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), a separate component of stock-
holders’ equity, net of taxes. Realized gains and losses on sales of investments, as determined on a spe-
cific identification basis, are included in the consolidated statements of income.

g. Inventories: 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market value. Inventory write-offs and write-down provisions 
are provided to cover risks arising from slow-moving items or technological obsolescence and for market 
prices lower than cost. The Company periodically evaluates the quantities on hand relative to current and 
historical selling prices and historical and projected sales volume. Based on this evaluation, provisions are 
made to write inventory down to its market value. In 2006 2005 and 2004, the Company wrote off $292,864, 
$1,062,336 and $121,322 of obsolete inventory respectively, which has been included in the cost of reve-
nues. 

Cost is determined as follows:

Raw and packaging materials – by the average cost method.
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Work in progress – represents the cost of manufacturing with additions of allocable indirect manufacturing 
cost.

Finished products – on the basis of direct manufacturing costs with additions of allocable indirect manu-
facturing costs.

h. Property and equipment:

Property and equipment are stated at cost net of accumulated depreciation and investment grants  re-
ceived from the State of Israel for investments in fixed assets under the Investment Law (no investment 
grants were received during 2006, 2005 and 2004).

Depreciation is calculated by the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, at the 
following annual rates: 

%

Computers and related equipment 33
Motor vehicles 15
Office furniture and equipment 6 - 10
Machinery and equipment 10 - 25 (mainly 10)
Leasehold improvements By the shorter of the 

term of the lease or the 
life of the asset

i. Goodwill:

Goodwill represents the excess of cost over the fair value of the net assets of businesses acquired. Under 
Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” (“SFAS No, 
142”) goodwill acquired in a business combination on or after July 1, 2001, is not amortized after January 
1, 2002.

SFAS No. 142 requires goodwill to be tested for impairment on adoption of the Statement and at least 
annually thereafter or between annual tests in certain circumstances, and written down when impaired, 
rather than being amortized as previous accounting standards required. Goodwill is tested for impairment 
by comparing the fair value of the Company’s reportable units with their carrying value. Fair value is de-
termined using discounted cash flows. Significant estimates used in the methodologies include estimates 
of future cash flows, future short-term and long-term growth rates, weighted average cost of capital and 
estimates of market multiples for the reportable units. 

See Note 1.f. regarding the impairment test.

j. Long-lived assets:

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination that are subject to amortization are amortized over 
their useful life using a method of amortization that reflects the pattern in which the economic benefits of 
the intangible assets are consumed or otherwise used up, in accordance with SFAS No. 144. 

The acquired trademarks and tradenames are deemed to have an indefinite useful life because they are 
expected to contribute to cash flows indefinitely. Therefore, the trademarks will not be amortized until their 
useful life is no longer indefinite. The trademarks and tradenames are tested annually for impairment in 
accordance FAS 142. 

The Company and its subsidiaries’ long-lived assets and certain identifiable intangibles are reviewed for 
impairment in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 144 “Accounting for the 
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” (“SFAS No. 144”) whenever events or changes in circum-
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stances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of the carry-
ing amount of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of the as-
sets to the future undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated by the assets. If such assets are 
considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount by which the car-
rying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets 

See Note 1.f. regarding the impairment test.

k. Revenue recognition:

The Company is a defense and security products and services company, engaged in three business ar-
eas: interactive simulation for military, law enforcement and commercial markets; batteries and charging 
systems for the military; and high-level armoring for military, paramilitary and commercial vehicles. During 
2006, the Company and its subsidiaries recognized revenues as follows: (i) from the sale and customiza-
tion of interactive training systems and from the maintenance services in connection with such systems 
(Simulation and Training Division); (ii) from revenues under armor contracts and for service and repair of 
armored vehicles (Armor Division); (iii) from the sale of batteries, chargers and adapters to the military, 
and under certain development contracts with the U.S. Army (Battery and Power Systems Division); and
(iv) from the sale of lifejacket lights (Battery and Power Systems Division). 

Revenues from the Battery and Power Systems Division products and Armor Division are recognized in 
accordance with SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104, “Revenue Recognition” when persuasive evi-
dence of an agreement exists, delivery has occurred, the fee is fixed or determinable, collectability is 
probable, and no further obligation remains. 

Revenues from contracts that involve customization of FAAC’s simulation system to customer specific 
specifications are recognized in accordance with Statement Of Position 81-1, “Accounting for Perform-
ance of Construction-Type and Certain Production-Type Contracts,” using contract accounting on a per-
centage of completion method, in accordance with the “Input Method.” The amount of revenue recognized 
is based on the percentage to completion achieved. The percentage to completion is measured by moni-
toring progress using records of actual time incurred to date in the project compared to the total estimated 
project requirement, which corresponds to the costs related to earned revenues. Estimates of total project 
requirements are based on prior experience of customization, delivery and acceptance of the same or 
similar technology and are reviewed and updated regularly by management. Provisions for estimated 
losses on uncompleted contracts are made in the period in which such losses are first determined, in the 
amount of the estimated loss on the entire contract. As of December 31, 2006, $741,165 in estimated 
losses were identified and expensed during the period. 

The Company believes that the use of the percentage of completion method is appropriate as the Com-
pany has the ability to make reasonably dependable estimates of the extent of progress towards comple-
tion, contract revenues and contract costs. In addition, contracts executed include provisions that clearly 
specify the enforceable rights regarding services to be provided and received by the parties to the con-
tracts, the consideration to be exchanged and the manner and the terms of settlement, including in cases 
of terminations for convenience. In all cases the Company expects to perform its contractual obligations 
and its customers are expected to satisfy their obligations under the contract.

Revenues from simulators, which do not require significant customization, are recognized in accordance 
with Statement of Position 97-2, “Software Revenue Recognition,” (“SOP 97-2”). SOP 97-2 generally re-
quires revenue earned on software arrangements involving multiple elements to be allocated to each 
element based on the relative fair value of the elements. The Company has adopted Statement of Posi-
tion 98-9, “Modification of SOP 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition with Respect to Certain Transac-
tions” (“SOP 98-9”). According to SOP No. 98-9, revenues are allocated to the different elements in the 
arrangement under the “residual method” when Vendor Specific Objective Evidence (“VSOE”) of fair 
value exists for all undelivered elements and no VSOE exists for the delivered elements. Under the resid-
ual method, at the outset of the arrangement with the customer, the Company defers revenue for the fair 
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value of its undelivered elements (maintenance and support) and recognizes revenue for the remainder of 
the arrangement fee attributable to the elements initially delivered in the arrangement (software product) 
when all other criteria in SOP 97-2 have been met. 

Revenue from such simulators is recognized when persuasive evidence of an agreement exists, delivery 
has occurred, no significant obligations with regard to implementation remain, the fee is fixed or deter-
minable and collectibility is probable. 

Maintenance and support revenue included in multiple element arrangements is deferred and recognized 
on a straight-line basis over the term of the maintenance and support services. Revenues from training 
are recognized when it is performed. The VSOE of fair value of the maintenance, training and support 
services is determined based on the price charged when sold separately or when renewed. 

Unbilled receivables include cost and gross profit earned in excess of billing.

Deferred revenues include unearned amounts received under maintenance and support services and bill-
ing in excess of costs and estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts. 

l. Right of return:

When a right of return exists, the Company defers its revenues until the expiration of the period in which 
returns are permitted.

m. Warranty:

The Company offers up to one year warranty for most of its products. The specific terms and conditions of 
those warranties vary depending upon the product sold and country in which the Company does busi-
ness. The Company estimates the costs that may be incurred under its basic limited warranty, including 
parts and labor. The Company estimates the costs that may be incurred under its basic limited warranty 
and records a liability in the amount of such costs as the time product revenue is recognized. Factors that 
affect the Company’s warranty liability include the number of installed units, historical and anticipated 
rates of warranty claims, and cost per claim. The Company periodically assesses the adequacy of its re-
corded warranty liabilities and adjusts the amounts as necessary. As of December 31, 2006, warranty li-
ability was not material.

n. Research and development cost: 

SFAS No. 86, “Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software to be Sold, Leased or Otherwise Mar-
keted,” requires capitalization of certain software development costs, subsequent to the establishment of 
technological feasibility. Based on the Company’s product development process, technological feasibility 
is established upon the completion of a working model or a detailed program design. Research and de-
velopment costs incurred in the process of developing product improvements or new products, are gen-
erally charged to expenses as incurred, when applicable. Significant costs incurred by the Company be-
tween completion of the working model or a detailed program design and the point at which the product is 
ready for general release, have been capitalized.  Capitalized software costs will be amortized by the 
greater of the amount computed using the: (i) ratio that current gross revenues from sales of the software 
bears to the total of current and anticipated future gross revenues from sales of that software, or (ii) the 
straight-line method over the estimated useful life of the product (two to five years). The Company as-
sesses the net realizable value of this intangible asset on a regular basis by determining whether the am-
ortization of the asset over its remaining life can be recovered through undiscounted future operating 
cash flows from the specific software product sold. Based on its most recent analyses, management be-
lieves that no impairment of capitalized software development costs exists as of December 31, 2006. 
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o. Income taxes:

The Company and its subsidiaries account for income taxes in accordance with Statement of Financial 
Accounting Standards No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes” (“SFAS No. 109”). This Statement pre-
scribes the use of the liability method, whereby deferred tax assets and liability account balances are de-
termined based on differences between financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities and are 
measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to 
reverse. The Company and its subsidiaries provide a valuation allowance, if necessary, to reduce de-
ferred tax assets to its estimated realizable value.

p. Concentrations of credit risk:

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company and its subsidiaries to concentrations of credit 
risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents, restricted collateral deposit and restricted held-to-
maturity securities, trade receivables and available for sale marketable securities. Cash and cash equiva-
lents are invested mainly in U.S. dollar deposits with major Israeli and U.S. banks. Such deposits in the 
U.S. may be in excess of insured limits and are not insured in other jurisdictions. Management believes 
that the financial institutions that hold the Company’s investments are financially sound and, accordingly, 
minimal credit risk exists with respect to these investments.

The trade receivables of the Company and its subsidiaries are mainly derived from sales to customers lo-
cated primarily in the United States, Europe and Israel. Management believes that credit risks are moder-
ated by the diversity of its end customers and geographical sales areas. The Company performs ongoing 
credit evaluations of its customers’ financial condition. An allowance for doubtful accounts is determined 
with respect to those accounts that the Company has determined to be doubtful of collection.

The Company’s available for sale marketable securities and held-to-maturity securities include invest-
ments in debentures of U.S. and Israeli corporations and state and local governments. Management be-
lieves that those corporations and states are institutions that are financially sound, that the portfolio is well 
diversified, and accordingly, that minimal credit risk exists with respect to these marketable securities.

The Company and its subsidiaries had no off-balance-sheet concentration of credit risk such as foreign 
exchange contracts, option contracts or other foreign hedging arrangements.

q. Basic and diluted net loss per share: 

Basic net loss per share is computed based on the weighted average number of shares of common stock 
outstanding during each year. Diluted net loss per share is computed based on the weighted average 
number of shares of common stock outstanding during each year, plus dilutive potential shares of com-
mon stock considered outstanding during the year, in accordance with Statement of Financial Standards 
No. 128, “Earnings Per Share.”

All outstanding stock options and warrants have been excluded from the calculation of the diluted net loss 
per common share because all such securities are anti-dilutive for all periods presented. The total 
weighted average number of shares related to the outstanding options, restricted stock and warrants ex-
cluded from the calculations of diluted net loss per share was 1,781,984, 2,563,918 and 2,250,154 for the 
years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

r. Accounting for stock-based compensation

Effective January 1, 2006, the Company started to account for stock options and awards issued to em-
ployees in accordance with the fair value recognition provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board 
(“FASB”) Statement No. 123(R) (“SFAS No. 123(R)”), “Share-Based Payment,” using the modified pro-
spective transition method. Under SFAS No. 123(R), stock-based awards to employees are required to 
be recognized as compensation expense, based on the calculated fair value on the date of grant. The 
Company determines the fair value using the Black Scholes option pricing model. This model requires 
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subjective assumptions, including future stock price volatility and expected term, which affect the calcu-
lated values. The adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) resulted in a reduction in income of $500,545 in 2006 
which reduced basic and diluted EPS for the year by $0.06.

In 2005 and prior, the Company had elected to follow Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25 “Ac-
counting for Stock Issued to Employees” (“APB No. 25”) and Interpretation No. 44 “Accounting for Certain 
Transactions Involving Stock Compensation” in accounting for its employee stock option plans. Under 
APB No. 25, , no compensation expense was recognized if at the date of grant, the exercise price of the 
stock option was at least equal to the per share fair value of the underlying stock .  

The fair value for the options to employees was estimated at the date of grant, using the Black-Scholes 
Option Valuation Model, with the following weighted-average assumptions: risk-free interest rates of 
4.64%, 4.28% and 3.63% for 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively; a dividend yield of 0.0% for each of 
those years; a volatility factor of the expected market price of the common stock of 1.33 for 2006, 0.76 for 
2005 and 0.81 for 2004; and a weighted-average expected life of the option of three years for 2006, three 
years for 2005 and five years for 2004. The company assumed a zero forfeiture rate.

The following table illustrates the effect on net income and earnings per share, assuming that the Com-
pany had applied the fair value recognition provision of SFAS No. 123 in 2005 and 2004 on its stock-
based employee compensation:

December 31,

2005 2004

Net loss as reported $(24,043,411) $ (9,042,313) 
Add: Stock-based compensation expenses 

included in reported net loss 674,712 831,626
Deduct:  Stock-based compensation ex-

penses determined under fair value method 
for all awards (2,461,787) (2,741,463) 

$(25,830,486) $(10,952,150) 
Loss per share:

Basic and diluted, as reported $ (4.09) $ (2.48)
Diluted, pro forma $ (4.40) $ (2.19)

s. Fair value of financial instruments:

The following methods and assumptions were used by the Company and its subsidiaries in estimating 
their fair value disclosures for financial instruments:

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, restricted collateral deposit and restricted held-to-
maturity securities, trade receivables, short-term bank credit, and trade payables approximate their fair 
value due to the short-term maturity of such instruments.

The fair value of available for sale marketable securities is based on the quoted market price.

Long-terms promissory notes are estimated by discounting the future cash flows using current interest 
rates for loans or similar terms and maturities. The carrying amount of the long-term liabilities approxi-
mates their fair value.

t. Severance pay:

The Company’s liability for severance pay is calculated pursuant to Israeli severance pay law based on 
the most recent salary of the employees multiplied by the number of years of employment as of the bal-
ance sheet date. Israeli employees are entitled to one month’s salary for each year of employment, or a 
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portion thereof. The Company’s liability for all of its employees is fully provided by monthly deposits with 
severance pay funds, insurance policies and by an accrual, in accordance with EITF 88-1, “Determination 
of Vested Benefit Obligation for a Defined Benefit Pension Plan.” The value of these policies is recorded 
as an asset in the Company’s balance sheet.

In addition and according to certain employment agreements, the Company is obligated to provide for a 
special severance pay in addition to amounts due to certain employees pursuant to Israeli severance pay 
law. The Company has made a provision for this special severance payover the service life of the em-
ployee.  As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, the accumulated severance pay in that regard amounted to 
$2,163,264 and $1,732,955, respectively.

Pursuant to the terms of the employment agreement between the Company and its Chief Executive Offi-
cer, funds to secure payment of the Chief Executive Officer’s contractual severance are to be deposited 
for the benefit of the Chief Executive Officer, with payments to be made pursuant to an agreed-upon 
schedule. As of December 31, 2006, a total of $617,240 had been deposited. These funds continue to be 
owned by the Company, which benefits from all gains and bears the risk of all losses resulting from in-
vestments of these funds. 

The deposited funds include profits accumulated up to the balance sheet date. The deposited funds may 
be withdrawn only upon the fulfillment of the obligation pursuant to Israeli severance pay law or labor 
agreements. The value of the deposited funds is based on the cash surrendered value of these policies 
and includes immaterial profits.

Severance expenses for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 amounted to $563,302, 
$639,952 and $460,178, respectively.

u. Advertising costs:

The Company and its subsidiaries expense advertising costs as incurred. Advertising expense for the 
years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 was approximately $21,000, $150,000 and $13,000, re-
spectively. 

v. New accounting pronouncements: 

In May 2005, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 154 (“FAS No. 154”), 
“Accounting Changes and Error Corrections,” a replacement of APB Opinion No. 20, “Accounting 
Changes,” and FAS No. 3, “Reporting Accounting Changes in Interim Financial Statements.”  FAS No. 
154 provides guidance on the accounting for and reporting of accounting changes and error corrections. 
APB Opinion No. 20 previously required that most voluntary changes in accounting principle be recog-
nized by including in net income of the period of the change the cumulative effect of changing to the new 
accounting principle. FAS No. 154 requires retrospective application to prior periods’ financial statements 
of a voluntary change in accounting principle unless it is impracticable. FAS No. 154 is effective for ac-
counting changes and corrections of errors made in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005. The 
adoption of FAS No. 154 did not have a material effect on the Company’s financial position or results of 
operations.

In February 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 155, “Accounting for Certain Hybrid Financial Instruments” 
(“SFAS No. 155”), which amends SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Ac-
tivities” (“SFAS No. 133”) and SFAS No. 140, “Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets 
and Extinguishments of Liabilities” (“SFAS No. 140”). SFAS No. 155 provides guidance to simplify the ac-
counting for certain hybrid instruments by permitting fair value remeasurement for any hybrid financial in-
strument that contains an embedded derivative, as well as clarifying that beneficial interests in securitized 
financial assets are subject to SFAS 133. In addition, SFAS No. 155 eliminates a restriction on the pas-
sive derivative instruments that a qualifying special-purpose entity may hold under SFAS No. 140. SFAS 
No. 155 is effective for all financial instruments acquired, issued or subject to a new basis occurring after 
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the beginning of an entity’s first fiscal year that begins after September 15, 2006. The Company believes 
that the adoption of this statement will not have a material effect on its financial condition or results of op-
erations. 

In March 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 156, “Accounting for Servicing of Financial Assets” (“SFAS 
No. 156”), which amends SFAS No. 140. SFAS No. 156 provides guidance addressing the recognition 
and measurement of separately recognized servicing assets and liabilities, common with mortgage secu-
ritization activities, and provides an approach to simplify efforts to obtain hedge accounting treatment. 
SFAS No. 156 is effective for all separately recognized servicing assets and liabilities acquired or issued 
after the beginning of an entity’s fiscal year that begins after September 15, 2006, with early adoption be-
ing permitted. The Company believes that the adoption of this statement will not have a material effect on 
its financial condition or results of operations.

In June 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income 
Taxes,” which clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in the Company's finan-
cial statements in accordance with FAS 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes.” The interpretation pre-
scribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and 
measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. The Company is required to 
adopt the provisions of the Interpretation effective January 1, 2007. The Company has not yet completed 
its assessment of the affect of adoption of the Interpretation on the Company’s financial statements.

In September 2006, the SEC issued SAB 108. SAB 108 provides guidance on the consideration of effects 
of the prior year misstatements in quantifying current year misstatements for the purpose of a materiality 
assessment. The SEC staff believes registrants must quantify errors using both a balance sheet and in-
come statement approach and evaluate whether either approach results in quantifying a misstatement 
that, when all relevant quantitative and qualitative factors are considered, is material. SAB 108 is effective 
for the first annual period ending after November 15, 2006 with early application encouraged. The adop-
tion of this statement at December 31, 2006 did not have a material effect on the Company’s financial 
condition or results of operations

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements,” which establishes a 
common definition for “fair value” to be applied to generally accepted accounting principles in the United 
States. It provides guidance requiring use of fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value, 
and expands disclosure about such fair value measurements. SFAS No. 157 is effective for fiscal years 
beginning after November 15, 2007. The Company is currently assessing the impact of SFAS No. 157 on 
the Company’s financial statements.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 158, “Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension 
and Other Postretirement Plans,” which requires that employers recognize, on a prospective basis, the 
funded status of their defined benefit pension and other postretirement plans on their consolidated bal-
ance sheet and recognize as a component of other comprehensive income, net of tax, the gains or losses 
and prior service costs or credits that arise during the period but are not recognized as components of net 
periodic benefit cost. SFAS No. 158 also requires additional disclosures in the notes to financial state-
ments. SFAS No.158 is effective as of the end of fiscal years ending after December 15, 2006.  The 
adoption of this statement at December 31, 2006 did not have a material effect on the Company’s finan-
cial condition or results of operations

w. Reclassification:

Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current period presentation.
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NOTE 3:– RESTRICTED COLLATERAL DEPOSITS 

December 31,

2006 2005

Short-term:
AoA earnout (Note 1.d.) $ – $1,795,850
Deposits in connection with 

FAAC projects 535,151 548,973
Restricted cash in connection 
with interest payment to con-
vertible debenture holders. 113,824 1,395,079
Other – 157,211
Total short-term 648,975 3,897,113
Long-term:
Restricted cash in connection 
with interest payment to con-
vertible debenture holders. – 779,286
Total long-term – 779,286

$ 648,975 $4,676,399

NOTE 4: – AVAILABLE FOR SALE MARKETABLE SECURITIES

The following is a summary of investments in marketable securities as of December 31, 2006 and 2005:

Cost Unrealized gains Estimated fair value

2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005

Available for sale mar-
ketable securities $ 36,708 $ 32,558 $ 4,458 $ 3,426 $ 41,166 $ 35,984

NOTE 5:– OTHER ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (INCLUDING LONG TERM) AND PREPAID EX-
PENSES

December 31,

2006 2005

Government authorities $ 213,362 $ 460,265
Employees 77,836 65,735
Prepaid expenses 292,496 1,360,589
Deferred taxes 58,032 64,820
Long term receivables 262,608 –
Other 492,896 312,922

2,397 ,87 5 2,397 ,87 5

$ 1,397,230 $ 2,264,331

NOTE 6:– INVENTORIES

December 31,

2006 2005

Raw and packaging materials $ 4,556,250 $ 3,296,453
Work in progress 3,186,843 3,697,361
Finished products 108,727 821,992

$ 7,851,820 $ 7,815,806
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NOTE 7:– PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET

a. Composition of property and equipment is as follows: 

December 31,

2006 2005

Cost:
Computers and related equipment $ 2,080,462 $ 3,081,029
Motor vehicles 674,737 704,718
Office furniture and equipment 1,015,054 786,958
Machinery, equipment and  installations 4,108,763 7,716,598
Leasehold improvements 887,311 1,399,683
Demo inventory 643,458 369,995

$ 9,409,785 $ 14,058,981

Accumulated depreciation:
Computers and related equipment 1,626,066 2,328,549
Motor vehicles 234,023 233,745
Office furniture and equipment 585,069 474,127
Machinery, equipment and installations 2,466,598 5,729,563
Leasehold improvements 385,196 974,666
Demo inventory 372,240 65,400

5,669,192 9,806,050

Depreciated cost $ 3,740,593 $ 4,252,931

b. Depreciation expense amounted to $1,966,748, $1,308,180 and $1,199,465 for the years 
ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

As for liens, see Note 11.d.

NOTE 8:– GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET

a.  Goodwill

A summary of the goodwill by business segment is as follows:

12/31/05 Additions
Adjustments 

(currency) 12/31/06

Simulation $23,605,069 $630,350 $           – $24,235,419
Battery 4,968,676 – 444,534 5,413,210
Armor 985,412 – 81,184 1,066,596

Total $29,559,157 $630,350 $525,718 $30,715,225
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b.  Other intangible assets

Year ended December 31,

2006 2005

Cost:
Technology $6,405,000 $6,841,746
Capitalized software costs   1,701,150 1,226,579
Backlog      682,000 2,194,000
Covenants not to compete        99,000 359,000
Customer list   7,548,645 7,548,645
Certification      246,969 246,969

16,682,764 18,416,939
Exchange differences 175,958 (171,587)
Less - accumulated amortization (8,155,508) (7,267,630)
Less - impairment – (819,223)

Amortized cost 8,703,214 10,158,499
Trademarks 799,000 869,000

$9,502,214 $11,027,499

Amortization and impairment expenses amounted to $2,857,891, $3,695,772 and $2,888,226 for the 
years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

c. Estimated amortization expenses, except capitalized software costs, for the years ended

Year ended December 31,

2007 $ 1,277,522
2008 1,277,522
2009 1,274,722
2010 1,107,723
2011 1,085,490
2012 and forward 1,018,478

$7,041,457

NOTE 9:– SHORT-TERM BANK CREDIT AND LOANS 

The Company and/or certain of its subsidiaries has $6.5 million authorized in credit lines from certain 
banks, of which $478,057 is denominated in NIS and carries an interest rate of approximately prime + 
1.87% and 6 million is denominated in dollars and carries an interest rate of prime + 0.25%. As of De-
cember 31, 2006, $5.4 million was utilized, out of which $2.0 million is related to letter of credit issued to 
one of the customers of one of the Company’s subsidiaries. 

These lines of credit are secured by the accounts receivable, inventory and marketable securities of the 
relevant subsidiary of the Company. 

In 2005, the Company had a $5.2 million authorized credit line from certain banks, of which $206,000 was 
denominated in NIS and carries an interest rate of approximately prime + 2.8% and $ 5.0 million of which 
was denominated in dollars and carries an interest rate of prime + 0.25%. As of December 31, 2005, 
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$4.0 million was utilized, out of which $2.0 million was related to a letter of credit issued to one of the cus-
tomers of one of the Company’s subsidiaries. 

This line of credit was secured by the accounts receivable, inventory and marketable securities of the 
relevant subsidiary of the Company. 

NOTE 10:– OTHER ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED EXPENSES

December 31,

2006 2005

Employees and payroll accruals $ 1,288,601 $ 1,443,154
Accrual for expected loss 829,973 485,877
Accrued vacation pay 442,068 504,342
Accrued expenses 1,380,150 1,788,558
Minority balance   – 172,871
Government authorities 815,374 439,975
Advances from customers 414,889 795,331

$ 5,171,055 $ $ 5,630,108

NOTE 11:– COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

a. Royalty commitments:

1. Under EFL’s research and development agreements with the Office of the Chief Scientist 
(“OCS”), and pursuant to applicable laws, EFL is required to pay royalties at the rate of 3%-3.5% of net 
sales of products developed with funds provided by the OCS, up to an amount equal to 100% of research 
and development grants received from the OCS (linked to the U.S. dollars. Amounts due in respect of 
projects approved after year 1999 also bear interest at the Libor rate). EFL is obligated to pay royalties 
only on sales of products in respect of which OCS participated in their development. Should the project 
fail, EFL will not be obligated to pay any royalties.

Royalties paid or accrued for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 to the OCS amounted 
to $30,402, $28,502 and $17,406, respectively.

As of December 31, 2006, the total contingent liability to the OCS was approximately $10,370,175. The 
Company regards the probability of this contingency coming to pass in any material amount to be low.

2. EFL, in cooperation with a U.S. participant, has received approval from the Israel-U.S. Bi-
national Industrial Research and Development Foundation (“BIRD-F”) for 50% funding of a project for the 
development of a hybrid propulsion system for transit buses. The maximum approved cost of the project 
is approximately $1.8 million, and the EFL’s share in the project costs is anticipated to amount to ap-
proximately $1.1 million, which will be reimbursed by BIRD-F at the aforementioned rate of 50%. Royal-
ties at rates of 2.5%-5% of sales are payable up to a maximum of 150% of the grant received, linked to 
the U.S. Consumer Price Index. Accelerated royalties are due under certain circumstances.

EFL is obligated to pay royalties only on sales of products in respect of which BIRD-F participated in their 
development. Should the project fail, EFL will not be obligated to pay any royalties.

No royalties were paid or accrued to the BIRD-F in each of the three years in the period ended December 
31, 2006.
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As of December 31, 2006, the total contingent liability to pay BIRD-F (150%) was approximately 
$772,000. The Company regards the probability of this contingency coming to pass in any material 
amount to be low.

b. Lease commitments:

The Company and its subsidiaries rent their facilities under various operating lease agreements, which ex-
pire on various dates, the latest of which is in 2009. The minimum rental payments under non-cancelable 
operating leases are as follows:

Year ended December 31
2007         $  621,678
2008         $    68,750
2009         $    82,500

Total rent expenses for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 were $878,908, $1,022,396 
and $868,900 respectively.

The Company also signed three capital leases during 2006 with an aggregate value of approximately 
$250,000.  These leases have terms from 3 to 5 years and are for equipment purchases.  The equipment 
is classified under machinery and equipment in fixed assets.

The table below details the original value, deprecation and net book value of the leased assets. The net 
book value is included the property and equipment totals in the balance sheet.

Leased Assets 12/31/2006

Equipment  $249,532
Less: Accumulated Depreciation    20,130 

Net book value  $229,402 

The table below details the remaining liability of the capital lease obligations.

Liabilities
Obligations under capital leases 12/31/2006

Current $ 55,263
Noncurrent 158,120

Total $213,383

The table below details the minimum future lease payments due along with the present value of the net 
minimum lease payments as of December 31, 2006.

Future Minimum Lease Payments Year ended December 31
2007 $79,623
2008 83,710
2009 55,101
2010 34,667
2011 16,655
Total minimum lease payments 269,756
Less: Amount representing interest 56,373
Present value of minimum lease payments $213,383

c. Guarantees:

The Company obtained bank guarantees in the amount of $885,551 in connection (i) obligations of two of 
the Company’s subsidiaries to the Israeli customs authorities and, (ii) obligation of one of the Company’s 
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subsidiaries to secure the return of products loaned to the Company from one of its customers and (iii) 
obligation of the Company to secure payment on a senior debt, and (iv) obligation of one of the Com-
pany’s subsidiaries to secure a required letter of credit required under a long term contract.. In addition, 
the Company has two outstanding letters of credit in the amounts of $1,947,854 and $60,000 to two of its 
subsidiary’s customers.

The Company’s active United States subsidiaries act as guarantors of the Company’s obligations under 
its senior secured convertible notes. 

d. Liens:

As security for compliance with the terms related to the investment grants from the State of Israel, EFL 
and Epsilor have registered floating liens (that is, liens that apply not only to assets owned at the time but 
also to after-acquired assets) on all of its assets, in favor of the State of Israel.

The Company has granted to the holders of its senior secured convertible notes (i) a second position se-
curity interest in the assets and receivables of FAAC Incorporated, and in the receivables of MDT Armor 
Corporation related to MDT’s David order with the U.S. Army (junior to the security interest of a bank that 
extends to FAAC Corporation a $6.0 million line of credit) and (ii) a first position security interest in the 
assets of all of the Company’s other active United States subsidiaries and in the stock of all of the Com-
pany’s active United States subsidiaries, as well as in any stock that the Company acquires in future Ac-
quisitions (as defined in the securities purchase agreement). 

FAAC has a $6.0 million line of credit secured by the assets and receivables of FAAC and by the receiv-
ables of MDT Armor Corporation related to MDT’s David order with the U.S. Army.

Epsilor has recorded a lien on all of its assets in favor of its banks to secure lines of credit and loans re-
ceived. In addition the company has a specific pledge on assets in respect of which government guaran-
teed loan were given.

e. Litigation and other claims:

As of December 31, 2006, there were no pending material legal proceedings to which the Company was 
a party, other than ordinary routine litigation incidental to its business, except as follows:

1. In December 2004, AoA filed an action against a U.S. government defense agency, seeking ap-
proximately $2.2 million in damages for alleged improper termination of a contract. In its answer, the gov-
ernment agency counterclaimed, seeking approximately $2.1 million in reprocurement expenses. AoA is 
preparing its answer to the counterclaim. At this stage in the proceedings, the Company and its legal ad-
visors cannot determine with any certainty whether AoA will have any liability and, if so, the extent of that 
liability.

NOTE 12:– CONVERTIBLE DEBT AND DETACHABLE WARRANTS

a. 9% Secured Convertible Debentures due June 30, 2005 

Pursuant to the terms of a Securities Purchase Agreement dated December 31, 2002, the Company is-
sued and sold to a group of institutional investors an aggregate principal amount of 9% secured converti-
ble debentures in the amount of $3.5 million due June 30, 2005. These debentures are convertible at any 
time prior to June 30, 2005 at a conversion price of $10.50 per share, or a maximum aggregate of 
333,333 shares of common stock. The conversion price of these debentures was adjusted to $8.96 per 
share in April 2003. In accordance with EITF 96-19, “Debtor’s Accounting for a Modification or Exchange 
of Debt Instruments,” the terms of convertible debentures were not treated as changed or modified when 
the cash flow effect on a present value basis was less than 10%.



AROTECH CORPORATION AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

In U.S. dollars

NOTE 12:– CONVERTIBLE DEBT AND DETACHABLE WARRANTS (Cont.)

74

As part of the securities purchase agreement on December 31, 2002, the Company issued to the pur-
chasers of its 9% secured convertible debentures due June 30, 2005, warrants, as follows: (i) Series A 
Warrants to purchase an aggregate of 83,336 shares of common stock at any time prior to December 31, 
2007 at a price of $11.76 per share; (ii) Series B Warrants to purchase an aggregate of 83,336 shares of 
common stock at any time prior to December 31, 2007 at a price of $12.46 per share; and (iii) Series C 
Warrants to purchase an aggregate of 83,336 shares of common stock at any time prior to December 31, 
2007 at a price of $13.02 per share. The exercise price of these warrants was adjusted to $8.96 per share 
in April 2003. 

This transaction was accounted according to APB No. 14 “Accounting for Convertible debt and Debt Is-
sued with Stock Purchase Warrants” (“APB No. 14”) and Emerging Issue Task Force No. 00-27 “Applica-
tion of Issue No. 98-5 to Certain Convertible Instruments” (“EITF 00-27”). The fair value of these warrants 
was determined using Black-Scholes pricing model, assuming a risk-free interest rate of 3.5%, a volatility 
factor 64%, dividend yields of 0% and a contractual life of five years. 

In connection with these convertible debentures, the Company recorded a deferred debt discount of 
$1,890,000 with respect to the beneficial conversion feature and the discount arising from fair value allo-
cation of the warrants according to APB No. 14, which is being amortized from the date of issuance to the 
stated redemption date – June 30, 2005 – or to the actual conversion date, if earlier, as financial ex-
penses.

During 2004, the remaining principal amount of $1,150,000 of 9% secured convertible debentures out-
standing was converted into an aggregate of 128,348 shares of common stock.

During 2004, the Company recorded expenses of $372,600 attributable to amortization due to conversion 
of the convertible debenture into shares.

b. 8% Secured Convertible Debentures due September 30, 2006 and issued in September 2003

Pursuant to the terms of a Securities Purchase Agreement dated September 30, 2003, the Company is-
sued and sold to a group of institutional investors an aggregate principal amount of 8% secured converti-
ble debentures in the amount of $5.0 million due September 30, 2006. These debentures were converti-
ble at any time prior to September 30, 2006 at a conversion price of $16.10 per share, or a maximum 
aggregate of 310,559 shares of common stock.

As part of the securities purchase agreement on September 30, 2003, the Company issued to the pur-
chasers of its 8% secured convertible debentures due September 30, 2006, warrants to purchase an ag-
gregate of 89,286 shares of common stock at any time prior to September 30, 2006 at a price of $20.125 
per share. In March 2006, 8,929 of these warrants were repriced to an exercise price of $5.60 per share 
and exercised. In connection with this repricing, the holder of these warrants received a new warrant to 
purchase 3,571 shares at an exercise price of $8.316. As a result of this repricing of the existing warrants 
and the issuance of these new warrants, the Company recorded in 2006 a deemed dividend in the 
amount of $24,531.

This transaction was accounted according to APB No. 14 “Accounting for Convertible Debt and Debt Is-
sued with Stock Purchase Warrants” and Emerging Issue Task Force No. 00-27 “Application of Issue No. 
98-5 to Certain Convertible Instruments.” The fair value of these warrants was determined using Black-
Scholes pricing model, assuming a risk-free interest rate of 1.95%, a volatility factor 98%, dividend yields 
of 0% and a contractual life of three years. 

In connection with these convertible debentures, the Company recorded a deferred debt discount of 
$2,963,043 with respect to the beneficial conversion feature and the discount arising from fair value allo-
cation of the warrants according to APB No. 14, which is being amortized from the date of issuance to the 
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stated redemption date – September 30, 2006 – or to the actual conversion date, if earlier, as financial 
expenses.

During 2004, an aggregate of principal amount $1,075,000 in 8% secured convertible debentures was 
converted into an aggregate of 66,770 shares.

During 2004 and 2005, the Company recorded expenses of $613,263 and $29,603, respectively, of which 
$191,895 and $29,603, respectively, was attributable to amortization of the beneficial conversion feature 
of the convertible debenture over its term and $421,368 and $0, respectively, was attributable to amorti-
zation due to conversion of the convertible debenture into shares. During 2006, the Company recorded 
an expense of $22,142, which was attributable to amortization of debt discount and beneficial conversion 
feature related to the convertible debenture over its term. These expenses were included in the financial 
expenses.

During 2006, the Company paid the remaining principal amount of $150,000 in respect of these secured 
convertible debentures.

c. 8% Secured Convertible Debentures due September 30, 2006 and issued in December 2003

Pursuant to the terms of a Securities Purchase Agreement dated September 30, 2003, the Company is-
sued and sold to a group of institutional investors an aggregate principal amount of 8% secured converti-
ble debentures in the amount of $6.0 million due September 30, 2006. These debentures were converti-
ble at any time prior to September 30, 2006 at a conversion price of $20.30 per share, or a maximum 
aggregate of 295,567 shares of common stock.

As a further part of the securities purchase agreement on September 30, 2003, the Company issued to 
the purchasers of its 8% secured convertible debentures due September 30, 2006, warrants to purchase 
an aggregate of 107,143 shares of common stock at any time prior to December 18, 2006 at a price of 
$25.375 per share. Additionally, the Company issued to the investors supplemental warrants to purchase
an aggregate of 74,143 shares of common stock at any time prior to December 31, 2006 at a price of 
$30.80 per share. In February and March 2006, an aggregate of 55,607 of these warrants were repriced 
to an exercise price of $5.60 per share and exercised. In connection with this repricing, the holders of 
these warrants received new warrants to purchase an aggregate of 22,244 shares at an exercise price of 
$8.316. In April 2006, 11,121 of these warrants were repriced to an exercise price of $5.60 per share and 
exercised. In connection with this repricing, the holder of these warrants received a new warrant to pur-
chase 4,449 shares at an exercise price of $8.316. As a result of these repricings of the existing warrants 
and the issuance of these new warrants, the Company recorded in 2006 a deemed dividend in the 
amount of $39,221.

This transaction was accounted according to APB No. 14 “Accounting for Convertible debt and Debt Is-
sued with Stock Purchase Warrants” and Emerging Issue Task Force No. 00-27 “Application of Issue No. 
98-5 to Certain Convertible Instruments.” The fair value of these warrants was determined using Black-
Scholes pricing model, assuming a risk-free interest rate of 2.45%, a volatility factor 98%, dividend yields 
of 0% and a contractual life of three years. 

In connection with these convertible debentures, the Company recorded a deferred debt discount of 
$6,000,000 with respect to the beneficial conversion feature and the discount arising from fair value allo-
cation to warrants according to APB No. 14, which is being amortized from the date of issuance to the 
stated redemption date – September 30, 2006 – or to the actual conversion date, if earlier, as financial 
expenses.

During 2004 an aggregate of 107,143 shares were issued pursuant to exercise of these warrants. Out of 
these warrants, the holders of 80,357 warrants exercised their warrants on July 14, 2004 were granted an 
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additional warrants to purchase 80,357 shares of common stock of the Company at an exercise price per 
share of $19.32. See also Note 13.d.3.

During 2004 and 2005, the Company recorded expenses of $3,156,246 and $1,562,378, respectively, of 
which $1,782,561 and $1,562,378, respectively, was attributable to amortization of the beneficial conver-
sion feature of the convertible debenture over its term and $1,373,685 and $0, respectively, was attribut-
able to amortization due to conversion of the convertible debenture into shares. During 2006, the Com-
pany recorded an expense of $1,168,573, which was attributable to amortization of the beneficial 
conversion feature of the convertible debenture over its term. These expenses were included in the finan-
cial expenses.

During 2006, the Company paid in cash the remaining principal amount of $4,387,500 in respect of these 
secured convertible debentures.

d. Senior Secured Convertible Notes due March 31, 2008

Pursuant to the terms of a Securities Purchase Agreement dated September 29, 2005 (the “Purchase 
Agreement”) by and between the Company and certain institutional investors, the Company issued and 
sold to the investors an aggregate of $17.5 million principal amount of senior secured notes having a final 
maturity date of March 31, 2008.

Under the terms of the Purchase Agreement, as amended, the Company granted the investors (i) a sec-
ond position security interest in the assets and receivables of FAAC Incorporated, and in the receivables 
of MDT Armor Corporation related to MDT’s David order with the U.S. Army (junior to the security interest 
of a bank that extends to FAAC Corporation a $6.0 million line of credit) and (ii) a first position security in-
terest in the assets of all of the Company’s other active United States subsidiaries and in the stock of all 
of the Company’s active United States subsidiaries, as well as in any stock that the Company acquires in 
future Acquisitions (as defined in the securities purchase agreement). The Company’s active United 
States subsidiaries are also acting as guarantors of the Company’s obligations under the Notes.

The Notes are convertible at the investors’ option at a fixed conversion price of $14.00. The Notes bear 
interest at a rate equal to six month LIBOR plus 6% per annum, subject to a floor of 10% and a cap of 
12.5%. The Company will repay the principal amount of the Notes over a period of two and one-half 
years, with the principal amount being amortized in twelve payments payable at the Company’s option in 
cash and/or stock, provided certain conditions are met. In the event the Company elects to make such 
payments in stock, the price used to determine the number of shares to be issued will be calculated using 
an 8% discount to the average trading price of the Company’s common stock during 17 of the 20 con-
secutive trading days ending two days before the payment date. 

As a further part of the Securities Purchase Agreement dated September 29, 2005, the Company issued 
warrants, which are not exercisable for the six month period following closing, to purchase up to 375,000 
shares of common stock (30% warrant coverage) at an exercise price of $15.40 per share. These war-
rants were exercisable until March 29, 2007.

This transaction was accounted according to APB No. 14, “Accounting for Convertible Debt and Debt Is-
sued with Stock Purchase Warrants” and Emerging Issue Task Force No. 00-27, “Application of Issue No. 
98-5 to Certain Convertible Instruments” (“EITF 00-27”). The fair value of the warrants granted in respect 
of convertible debentures was determined using Black-Scholes pricing model, assuming a risk-free inter-
est rate of 3.87%, a volatility factor 53%, dividend yields of 0% and a contractual life of one year.

In connection with these convertible notes, the Company recorded a deferred debt discount of $422,034 
with respect to the discount arising from fair value allocation of the warrants according to APB No. 14, 
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which is being amortized from the date of issuance to the stated redemption date – March 31, 2008 – or 
the actual conversion date, if earlier, as financial expenses

The Company has also considered EITF No. 05-2, “The Meaning of Conventional Convertible Debt In-
strument” in EITF Issue No. 00-19, “Accounting for Derivative Financial Instruments Indexed to, and Po-
tentially Settled in, a Company’s Own Stock.” Accordingly, the Company has concluded that these con-
vertible notes would be considered as conventional convertible debt. 

As to EITF No. 00-19, since the terms of the warrants referred to above provided that upon exercise of a 
warrant the Company could issue only stock that had been registered with the SEC (which occurred in 
December 2005) and therefore freely tradable, in accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force No 00-19 
“Accounting for Derivative Financial Instruments Indexed to, and Potentially Settled in, a Company’s Own 
Stock,” their fair value was recorded as a liability at the closing date. Such fair value was remeasured at 
each subsequent cut-off date.  The fair value of these warrants was remeasured as at December 31, 
2005 using the Black-Scholes pricing model assuming a risk free interest rate of 3.87%, a volatility factor 
of 64%, dividend yields of 0% and a contractual life of approximately nine months. The change in the fair 
value of the warrants between the date of the grant and December 31, 2005 in the amount of $377,803 
has been recorded as finance income.

During 2005 and 2006, the Company recorded expenses of $110,771 and $293,795 respectively, attrib-
utable to amortization of the deferred debt discount arising from the fair value allocation of the warrants.

The Notes provide for repayment in twelve equal installments. Installments may be paid in cash or, at the 
Company’s option (subject to certain conditions), in stock. If the Company elects to make a payment in 
stock, it must give notice 24 trading days prior to the date the installment is due, and issue shares of its 
stock to the holders of the Note based on a conversion price of $14.00. Thereafter, based on a price of 
92% of the average price of the stock during 17 of the trading days between the notice date and the in-
stallment payment date, the Company issues additional shares based on the amount, if any, by which the 
average price of the stock was less than $14.00. In respect of scheduled payments of Note principal, the 
Company issued 82,976 shares in 2005 and 444,005 shares in the first three months of 2006.

On April 7, 2006, the Company and each investor entered into conversion agreements dated April 7, 
2006 (collectively, the “Conversion Agreements”) pursuant to which an aggregate of $6,148,904 principal 
amount of the Notes was converted into 1,098,019 shares of the Company’s common stock. The amount 
converted eliminated the Company’s obligation to make the installment payments under the Notes on 
each of March 31, 2008, January 31, 2008, November 30, 2007 and September 30, 2007 (aggregating a 
total of $5,833,333). In addition, as a result of the conversion an additional $315,570 was applied against 
part of the installment payment due July 31, 2007. After giving effect to the conversion, $8,434,430 of 
principal remained outstanding under the Notes. Each Investor also agreed, among other things, to defer 
the installment payment due on May 31, 2006 to July 31, 2006 or, in certain circumstances, August 31, 
2006. This transaction was accounted for under SFAS No. 84, “Induced Conversions of Convertible 
Debt.” Accordingly, a loss of approximately $4.9 million was recognized on this transaction and included 
in financial expense.

During the remainder of 2006, in respect of scheduled payments of Note principal, the Company issued a 
total of 2,642,833 shares to pay $5,833,333 in debt. Total loss charged to financial expense in 2006 for 
stock principal redemption approximated $507,000. At December 31, 2006, the remaining principal bal-
ance of the Notes was $2.6 million.

e. The Company’s debt agreements contain customary affirmative and negative operations 
covenants that limit the discretion of its management with respect to certain business matters and place 
restrictions on it, including obligations on the Company’s part to preserve and maintain assets and restric-
tions on its ability to incur or guarantee debt, to merge with or sell its assets to another company, and to 
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make significant capital expenditures without the consent of the debenture holders, as well as granting to 
the Company’s investors a right of first refusal on any future financings, except for underwritten public of-
ferings in excess of $30 million. Management does not believe that this right of first refusal will materially 
limit the Company’s ability to undertake future financings.

NOTE 13:– STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

a. Stockholders’ rights:

The Company’s shares confer upon the holders the right to receive notice to participate and vote in the 
general meetings of the Company and right to receive dividends, if and when declared.

b. Issuance of common stock to investors and in respect of acquisitions:

1. In January 2004, the Company issued an aggregate of 702,888 shares of common stock at a 
price of $26.32 per share, or a total purchase price of $18,500,000, to several institutional investors. (see 
also Note 13.d.2.). Finance expenses in connection with this issuance totaled $692,500.

2. In July 2004, pursuant to a Securities Purchase Agreement dated July 15, 2004, the Com-
pany issued an aggregate of 304,148 shares of common stock at a price of $21.70 per share, or a total 
purchase price of $6,600,000, to a group of investors (see also Note 13.d.3.). 

3. In May 2005, the Company issued an aggregate of 91,107 shares of common stock at a 
price of $14.00 per share, or a total purchase price of $1,275,500, to several institutional investors. 

4. In connection with the satisfaction by the Company of the provision of the FAAC purchase 
agreement related to an earn-out based on 2004 net pretax income, the Company, in May 2005, issued 
to the former shareholders of FAAC a total of 248,533 shares, which together with cash paid by the Com-
pany to the former shareholders of FAAC, was sufficient to satisfy the Company’s obligation in respect of 
this earn-out provision. 

c. Issuance of common stock to service providers and employees and as donations to charities

1. Beginning in January 2004, the Company entered into a consulting agreement with one of its 
directors pursuant to which the director agreed to aid the Company in identifying potential acquisition 
candidates, in exchange for a commission. The Company also agreed to issue to this director, at par 
value, a total of 2,286 shares of its common stock, the value of which was to be deducted from any trans-
action fees paid. 1,143 of these shares were earned and issued prior to termination of this agreement in 
August 2004. At the issuance date, the fair value of these shares was determined both by the value of the 
shares issued as reflected by their market price at the issuance date and by the value of the services pro-
vided and amounted to $28,160 in accordance with EITF 96-18. In accordance with EITF 96-18, the 
Company recorded this compensation expense of $28,160 during 2004 and included this amount in gen-
eral and administrative expenses

2. In February 2004, the Company issued 5,301 shares of common stock to a consultant as 
commissions on battery orders. At the issuance date, the fair value of these shares was determined both 
by the value of the shares issued as reflected by their market price at the issuance date and by the value 
of the services provided and amounted to $171,680 in accordance with EITF 96-18. In accordance with 
EITF 96-18, the Company accrued this compensation expense of $171,680 during 2003 and included this 
amount in selling and marketing expenses.

3. In June 2004 the Company sold 2,857 shares of the Company’s common stock at a price of 
$14.00 per share to one of its employees. At the issuance date, the fair value of these shares was deter-
mined by the fair market value of the shares issued as reflected by their market price at the issuance date 
in accordance with APB No. 25. In accordance with APB No. 25, the Company recorded this compensa-
tion expense of $53,200 during 2004 and included this amount in general and administrative expenses
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4. In December 2004, the Company donated 2,857 shares of its common stock to a charitable 
organization recognized by the Internal Revenue Service as tax-exempt under Section 501(c)(3) of the In-
ternal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. At the issuance date, the fair value of these shares was de-
termined by the value of the shares issued as reflected by their market price at the issuance date and 
amounted to $69,200 in accordance with EITF 96-18. This compensation expense will be amortized over 
the course of one year due to legal restrictions on selling these shares for that period of time. In accor-
dance with EITF 96-18, the Company recorded compensation expense of $4,361 and $64,839 during 
2004 and 2005, respectively, and included this amount in general and administrative expenses

5.       In May 2005, the Company issued 5,190 shares of common stock to a consultant as commissions 
on battery orders as a part of a marketing agreement with the consultant whereby he helped procure or-
ders and ensured payment by a specified military agency for Zinc-Air batteries and complementary prod-
ucts. At the issuance date, the fair value of these shares was determined by the value of the shares is-
sued as reflected by their market price at the issuance date and amounted to $89,363 in accordance with 
EITF 96-18. In accordance with EITF 96-18, the Company accrued compensation expenses of $56,577 
and $32,786 during 2004 and 2005, respectively, and included these amounts in selling and marketing 
expenses.

6. In August 2005, pursuant to the terms of agreements between the Company and an invest-
ment banker, the Company issued an aggregate of 30,357 shares of common stock as part of the fee ar-
rangements in connection with investment banking and financial consulting services that the investment 
banker rendered to it including arranging financing in connection with potential acquisitions.  At the issu-
ance date, the fair value of these shares was determined by the value of the shares issued as reflected 
by their market price at the issuance date and amounted to $423,750 in accordance with EITF 96-18. In 
accordance with EITF 96-18 the Company accrued compensation expenses of $423,750 during 2005 and 
included this amount in general and administrative expenses.

7. In August 2005, pursuant to the terms of an agreement between the Company and a public 
relations firm, the Company issued 686 shares of common stock as part of the fee arrangements in con-
nection with investor relations services that the public relations firm rendered to it.  At the issuance date, 
the fair value of these shares was determined both by the value of the shares issued as reflected by their 
market price at the issuance date and by the value of the services provided and amounted to $8,160 in 
accordance with EITF 96-18. In accordance with EITF 96-18 the Company accrued compensation ex-
penses of $8,160 during 2005 and included this amount in general and administrative expenses.

8. See Note 13.d.5.

d. Warrants:

1. In March 2006, 19,625 of the Company’s warrants were repriced to an exercise price of 
$5.60 per share and exercised. In connection with this repricing, the holder of these warrants received 
new warrants to purchase 7,850 shares at an exercise price of $8.316. As a result of this repricing of the 
existing warrants and the issuance of these new warrants, the Company recorded during 2006 a deemed 
dividend in the amount of $28,369.

On July 14, 2004, the Company repriced the exercise price of 17,316 warrants granted previously in May 
2001 to $26.32 in order to induce their holders to exercise them immediately. In connection with the exer-
cise of the warrants, the Company additionally granted five-year warrants to purchase up to an aggregate 
of 10,390 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price per share of $19.32. The fair value 
of these warrants was determined using Black Scholes pricing model, assuming a risk-free interest rate of 
3.5%, a volatility factor of 79%, dividend yields of 0% and a contractual life of five years. 

2. In connection with the Securities Purchase referred to in Note 13.b.1 above, the Company 
granted three-year warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 702,888 shares of the Company’s com-
mon stock at any time beginning six months after closing at an exercise price per share of $26.32.
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In July 2004 an aggregate of 531,915 shares were issued pursuant to exercise of these warrants. In con-
nection with the exercise of the warrants, the Company granted to the same investors five-year warrants 
to purchase up to an aggregate of 531,915 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price 
per share of $19.32. The fair value of these warrants was determined using Black Scholes pricing model, 
assuming a risk-free interest rate of 3.5%, a volatility factor of 79%, dividend yields of 0% and a contrac-
tual life of five years. 

In March 2006, 56,991 of these warrants were repriced to an exercise price of $5.60 per share and exer-
cised. In connection with this repricing, the holder of these warrants received a new warrant to purchase 
an aggregate of 22,796 shares at an exercise price of $8.316. In April 2006, an additional 75,988 of these 
warrants were repriced to an exercise price of $5.60 per share and exercised. In connection with this re-
pricing, the holder of these warrants received a new warrant to purchase 30,395 shares at an exercise 
price of $8.316. As a result of these repricings of the existing warrants and the issuance of these new 
warrants, the Company recorded in 2006 a deemed dividend in the amount of $270,336.

See also Note 13.d.3.

3. On July 14, 2004, warrants to purchase 629,588 shares of common stock, having an aggre-
gate exercise price of $16,494,194, net of issuance expenses, were exercised (see also Notes 13.d.1., 
13.d.2. and 12.c.). Out of the shares issued in conjunction with the exercise of these warrants, 80,357 
shares were issued upon exercise of warrants issued in the transaction referred to in Note 12.c. above 
and 531,915 shares were issued upon exercise of warrants issued in the transaction referred to in the 
Note 13.d.3. above; the remaining 17,316 shares were issued upon exercise of a warrant that the Com-
pany issued to an investor in May 2001 referred to in Note 13.d.1. above. In connection with this transac-
tion, the Company issued to the holders of those exercising warrants an aggregate of 622,662 new five-
year warrants to purchase shares of common stock at an exercise price of $19.32 per share

As a result of the transactions described in Notes 13.d.1., 13.d.2. and 12.c., including the repricing of the 
warrants to the investors and the issuance of additional warrants to the investors, the Company recorded 
a deemed dividend in the amount of $2,165,952, to reflect the additional benefit created for these inves-
tors. The deemed dividend increased the loss applicable to common stockholders in the calculation of 
basic and diluted net loss per share for the year ended December 31, 2004, without any effect on total 
shareholder’s equity

As all warrants in the July 14, 2004, securities purchase agreement were subject to shareholders ap-
proval, in accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force No. 00-19, “Accounting for Derivative Financial 
Instruments Indexed to, and Potentially Settled in, a Company’s Own Stock,” their fair value was recorded 
as a liability at the closing date. Such fair value was remeasured at each subsequent cut-off date. Upon 
obtaining stockholders approval on December 14, 2004, the warrants were remeasured and reclassified 
to equity. The fair value of these warrants was determined using the Black-Scholes pricing model, assum-
ing a risk-free interest rate of 3.5%, a volatility factor 79%, dividend yields of 0% and a contractual life of 
approximately five years. The change in the fair value of the warrants between the date of grant and De-
cember 14, 2004 has been recorded as finance income in the amount of $326,839.

In February and March 2006, an aggregate of 501,216 of these warrants were repriced to an exercise 
price of $5.60 per share and exercised. In connection with this repricing, the holders of these warrants re-
ceived new warrants to purchase an aggregate of 200,487 shares at an exercise price of $8.316. In April 
2006, an additional 16,071 of these warrants were repriced to an exercise price of $5.60 per share and 
exercised. In connection with this repricing, the holder of these warrants received a new warrant to pur-
chase 6,429 shares at an exercise price of $8.316. As a result of these repricings of the existing warrants 
and the issuance of these new warrants, the Company recorded in 2006  deemed dividend in the amount 
of $71,728.
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As to EITF 00-19, since the terms of the new warrants referred to above provided that the warrants were 
exercisable subject to the Company obtaining shareholder approval, in accordance with Emerging Issues 
Task Force No 00-19 “Accounting for Derivative Financial Instruments Indexed to, and Potentially Settled 
in, a Company’s Own Stock,” their fair value was recorded as a liability at the closing date. Such fair value 
was remeasured at each subsequent cut-off date until obtaining shareholder approval.  The fair value of 
these warrants was remeasured as at June 19, 2006 (the date of the shareholder approval), using the 
Black-Scholes pricing model assuming a risk free interest rate of 5.00%, a volatility factor of 72%, divi-
dend yields of 0% and a contractual life of approximately 1.78 years. The change in the fair value of the 
warrants between the date of the grant and June 19, 2006 in the amount of $700,113 has been recorded 
as finance income.

4. In November 2000 and May 2001, the Company issued a total of 65,476 warrants to an investor, 
which warrants contained certain antidilution provisions: a Series A warrant to purchase 47,619 shares of 
the Company’s common stock at a price of $49.00 per share, and a Series C warrant to purchase 17,857 
shares at a price of $43.12 per share. Operation of the antidilution provisions provided that the Series A 
warrant should be adjusted to be a warrant to purchase 63,483 shares at a price of $37.38 per share, and 
the Series C warrant should be adjusted to be a warrant to purchase 23,806 shares at a price of $32.90 
per share. After negotiations, the investor agreed in March 2004 to exercise its warrants immediately, in 
exchange for an exercise price reduction to $20.30 per share, and the issuance of a new six-month Se-
ries D warrant to purchase 87,289 shares at an exercise price of $29.40 per share. The new Series D 
warrant did not have similar antidilution provisions. As a result of this repricing and the issuance of new 
warrants, the Company recorded a deemed dividend in the amount of approximately $1,163,000 in 2004.

5. On February 4, 2004, the Company entered into an agreement settling the litigation brought 
against it in the Tel-Aviv, Israel district court by I.E.S. Electronics Industries, Ltd. (“IES Electronics”) and 
certain of its affiliates in connection with the Company’s purchase of the assets of its IES Interactive 
Training, Inc. subsidiary from IES Electronics in August 2002. The litigation had sought monetary dam-
ages in the amount of approximately $3.0 million. Pursuant to the terms of the settlement agreement, in ad-
dition to agreeing to dismiss their lawsuit with prejudice, IES Electronics agreed (i) to cancel the Com-
pany’s $450,000 debt to them that had been due on December 31, 2003, and (ii) to transfer to the 
Company title to certain certificates of deposit in the approximate principal amount of $112,000. The par-
ties also agreed to exchange mutual releases. In consideration of the foregoing, the Company issued to IES 
Electronics (i) 32,143 shares of common stock, and (ii) five-year warrants to purchase up to an additional 
32,143 shares of common stock at a purchase price of $26.74 per share. The fair value of the warrants was 
determined using Black-Scholes pricing model, assuming a risk-free interest rate of 3.5%, a volatility fac-
tor 79%, dividend yields of 0% and a contractual life of five years. The fair value of warrants was calcu-
lated as $483,828 and fair value of shares as $765,000. During 2004, 14,286 warrants were exercised. 

6. As of December 31, 2006, the Company’s outstanding warrants totaled 1,049,709 with expi-
ration dates through July 2009 with exercise prices ranging from $8.32 to $31.50.

a. The Company has adopted the following stock option plans, whereby options and restricted 
shares may be granted for purchase of shares of the Company’s common stock. Under the terms of the 
employee plans, the Board of Directors or the designated committee grants options and determines the 
vesting period and the exercise terms.

1) 1998 Employee Option Plan – as amended, 339,286 shares reserved for issuance, of which 
70,739 were available for future grants to employees and consultants as of December 31, 2006. 

2) 1995 Non-Employee Director Plan – 71,429 shares reserved for issuance, of which 16,785 
stock options were issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2006. Pursuant to the terms of this Plan, 
no new options were issuable under this Plan after September 28, 2005.
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3) 2004 Employee Option Plan – 535,714 shares reserved for issuance, of which 222,650 were 
available for future grants to employees and consultants as of December 31, 2006.

b. Under these plans, options generally expire no later than 5-10 years from the date of grant. 
Each option can be exercised to purchase one share, conferring the same rights as the other common 
shares. Options that are cancelled or forfeited before expiration become available for future grants. The 
options generally vest over a three-year period (33.3% per annum) and restricted shares vest after two 
years or pursuant to defined performance criteria; in the event that employment is terminated within that 
period, unvested restricted shares revert back to the Company.

c. A summary of the status of the Company’s plans and other share options and restricted 
shares (except for options granted to consultants) granted as of December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, and 
changes during the years ended on those dates, is presented below:

2006 2005 2004

Amount

Weighted av-
erage

exercise price Amount

Weighted av-
erage

exercise price Amount

Weighted 
average
exercise 

price

$ $ $

Options outstanding at be-
ginning of year 606,068 $10.23 651,055 $ 17.95 644,166

$
19.18

Changes during year:
Granted (1) (2) (3)

124,000 $ 2.86 116,811 $ 7.95 107,749
$
22.13

Exercised
(1,786) $ 0.14 (1,130) $ 15.26 (64,089)

$
17.36

Forfeited (3)
 (104,596) $13.75  (160,668) $ 26.90  (36,771)

$
52.78

Repriced 
Old exercise price – – (207,980) $ 15.40 – –
New exercise price – – 207,980 $ 5.46 – –

Options outstanding at end 
of year 623,686 $ 8.20 606,068 $ 10.23 651,055

$
17.95

Options vested at end of 
year 486,526 $ 9.22 592,362 $ 9.98 639,959

$
19.24

(1) Includes 12,500, 24,276 and 66,875 options granted to directors and executive officers 
in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

(2) The Company recorded deferred stock compensation for options and restricted shares 
issued with an exercise price below the fair value of the common stock in the amount of 
$2,218,800, $51,000 and $2,081,457 as of December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. In 
addition, in 2005, the Company decreased its deferred stock compensation in the amount of 
$245,280 due to cancellation of certain options and restricted shares of employees that their em-
ployment was terminated. Deferred stock compensation is amortized and recorded as compensa-
tion expenses ratably over the vesting period of the option or the restriction period of the re-
stricted shares. The stock compensation expense that has been charged in the consolidated 
statements of operations in respect of options and restricted shares to employees and directors in 
2006, 2005 and 2004 was $500,545, $674,713 and $831,626, respectively.
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(3) On December 29, 2005 the Company repriced downwards 207,980 options with an av-
erage exercise price of $215.60 to $76.44.  In addition, 4,205 options with an exercise price of 
$184.24 were forfeited and new options with an exercise price of $76.44 were given at the same 
day.  In accordance with FIN44 the downward repricing resulted in a variable plan accounting.  
However, due to the decrease in the share price as of December 31, 2005 no compensation was 
recorded

The table below summarize the intrinsic value of options for each year.

Vested Unvested

2006  $              1,039 
 $             
31,220 

2005  $             10,801 
$                       
–

2004  $        5,427,478 
 $           
101,396 

Restricted Shares: 
2006 2005 2004

Shares

Weighted av-
erage fair 

value at grant 
date Shares

Weighted av-
erage fair 

value at grant 
date Shares

Weighted av-
erage fair 

value at grant 
date

Nonvested at the beginning of the 
year 54,286

 $        
1.41 

52,85
7

 $        
1.45 – –

Changes during year:
Granted 

860,000
 $        

2.58 4,286
 $        

1.12 52,857  $        1.45 
Vested

(48,571)
 $        

1.42 – – –
Forfeited 

(2,143)
 $        

1.73 
(2,857

)
 $        

1.73 – –

Nonvested at the end of the year 863,572
 $        

2.51 
54,28

6
 $        

1.41 52,857  $        1.45 

Restricted shares vested at end of 
year 48,571

 $        
1.42 – – – –

d.  The options outstanding as of December 31, 2006 have been separated into ranges of ex-
ercise price, as follows:
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Total options outstanding Vested options outstanding

Range of
exercise
prices

Amount
outstanding at
December 31,

2006

Weighted
average

remaining
contractual life

Weighted
average

exercise price

Amount
exercisable at
December 31, 

2006

Weighted
average

exercise price
$ Years $ $

0.00-28.00 596,075 3.93 6.29 463,085 7.03
28.01-56.00 16,183 2.43 34.29 12,018 34.53
56.01-84.00 10,356 3.61 66.62 10,356 66.62
84.01-
112.00

353 0.87 90.76 353 90.76

112.01 719 0.75 126.88 714 126.88

623,686 3.88 8.20 486,526 9.22

On December 29, 2005, the Company accelerated vesting of 39,810 of its outstanding unvested stock op-
tions to make such options immediately vested and exercisable. The Company’s decision to accelerate 
the vesting of those options and to grant fully vested options was based primarily upon the issuance of 
SFAS No. 123R, which will require the Company to treat all unvested stock options as compensation ex-
pense effective January 1, 2006. The Company believes that the acceleration of vesting of those options 
will enable the Company to avoid recognizing stock-based compensation expense associated with these 
options in future periods. Additional reasons for the fully vested grant and for the acceleration were to 
make the options more attractive to the recipients, and to avoid discrimination between groups of option 
holders, respectively. 

Weighted-average fair values and exercise prices of options on dates of grant are as follows: 

Equals market price Less than market price

Year ended December 31, Year ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004 2006 2005 2004

Weighted average ex-
ercise prices

$   
2.86

$   
7.00 $20.92 $ - $ - $23.41

Weighted average fair 
value on grant date

$   
2.11

$   
3.64 $14.03 $ - $ - $24.21

2. Options issued to consultants:

a. The Company’s outstanding options to consultants are as follows:
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2006 2005 2004

Amount

Weighted av-
erage exercise 

price Amount

Weighted av-
erage exercise 

price Amount

Weighted av-
erage exercise 

price

$ $ $

Options outstanding at 
beginning of year 11,878

$     
53.20 11,878 $ 53.20 22,422 $ 64.26

Changes during year:

Granted 10,000
$       

1.90 – $       – 714 $         –

Exercised 10,000
$       

1.90 – $       –  (2,687) $ 14.42
Forfeited or cancelled – $       – – $       – (8,571) $ 89.60

Options outstanding at 
end of year 11,878 $ 29.75 11,878 $ 53.20 11,878 $ 53.20

Options vested at end 
of year 11,878 $ 29.75 11,878 $ 53.20 11,878 $ 53.20

b. The Company accounted for its options to consultants under the fair value method of SFAS 
No. 123 and EITF 96-18. The fair value for these options was estimated using a Black-Scholes option-
pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions:

2006 2005 2004

Dividend yield 0% – 0%
Expected volatility 84.8% – 81%
Risk-free interest 4.58% – 3.4%
Contractual life of up to 1 year – 5 years

c. In connection with the grant of stock options to consultants, the Company recorded stock 
compensation expenses totaling $6,563, $0 and $0 for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 
2004, respectively, and included these amounts in general and administrative expenses.

d.        The remaining total compensation cost related to non-vested stock options and restricted share 
awards not yet recognized in the income statement as of December 31, 2006 was $2,476,670, of which 
$284,794 was for stock options and $2,191,876 was for restricted shares. The weighted average period 
over which this compensation cost is expected to be recognized is approximately 14 months. 

3. Dividends:

In the event that cash dividends are declared in the future, such dividends will be paid in U.S. dollars. The 
Company does not intend to pay cash dividends in the foreseeable future.

4. Treasury Stock:

Treasury stock is the Company’s common stock that has been issued and subsequently reacquired. The 
acquisition of common stock is accounted for under the cost method, and presented as reduction of 
stockholders’ equity.

NOTE 14:– INCOME TAXES

a. Taxation of U.S. parent company (Arotech) and other U.S. subsidiaries:

As of December 31, 2006, Arotech has operating loss carryforwards for U.S. federal income tax purposes 
of approximately $35.6 million, which are available to offset future taxable income, if any, expiring in 2009 
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through 2026. Utilization of U.S net operating losses may be subject to substantial annual limitations due 
to the “change in ownership” provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 and similar state provi-
sions. The annual limitation may result in the expiration of net operating loses before utilization.

The Company files consolidated tax returns with its US subsidiaries. 

b. Israeli subsidiary (Epsilor):

Tax benefits under the Law for the Encouragement of Capital Investments, 1959 (the “Investments Law”):

Currently, Epsilor is operating under two programs as follows:

1. Program one:

Epsilor’s expansion program of its existing enterprise in Dimona was granted the status of an “approved 
enterprise” under the Investments Law and was entitled to investments grants from the State of Israel in 
the amount of 24% on property and equipment located at its Dimona plant.

The approved expansion program is in the amount of approximately $600,000. Epsilor effectively oper-
ated the program during 2002, and is entitled to the tax benefits available under the Investments Law 
(commencing from 2003).

Taxable income derived from the approved enterprise is subject to a reduced tax rate during seven years 
beginning from the year in which taxable income is first earned (tax exemption for the first two-year period 
and 25% tax rate for the five remaining years).

Those benefits are limited to 12 years from the year that the enterprise began operations, or 14 years from the year in 
which the approval was granted, whichever is earlier. Hence, this approved program will expire in 2009.

2. Program two:

Epsilor’s expansion program of its existing enterprise in Dimona was granted the status of an “approved 
enterprise” under the Investments Law, and is entitled to investments grants from the State of Israel in the 
amount of 32% on property and equipment located at its Dimona plant.

The approved expansion program is in the amount of approximately $945,000. This program has not yet 
received final approval. 

Taxable income derived from the approved enterprise is subject to a reduced tax rate during seven years 
beginning from the year in which taxable income is first earned (tax exemption for the first two-year period 
and 25% tax rate for the five remaining years).

Those benefits are limited to 12 years from the year that the enterprise began operations, or 14 years 
from the year in which the approval was granted, whichever is earlier.

The main tax benefits available to Epsilor are:

a) Reduced tax rates:

As stated above for each specific program

b) Accelerated depreciation:

Epsilor is entitled to claim accelerated depreciation in respect of machinery and equipment used by the 
“Approved Enterprise” for the first five years of operation of these assets.

Income from sources other than the “Approved Enterprise” during the benefit period will be subject to tax 
at the regular corporate tax rate of 31%.
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If retained tax-exempt profits attributable to the “approved enterprise” are distributed, they would be taxed 
at the corporate tax rate applicable to such profits as if Epsilor had not elected the alternative system of 
benefits, currently 25% for an “approved enterprise.”

Dividends paid from the profits of an approved enterprise are subject to tax at the rate of 15% in the 
hands of their recipient.

As of December 31, 2006 there are no tax exempt profits earned by Epsilor’s “approved enterprises” by 
Israel law that will be distributed as a dividend and accordingly no deferred tax liability was recorded as of 
December 31, 2006. Furthermore, management has indicated that it has no intention of declaring any 
dividend.

On April 1, 2005, an amendment to the Investment Law came into effect (“the Amendment”) and has sig-
nificantly changed the provisions of the Investment Law. The Amendment limits the scope of enterprises 
which may be approved by the Investment Center by setting criteria for the approval of a facility as a Privi-
leged Enterprise, such as provisions generally requiring that at least 25% of the Privileged Enterprise’s 
income will be derived from export. Additionally, the Amendment enacted major changes in the manner in 
which tax benefits are awarded under the Investment Law so that companies no longer require Invest-
ment Center approval in order to qualify for tax benefits. 

However, the Investment Law provides that terms and benefits included in any certificate of approval al-
ready granted will remain subject to the provisions of the law as they were on the date of such approval. 
Therefore, the existing Approved Enterprise of the Israeli subsidiary’s will generally not be subject to the 
provisions of the Amendment. As a result of the Amendment, tax-exempt income generated under the 
provisions of the Amended Investment Law, will subject the Company to taxes upon distribution or liqui-
dation and the Company may be required to record deferred tax liability with respect to such tax-exempt 
income. As of December 31, 2006, the Company did not generate income under the provision of the 
amended Investment Law. 

c. Other tax information about the Israeli subsidiaries:

1. Measurement of results for tax purposes under the Income Tax Law (Inflationary Adjust-
ments), 1985

Results for tax purposes are measured in real terms of earnings in NIS after certain adjustments for in-
creases in the Consumer Price Index. As explained in Note 2.b., the financial statements are presented in 
U.S. dollars. The difference between the annual change in the Israeli consumer price index and in the 
NIS/dollar exchange rate causes a difference between taxable income and the income before taxes 
shown in the financial statements. In accordance with paragraph 9(f) of SFAS No. 109, EFL, Epsilor and 
MDT have not provided deferred income taxes on this difference between the reporting currency and the 
tax bases of assets and liabilities.

2. Tax benefits under the Law for the Encouragement of Industry (Taxation), 1969:

EFL and Epsilor are “industrial companies,” as defined by this law and, as such, are entitled to certain tax 
benefits, mainly accelerated depreciation, as prescribed by regulations published under the inflationary 
adjustments law, the right to claim amortization of know-how, patents and certain other intangible prop-
erty rights as deductions for tax purposes.

3. Tax rates applicable to income from other sources:

Income from sources other than the “Approved Enterprise,” is taxed at the regular rate of 34%. See also 
Note 14.e.
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4. Tax loss carryforwards:

As of December 31, 2006, EFL has operating and capital loss carryforwards for Israeli tax purposes of 
approximately $90.0 million, which are available, indefinitely, to offset future taxable income.

e. Tax rates applicable to the income of the Group companies: 

Until December 31, 2003, the regular tax rate applicable to income of companies (which are not entitled 
to benefits due to “approved enterprise”, as described above) was 36%. In June 2004, an amendment to 
the Income Tax Ordinance (No. 140 and Temporary Provision), 2004 was passed by the Knesset (Israeli 
parliament) and on July 25, 2005, another law was passed, the amendment to the Income Tax Ordinance 
(No. 147) 2005, according to which the corporate tax rate is to be progressively reduced to the following 
tax rates: 2006 - 31%, 2007 - 29%, 2008 - 27%, 2009 - 26%, 2010 and thereafter - 25%.

f. Deferred income taxes:

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and amounts used for income tax purposes. Signifi-
cant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets resulting from tax loss carryforward are as follows:

December 31,

2006 2005

Operating loss carryforward (1) $33,222,692 $32,326,283
Other temporary differences 6,292,079 2,222,333

Net deferred tax asset before valuation allow-
ance 39,514,771 34,548,616

Valuation allowance (39,456,739) (34,483,796) 

Total deferred tax asset $ 58,032 $ 64,820

Deferred tax liability $ – $ –

 (1)  

The Company and its subsidiaries provided valuation allowances in respect of deferred tax assets result-
ing from tax loss carryforwards and other temporary differences. Management currently believes that it is 
more likely than not that the deferred tax assets related to the loss carryforwards and other temporary dif-
ferences will not be realized. The change in the valuation allowance as of December 31, 2006 was 
$4,972,943

g. Loss from continuing operations before taxes on income and minorities interests in loss 
(earnings) of a subsidiary:

Year ended December 31
2006 2005 2004

Domestic $ 13,014,325 $ 21,473,366 $ 8,006,205
Foreign 2,340,082 2,269,522 405,305

$ 15,354,407 $ 23,742,888 $  8,411,510

December 31,

2006 2005

Domestic $ 11,627,401 $ 8,981,133
Foreign 21,595,291 23,345,150

$ 33,222,692 $ 32,326,283
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h. Taxes on income were comprised of the following:

Year ended December 31
2006 2005 2004

Current state and lo-
cal taxes $ 225,371 $ 83,365 $ 539,674

Deferred taxes 6,788 14,345              (37,857)
Taxes in respect of 

prior years – 139,962 84,292

$ 232,159 $ 237,672 $ 586,109

Domestic $ 49,383 $ 153,950 $ 163,087
Foreign 182,776 83,722 423,022

$ 232,159 $ 237,672 $ 586,109

i. A reconciliation between the theoretical tax expense, assuming all income is taxed at the statu-
tory tax rate applicable to income of the Company and the actual tax expense as reported in the State-
ment of Operations is as follows:

Year ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004

Loss from continuing operations before taxes, 
as reported in the consolidated statements 
of income $(15,354,407) $(23,742,888) $(8,411,510)

Statutory tax rate 34% 34% 34%
Theoretical income tax on the above amount 

at the U.S. statutory tax rate $(5,220,498) $(8,072,582) $(2,859,914)
Deferred taxes on losses for which valuation 

allowance was provided 2,745,964 1,611,971         556,692
Non-deductible expenses 2,793,214 5,669,144      1,629,874
State taxes 49,383 67,470 168,081
Accrual for deferred taxes on undistributed 

earnings – (49,328) 49,416
Foreign income in tax rates other then U.S 

rate  (141,822) 897,617 919,895
Taxes in respect of prior years – 139,963 84,292
Others 5,918 (26,583)          37,773

Actual tax expense $ 232,159 $ 237,672 $ 586,109
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NOTE 15:– SELECTED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS DATA

Financial income (expenses), net:

Year ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004

Financial expenses:
Interest, bank charges and fees $(2,018,061) $(1,473,799) $ (622,638)
Amortization  related to warrants issued to the 
holders of convertible debentures and benefi-
cial conversion feature (1,485,015) (1,702,753) (4,142,109)
Expenses in connection with convertible de-
benture principle repayment and inducement (5,395,338) – –
Bonds premium amortization – (47,734) (202,467)
Other (35,332) – –
Foreign currency translation differences –  (54,840)  (71,891)

(8,933,746) (3,279,126) (5,039,105)

Financial income:
Interest 646,583 192,771 443,182
Foreign currency translation differences 67,150 – –
Realized gain from marketable securities sale – 2,863 40,119
Financial income in connection with warrants 
granted (Note 12.d. and 13.d.3.) 700,113 377,803 326,839

Total $(7,519,900) $(2,705,689) $ (4,228,965)

NOTE 16:– SEGMENT INFORMATION

a. General:

The Company and its subsidiaries operate primarily in three business segments (see Note 1.a. for a brief 
description of the Company’s business) and follow the requirements of SFAS No. 131. 

Prior to its purchase of FAAC, Epsilor and AoA, the Company had managed its business in two reportable 
segments organized on the basis of differences in its related products and services. With the acquisition 
of FAAC and Epsilor early in 2004 and AoA in August of 2004, the Company reorganized into three seg-
ments: Simulation and Training (formerly known as Simulation and Security); Armor; and Battery and 
Power Systems. As a result the Company restated information previously reported in order to comply with 
new segment reporting. 

The Company’s reportable operating segments have been determined in accordance with the Company’s 
internal management structure, which is organized based on operating activities. The accounting policies 
of the operating segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting poli-
cies. The Company evaluates performance based upon two primary factors, one is the segment’s operat-
ing income and the other is based on the segment’s contribution to the Company’s future strategic 
growth.
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b. The following is information about reported segment gains, losses and assets:

Simulation and 
Training Armor

Battery and
Power Systems All Others Total

2006

Revenues from outside customers $21,951,337 $ 12,571,779 $  8,597,623 $ –   $43,120,739
Depreciation , amortization and im-
pairment expenses (1) (1,708,012) (1,077,416)  (844,431) (350,308)     (3,980,167)
Direct expenses (2)

(18,256,933) (13,252,233) (8,768,088) (6,912,577)   (47,189,831)
Segment net income (loss) $1,986,392 $ (1,757,870) $(1,014,896) $(7,262,885)     (8,049,259)
Financial expenses (after deduction 
of minority interest)     (7,519,900)
Net loss from continuing operations $(15,569,159) 
Segment assets (3) (4)

$43,753,369 $9,523,126 $18,184,133 $3,607,645 $75,068,274

2005

Revenues from outside customers $26,805,772 $12,322,678 $9,916,145 $ – $49,044,595
Depreciation , amortization and im-
pairment expenses (1) (1,645,057) (14,043,019)  (909,463) (229,626) (16,827,165)
Direct expenses (2)

(21,967,755) (13,955,199) (9,757,402) (7,752,865) (53,433,221)
Segment net income (loss) $3,192,960 $ (15,675,540) $ (750,720) $(7,982,491) (21,215,791)
Financial expenses (after deduction 
of minority interest) (2,707,620)
Net loss from continuing operations $(23,923,411)
Segment assets (3) (4)

$47,302,499 $10,163,782 $16,738,648 $10,663,744 $84,868,673

2004

Revenues from outside customers $21,464,406 $17,988,687 $10,500,753 $ – $49,953,846
Depreciation , amortization and im-
pairment expenses (1) (1,983,822) (1,755,847)  (1,132,953) (135,613) (5,008,235)
Direct expenses (2)

(17,910,967) (16,444,476) (9,974,544) (5,431,627) (49,761,614)
Segment net income (loss) $1,569,617 $  (211,636) $ (606,744) $(5,567,240) (4,816,003)
Financial expenses (after deduction 
of minority interest) (4,226,310)
Net loss from continuing operations $(9,042,313)
Segment assets (3)

$42,416,974 $23,822,000 $17,918,566 $14,134,647 $98,292,187

(1) Includes depreciation of property and equipment, amortization expenses of intangible assets and impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets. 
(2) Including, inter alia,  sales and marketing, general and administrative and tax expenses.
(3) Consisting of all assets.
(4) Out of those amounts, goodwill in the Company’s Simulation and Training, Battery and Power Systems and Armor Divisions stood at $24,235,419, 

$5,413,210 and $1,066,596 as of December 31, 2006, $23,605,069, $4,968,676 and $985,412 as of December 31, 2005, respectively, and 
$22,845,372, $5,308,917 and $11,591,227 as of December 31, 2004, respectively. 

c. Summary information about geographic areas:

The following presents total revenues according to end customers location for the years ended December 
31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, and long-lived assets as of December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004
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2006 2005 2004
Total

revenues
Long-lived as-

sets
Total

revenues
Long-lived as-

sets
Total

revenues
Long-lived as-

sets

U.S. dollars

U.S.A. $32,945,951 $31,860,632 $38,953,462 $32,840,172 $40,656,729 $45,154,086 
Germany 387,612 – 188,635 – 319,110 –
England 240,712 – 931,008 – 344,261 –
Thailand – – – – – –
India 1,388,401 – 1,723,031 – 3,061,705 –
Israel 5,658,986 12,123,400 5,700,267 11,999,415 4,212,408 13,560,822
Other 2,499,077 – 1,548,192 – 1,359,633 –

$43,120,739 $43,958,032 $49,044,595 $44,839,587 $49,953,846 $ 58,714,908

d. Revenues from major customers:

Year ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004

Batteries and power systems:
Customer A 6% 7% 8%

Armor:
Customer B 5% 5% 4%
Customer C 18% 9% 24%

Simulation and Training:
Customer D 34% 24% 13%
Customer E – – 1%

e. Revenues from major products:

Year ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004

Electric vehicle $ – $ 205,485 $ 232,394
Water activated batteries 1,660,521 1,181,114 921,533
Military batteries 6,937,101 8,515,329 9,324,247
Car and aircraft armoring 12,571,779 12,322,679 17,988,686
Simulators 21,951,338 26,785,772 21,414,968
Other – 34,216 72,018

Total $
43,120,739

$
49,044,595

$
49,953,846

NOTE 17:– SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

In March 2007, the Company purchased 16,700 square feet of space in Auburn, Alabama for approxi-
mately $1.1 million pursuant to a seller-financed secured purchase money mortgage. Half the mortgage is 
payable over ten years in equal monthly installments based on a 20-year amortization of the full principal 
amount, and the remaining half is payable at the end of ten years in a balloon payment.
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The Company has learned that on March 23, 2007, a purported class action complaint (the “Complaint”) 
was apparently filed in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Michigan against the 
Company and certain of its officers and directors (the “Individual Defendants”). Although the Company 
has yet to be served with a copy of the Complaint, the Complaint apparently seeks class status on behalf 
of all persons who purchased the Company’s securities between March 31, 2005 and November 14, 2005
(the “Period”) and alleges violations by the Company and the Individual Defendants of Sections 10(b) and 
20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”) and Rule 10b-5 thereunder, primarily 
related to the Company’s acquisition of Armour of America in 2005 and certain public statements made 
by the Company with respect to its business and prospects during the Period. The Complaint also alleges 
that the Company did not have adequate systems of internal operational or financial controls, and that the 
Company’s financial statements and reports were not prepared in accordance with GAAP and SEC rules. 
The Complaint seeks an unspecified amount of damages.

- - - - - - - -
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SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL DATA

Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited) for the two years ended December 31, 2006

Quarter Ended

2006 March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31

Net revenue .......................................................$ 8,896,412 $ 7,414,335 $12,722,686 $14,087,306

Net loss from continuing operations.....................$ (4,213,448) $ (8,215,335) $ (1,065,223) $ (2,075,153)

Net loss for the period ................................$ (4,213,448) $ (8,215,335) $ (1,065,223) $ (2,075,153)
Deemed dividend to certain stockholders 
of common stock $ (317,207) $ (116,978) $ – $ –
Net loss attributable to common stock-
holders $ (4,530,655) $  (8,332,313) $ (1,065,223) $ (2,075,153)

Net loss per share – basic and diluted....................$ (0.62) $ (0.97) $     (0.09) $ (0.19)

Shares used in per share calculation 7,267,899 8,469,099 10,585,488 10,787,695

Quarter Ended

2005 March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31

Net revenue .......................................................$10,387,445 $12,236,910 $11,189,675 $15,230,565

Net loss from continuing operations.....................$ (2,456,500) $ (5,422,514) $ (12,708,932) $ (3,335,465)
Net profit (loss) from discontinued op-
erations..............................................................$ – $ (200,000) $ – $ 80,000

Net loss for the period ................................$ (2,456,500) $ (5,622,514) $(12,708,932) $ (3,255,465)
Deemed dividend to certain stockholders 
of common stock $ – $ – $ – $ –
Net loss attributable to common stock-
holders $ (2,456,500) $ (5,622,514) $(12,708,932) $ (3,255,465)

Net loss per share – basic and diluted....................$ (0.43) $ (0.97) $ (2.16) $ (0.53)

Shares used in per share calculation 5,721,578 5,770,011 5,891,127 6,103,348
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FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE

Arotech Corporation and Subsidiaries

Schedule II – Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

For the Years Ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004

Description

Balance at
beginning
of period

Additions
charged to
costs and

  expenses*

Balance at
end of
period

Year ended December 31, 2006
Allowance for doubtful accounts .......... $ 176,000 $ (17,000) $ 159,000
Allowance for slow moving inventory 1,280,000 293,000 1,573,000
Valuation allowance for deferred 
taxes ................................................... 34,484,000 4,973,000 39,457,000

Totals ................................................. $35,940,000 $ 5,224,000 $41,189,000

Year ended December 31, 2005
Allowance for doubtful accounts .......... $ 55,000 $ 121,000 $ 176,000
Allowance for slow moving inventory 218,000 1,062,000 1,280,000
Valuation allowance for deferred 
taxes ................................................... 33,726,000 758,000 34,484,000

Totals ................................................. $33,999,000 $ 1,941,000 $35,940,000

Year ended December 31, 2004

Allowance for doubtful accounts .......... $ 61,000 $ (6,000) $ 55,000
Allowance for slow moving inventory 96,000 122,000 218,000
Valuation allowance for deferred 
taxes ................................................... 34,802,000 (1,076,000) 33,726,000
Totals ................................................. $34,959,000 $ (960,000) $33,999,000

* The 2006 valuation allowance includes an adjustment to the prior year provision calculation 
due to changes recognized in the preparation of the actual returns
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